

# MINISTERY OF NATIONAL EDUCATION

# **BABEŞ-BOLYAI UNIVERSITY**

# FACULTY OF PSYCHOLOGY AND EDUCATIONAL SCIENCES

**DOCTORAL SCHOOL "EDUCATION, REFLECTION, DEVELOPMENT"** 

DOCTORAL THESIS SUMMARY

# THE INVESTIGATION OF NONVERBAL BEHAVIOUR INDICATORS IN THE PRISON ENVIRONMENT

CLUJ-NAPOCA, 2017



## MINISTERY OF NATIONAL EDUCATION

# **BABEŞ-BOLYAI UNIVERSITY**

# FACULTY OF PSYCHOLOGY AND EDUCATIONAL SCIENCES

## DOCTORAL SCHOOL "EDUCATION, REFLECTION, DEVELOPMENT"

DOCTORAL THESIS SUMMARY

# THE INVESTIGATION OF NONVERBAL BEHAVIOUR INDICATORS IN THE PRISON ENVIRONMENT

## DOCTORAL SUPERVISOR,

Associate Professor ALINA S. RUSU, PhD

# DOCTORAL CANDIDATE,

EMANUEL I. ANDELIN

CLUJ-NAPOCA, 2017

## Table of contents

CHAPTER I. THEORETICAL BASIS	5
I.1 Introduction and justification of the chosen topic	5
I.2 Theories, paradigms and models of emotion	
I.2.1 The theory of facial expression anatomy (Sir Charles Bell)	
I.2.2 The theory of human physiognomy mechanisms (Duchenne de Bologna)	
I.2.3 The theory of the universality of emotion expression: comparative approach between	
species (Charles Darwin)	5
I.2.4 The theory of fixed action patterns (Konrad Lorenz)	5
1.2.5 The theory of positive and negative affects (Silvan Tomkins)	
1.2.6. The theory of universal emotions (Paul Ekman)	
I.3 Nonverbal communication – theoretical and practical aspects	
I.4 Nonverbal behavior and relationships with others	
I.4.1 Facial anatomy – description of facial muscles	
I.5 Universal emotions	6
I.6 Emotional triggers	6
I.7 The lie	7
I.7.1 The Deceptive/ Non-deceptive behaviour	7
I.7.2 Indicators of lying at facial level (micro-expressions, macro-expressions)	7
I.8 Techniques and methods used to identify emotions and deceptive behavior	8
I.8.1. The polygraph	8
I.8.2 Facial Action Coding System (FACS)	8
I.8.3 FACET (iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET facial expression technology fi	rom
Emotient)	8
I.9 Emotional intelligence (Mayer, Salovey, Caruso)	
I.10 The prison environment and the suicidal behaviour	8
I.11 Criminal motivation from an evolutionary perspective	9
CHAPTER II	
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	. 10
AIMS, OBJECTIVES AND RESEARCH PROCEDURE	. 10
CHAPTER III	. 11
III.1. STUDY 1	. 11
Investigation of Emotional Facial Micro-expressions in Psychopathy - A Case Study of an Individual in Detention.	. 11
III.1.1.Introduction	. 11
III.1.2 Theoretical basis and related literature	
III.1.3 Research objectives and hypotheses	. 11
III.1.4 Research methodology	
III.1.5 Results	
III.1.6 Discussions and conclusions	. 12
III.2. STUDY 2	. 14
The Evolutionary Analysis of the Seductive Nonverbal Behavior in the Context of the Initial Psychological	
Assessment in the Penitentiary in Recently Condemned Females	. 14
III.2.1 Introduction	
III.2.2 Theoretical basis and related literature	. 14
III.2.3 Research objectives and hypotheses	. 14
III.2.4 Research methodology	. 15
III.2.5 Results	
III.2.6 Discussions and conclusions	. 18
III.3. STUDY 3	. 20
Detecting a Potential Pattern of Nonverbal Behavior in Visually Impaired and Non-Impaired Individuals in the	
Context of the Discussion on Suicide	. 20
III.3.1 Introduction	
III.3.2 Theoretical basis	
III.3.3 Research objectives and hypotheses	. 21
III.3.4 Research methodology	
III.3.5 Results	. 24
III.3.6 Discussions	. 32

III.3.7 Conclusions and implications	34
III.4. STUDY 4	
The Image of Deception about the Suicide Attempt: Behavioral and Biometric Analysis of the Facial Expressions	of a
Detained Person during the Initial Psychological Assessment - Case Study	
III.4.1 Introduction	
III.4.2 Research objectives and hypotheses	37
III.4.3 Problems history	
III.4.4 Identifying the objectives and establishing the therapeutic intervention plan	
III.4.5 Research methodology	
III.4.6 Results	
III.4.7 Discussions and conclusions	42
III.5 STUDY 5	45
Identifying the level of detection accuracy for authentic and deceptive / dishonest behavior in relation to the Emot	ional
Intelligence level - comparative study between experts and novices	45
III.5.1 Introduction	45
III.5.2 Research objectives and hypotheses	45
III.5.3 Research methodology	46
III.5.4 Results	47
III.5.5 Discussions and conclusions	59
-CASE STUDY	62
The multidimensional analysis of the behavior of a preventively arrested person in the context of the judicial	
investigation (polygraph testing) and initial psychological assessment in the penitentiary at the time of addressing	
questions aimed at identifying authentic / deceptive behavior	62
Introduction	62
Methodology	62
Results	64
Discussions	68
Conclusions	68
CHAPTER IV. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS	
IV.1 Theoretical and conceptual contributions	70
IV.2 Methodological innovations	
IV.3 General conclusions	
IV.4 Limitations and future directions	
References	75

Keywords: emotions, facial micro-expressions, simulated behavior, seductive behavior, suicide, behavioral pattern, psychopathy, penitentiary, polygraph.

#### **CHAPTER I. THEORETICAL BASIS**

#### I.1 Introduction and justification of the chosen topic

The prison environment is a special one both through its closed environmental features, but above else through the rich casuistry that can be found in such a place. In general, the study of the psycho-social phenomena specific to the penitentiary covered only the dimensions related to the environment. Over the past decade, however, approaches have begun to focus on the individual in the prison context (Florian, 1996). From this perspective, we deem it necessary to thoroughly analyze the behavior in the moment in which detainees are placed in prison. The first contact with the prison environment may also target suicidal ideation, as well as possible deceptive behaviors that seek to generate short-term benefits.

#### I.2 Theories, paradigms and models of emotion

#### I.2.1 The theory of facial expression anatomy (Sir Charles Bell)

In the studies conducted, Bell (1806) identified elements of facial muscles that are representative when a certain expression of emotion is rendered at the facial level. Therefore, the whole work of Sir Charles Bell was based on the belief in the Divinity and the role the Creator has on each individual. His studies, unique up to that date, have been a landmark for what was to be further developed.

#### I.2.2 The theory of human physiognomy mechanisms (Duchenne de Bologna)

Duchenne (1862) defines the expressive fundamental gestures of the human face and associates each expression with a group of muscles or a specific facial muscle. His research is based on a new non-invasive electrical shock technique, which he calls "électrisation localisée" (localized electrification).

I.2.3 The theory of the universality of emotion expression: comparative approach between species (Charles Darwin) According to Darwin's principles (1872), most of the behaviors of the individual have come to act involuntarily, as a signaling mechanism that aims to transmit messages to the interlocutor. In 1872 Darwin wrote "The Expression of the Emotions in Man and Animals", a reference book in the literature in the field of emotion study. Based on an entire scientific foundation, Charles Darwin refers to the works of Sir Charles Bell (1844), "Anatomy and Philosophy of Expression," Duchenne (1862) "Mechanisme de la Physionomie Humaine," Pierre Gratiolet (1865) "De la physionomie et des Mouvements d'Expression", which is a small part of the scientific works he studied.

#### I.2.4 The theory of fixed action patterns (Konrad Lorenz)

Lorenz develops the idea of "*innate releasing mechanism*" to explain instinctive behaviors (fixed action models) (Lorenz, 1981). He introduces the concept of fixed action patterns or models (in the case of people, an example is given by the eyebrow lifting, which is perceived by the receptor and represents a facial behavioral pattern with the purpose of conveying a message, or to signal the presence of the other). Whether they are called *conventional signs* (Darwin, 1872), *conversational signs* (Ekman, 2011), or *fixed action models* (Lorenz, 1981), all these behavioral actions seem to be aligned to a common goal - transmitting messages in an adaptive sense (survival and reproduction).

#### 1.2.5 The theory of positive and negative affects (Silvan Tomkins)

In his book "Affect Imagery Consciousness", Silvan Tomkins (2008) supports the idea that the affect is an "evolutionary system with a goal in the survival of the individual". His subsequent studies were based on this main idea, after which he developed the "Theory of Positive Affects and Negative Affects". Thus, Tomkins (2008) starts from the basic idea of Mowrer's theory (1938), which asserts that each response is triggered by a stimulus (Stimulus-Response Pair), after which he demonstrated that "life is lived by organisms capable of affection, and that no stimulus can trigger an answer if initially it does not trigger an affect ... " (Tomkins, Affect Imagery Conscious, p. xiii, 2008), adding to the old S-R relationship, the affect, resulting the Stimulus-Affect-Response relationship (S-A-R).

#### 1.2.6. The theory of universal emotions (Paul Ekman)

Depending on the life events that individuals face in ontogenesis, they learn to react by wanting to discharge behaviorally the emotion felt or to protect themselves (Ekman & Fridlund, 1987). *The Emotional memory* refers to the process of rapid, even automatically, assessment of the situations, followed by the action (Ekman, 2003). *The emotional trigger* can be a word, an idea, an attitude, a behavior, a situation that is automatically assessed by each individual, taking into account the personal emotional experience of each person (Ekman, 2003). The assessment is done automatically, then, for each situation encountered, using the response pattern functions, the individual responds at behavioral level.

Ekman & Davidson (1994) bring up for discussion **the seven characteristics of emotions**: (1) automatic evaluation, (2) communality in past events, (3) the presence of emotions in other species, such as primates (anthropoid monkeys), (4) their rapid triggering (5) short duration, (6) involuntary action, and (7) distinct physiology. Ekman & Friesen (2003) define the face as "a multisignal and multimessage system", which offers three types of signals: (1) **static** (skin color), (2) **slow** (permanent wrinkles) and (3) **rapid** (eyebrow lift). Paul Ekman's research is based on over 40 years of field and lab work. In all this scientific approach, the fundamental question that further fueled interest in emotions, micro-

expressions, body language and beyond was: "Are expressions universal or are they, as any language spoken, specific to each culture?" (Ekman, 2003, pg. 20). This question has been the source of over 25 years of research, when in 1978, Paul Ekman and his colleague Wally Friesen concluded that facial expressions are universal and that emotions (at least a part of them: surprise, fear, anger, sadness, happiness, disgust and contempt) are universally expressed at the facial level (Ekman, 2003).

#### I.3 Nonverbal communication – theoretical and practical aspects

Matsumoto (2013) defines nonverbal communication (NvbC) as an "exchange of information where words are not involved". Nonverbal communication occurs at the level of *dynamic actions* on the face, voice and body. Nonverbal messages can be transmitted through multiple *nonverbal channels* including **facial expressions**, **voice signals**, **gestures**, **body postures**, **interpersonal distance**, **touch and** eyesight (Matsumoto, 2013).

Matsumoto (2013) argues that the human face does not react only involuntarily when an emotion is triggered, but that facial expressions can be deliberately displayed in order to convey short messages to the interlocutor, such as:

- *illustrators of speech*: for example, people often lift their eyebrows when they are curious or lower their eyebrows when they lower their voice;
- *conversation regulation*: the clues offered to the interlocutor for him to understand that what we are conveying is nearing the end (hand gestures or voice tone);
- *emblematic gestures*: movements that symbolize messages that are not/ cannot be expressed in words (eg skepticism is transposed at the facial level by lifting a single eyebrow);
- *thinking/concentration*: using the face to transmit signals when we are pensive or confused (eyebrows when we are concentrated);
- expressive regulations: the use of facial muscles to regulate emotional signals (eg, keeping the upper lip stiff).

One of the major areas of nonverbal communication is *the voice channel* (Matsumoto, 2013) which, in turn, has several subchannels:

- *verbal*: involving the words used;
- *the style of speech*: which provides information about the model and pauses used to accompany spoken words;
- *the tone of speech*: which represents the acoustic properties of discourse, such as strength, sonority.

#### I.4 Nonverbal behavior and relationships with others

Establishing a connection with others is very important in face to face interaction from the perspective of individual benefits - survival and reproduction (Chartrand & Bargh, 1999, apud Matsumoto, 2013). The interpersonal connection takes place when the relationships are in harmony or in concordance, as they are supposed to be "the same wavelength" in terms of communication (Matsumoto, 2013). *Mirror posture* is known as the "*chameleon effect*," which can be defined as the tendency to adopt posture, gestures, manners through interaction with partners (Chartrand & Bargh, 1999).

#### I.4.1 Facial anatomy - description of facial muscles

The facial muscles, under the direct control of the nervous system, can become a plastic motor tool for exteriorizing mental states (Papilian, 2003). The entire locomotor system has an expressive function, even where the main purpose is entirely of a different function (walking, writing, posture).

#### **I.5** Universal emotions

Of all the channels of nonverbal behaviour, *the face* seems to be the most complicated channel of communication, for this reason being extensively studied by researchers (Matsumoto, 2013). One of the most important signals that the face shows is *emotion*. Matsumoto (2013) defines emotions as "bio-psycho-social transient reactions to events that have consequences for our well-being and may require immediate action." These are: (1) biological, because it involves physiological responses from the central and autonomic nervous system, (2) psychological, because it involves specific mental processes and (3) social, because they are often triggered by social factors and have a social meaning when they are produced, initiated, triggered.

#### I.6 Emotional triggers

An important aspect of emotions is the event that triggers them. The emotional antecedents are events or situations that trigger emotion (Table 1, Matsumoto, 2013). One of the most representative studies was conducted by Scherer and his colleagues, a study in which they proposed to assess the quality and nature of emotional experiences in several different cultures (Scherer, 1997a, 1997b, Scherer and Wallbott, 1994).

Table 1. Triggers and biological functions of emotions (adapted after Lazarus, 1991 and Matsumoto, 2013).

Emotion	Triggers	Function						
Happiness	Achieving and meeting goals	Future motivations						
Anger	Obstruction of goals, injustice	Removing obstacles						
Sadness	The loss of relatives or objects	Recovery of resources, request for help						
Disgust	Contamination	Repelling or removing the contaminated						
		object						
Fear	Physical or psychological threat to well-being	Avoiding threats, reducing damage						
Surprise	The emergence of new situations	Guidance and getting more information						
Contempt	Immoral actions	Affirmation, support for your own						
		superiority						

#### I.7 The lie

#### I.7.1 The Deceptive/ Non-deceptive behaviour

Ekman (1985-2001) makes the distinction between two important terms, *deception* and *lie*, terms that underlined his studies that concerned the behaviour of the liar. Thus, *deception* is defined as an action or phenomenon that misleads someone, while lying is an act by which someone deliberately misleads another person and does so without letting those people know that he or she will mislead (Ekman, 2009). The significant difference between deception and lie seems to be the word **deliberately**. The deception may or may not be a deliberate act, while the lie is always a deliberate act (Ekman, 2009). Some scholars have made a distinction between emotion and cognition, with an "emotional" approach and a "cognitive" approach to the lie (Figure 1) (Vrij, 2004, 2008). Other authors dispute these one-dimensional approaches and consider that there are no just cognitive or just emotional behavioral indicators (Matsumoto, 2013).



**Figure 1.** Representing the psychological process of truth after Ekman, 2003; Pearse & Lansley, 2010 (http://www.ekmaninternational.com/media/4581/reading\_others[2]%20cliff%20n%20john.pdf)

#### I.7.2 Indicators of lying at facial level (micro-expressions, macro-expressions)

Ekman (2003) identifies four aspects of facial expressions that can tell if a person controls their own facial expressions: 1. *The morphology*: the particular configuration of the face appearance;

- The exposure time of an expression: how long it takes an expression to appear, how long it remains and how long it takes it to disappear from the face;
- 3. *Location* of expression in conversation;
- 4. *Micro-facial expression* that occurs from interruptions.

All four elements - *morphology, exposure time of an expression, location and micro-facial expression* - are analyzed in light of the social context in which the expressions are occurring. The social context may include other behaviors (head movements, postural changes, body movements, voice, words).

#### I.8 Techniques and methods used to identify emotions and deceptive behavior

#### I.8.1. The polygraph

The polygraph examination is an analysis of several physiological indicators influenced by the specific emotion of fear caused by a lie and its consequences (Saxe, 1991, apud Vrij, 2012). Beyond the affective impression of the situational context of examination, the behavior of any person bears the mark of his personal, private identity. In emotionally high situations, changes in physiological parameters (in the electrodermal activity of the skin, blood pressure, breathing, and pulse) may occur (Vrij, 2012).

## I.8.2 Facial Action Coding System (FACS)

A Facial Action Coding System (FACS - Ekman, Friesen & Hager, 2002) is a method frequently described in the literature to measure facial non-verbal indicators. Ekman and Friesen developed the FACS for the first time in 1970, tracking the contraction of each facial muscle (alone, but also in combination with other muscles).

The Facial Action Coding System indicates 28 Facial Actions or additional codes as named by the authors, plus 58 Facial Actions (Facial Actions in the superior part of the face: AU 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 43, 45, 46, 70, 71; head positions: : AU 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58; eyes positions: AU 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66; lips partition and jaw opening: AU 25, 26, 27; Facial Actions in the inferior part of the face: AU 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 20, 22, 23, 24, 28, 72; combined Facial Actions: AU 8, 19, 21, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39; apud. Ekman, Friesen & Hager, 2002; Facial Action Coding System: Score Sheet, pg.513-514).

For each universal emotion, several groups of AUs have been identified, such as: Happiness = 6 + 12, Sadness = 1 + 4 + 15, Surprise = 1 + 2 + 5B + 26, Fear = 1 + 2 + 4 + 5 + 7 + 20 + 26, Anger = 4 + 5 + 7 + 23, Disgust 9 + 15 + 16.

Facial actions can be coded by identifying the degree of intensity and variations in the intensity of Facial Action, and the following degrees of intensity according to the FACS (Ekman, Friesen & Hager, 2002) are proposed in this respect (Figure 2).

Trace of an action	Small evidence	Pronounced evidence	Severe or extreme evidence	Maximum evidence
А	В	С	D	Е
			1	

Figure 2. The relationship between Evidence and Intensity Scale, adaptation after Ekman & Friesen, 2002.

I.8.3 FACET (iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET facial expression technology from Emotient) FACET (iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET facial expression technology from Emotient), originally known as CERT, is a software for the analysis and recognition of facial expressions developed by iMotions (Denmark and the US), which is based on over 20 years of scientific research. FACET is based on the FACS system (Ekman, Friesen & Hager, 2002).

## I.9 Emotional intelligence (Mayer, Salovey, Caruso)

Emotional intelligence can be defined as the ability to monitor one's own emotions and other people's, to discriminate between different emotions, and to label them appropriately, and to use emotional information to guide thought and behavior (Gardner, 1983). Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (validated and adapted to the Romanian population by testcentral.ro) evaluates emotional intelligence from the perspective of the four-branch model (*Perceiving emotions, Facilitating thought, Understanding emotions, Managing emotions;* Mayer, Salovey, Caruso, 2002, apud Iliescu & Livinți 2011)

- the Perceiving Emotions Scale (Branch 1) is the ability of a person to perceive their own emotions and other people's emotions as well as the emotions expressed by other stimuli; includes the Faces and Pictures subscales;
- The Facilitating of Thought scale (Branch 2) is the ability to generate, use and feel emotion; includes the Facilitation and Sensation subscales;
- The Understanding Emotions Scale (Branch 3) is the ability to understand emotional information; includes the subscales Blends and Changes;
- the Emotion Managing Scale (Branch 4) is the ability to be open to the feelings and modulate them to one's own person and others; includes the Emotions Management and Relationship Management subscales (Mayer, Salovey, Caruso, 2002, apud Iliescu & Livinți 2011).

MSCEIT (Mayer, Salovey, Caruso, 2002) contains 141 items, and about 30-45 minutes are required to complete the test. It can be applied from the age of 17 years.

## I.10 The prison environment and the suicidal behaviour

At the level of the penitentiary system, the National Penitentiary Administration has an interest in suicide issues, and therefore there are specific psychological intervention programs aimed at preventing suicide among detainees and not only (eg the specific adaptation program to the prison environment for newly deprived of freedom prisoners, the specific

psychosocial assistance and suicide prevention program, the clinical group protocol for depression, the clinical protocol for personality disorders, the clinical protocol for anxiety disorders).

#### The shock of placement in the penitentiary

Deprivation of liberty involves several forms, and from a qualitative point of view, by restricting individual freedoms, it can give rise to a phenomenon called the imprisonment shock (Florian, 1996), associated with a complex range of psychological and psychosocial disorders, starting with the detention crisis manifested from closure in the silence of the carcass to aggressive and self-aggressive behaviors (suicides, autoflagings).

#### I.11 Criminal motivation from an evolutionary perspective

The individual's evolutionary adaptive abilities allow him/her to compete with other human individuals (Geary, 2005), using emotional recognition skills (Ekman, 2003), and aggressiveness indicators that can be used as a basic function to protect the individual against exploitation even if the chances of success are reduced (Ness, 1990) in an attempt to gain access to resources directly related to the survival of the individual in different contexts (Geary, 1998). In this respect, the studies presented in this doctoral thesis investigate, measure and identify the elements of nonverbal communication that can lead to a better understanding and assessment of the intentions, emotions, attitudes, behaviors of the persons deprived of their liberty in relation with prison staff for the prevention and management of various incidents.

#### CHAPTER II RESEARCH METHODOLOGY AIMS, OBJECTIVES AND RESEARCH PROCEDURE

In this doctoral thesis, the main objectives were to propose the identification of nonverbal behaviors in different contexts specific to the prison environment. It is accepted that the information extracted from the nonverbal behavioral analyzes is representative from the communicative quality point of view and the significance of the signals transmitted in the communication remains, often, insufficiently clarified. This research proposes measuring nonverbal behavior through specific techniques already used (eg study 1), but also through new techniques (eg study 4), where a multidimensional approach to identifying nonverbal behaviors is being pursued in order to obtain information about the emotions of the person evaluated psychologically.

The first objective is to investigate facial micro-expressions displayed by a detained person in emotionally charged situations by conducting a case study. In the past there have been such studies (Kruh, Frick, & Clements, 2005) that sought to identify behavioral reactions to detainees. Decryption of nonverbal behavior in aggressively imprisoned persons can be a rich source of information for staff carrying out direct activities with this category, to prevent and manage conflict situations properly.

**The second objective** proposes, in the first part of the study, to identify nonverbal indicators of seductive behavior in the context of initial psychological assessment in prison, in the intersexual interaction. The content of 33 initial psychological videotaped interviews (based on informed consent) of recently condemned females (N = 33, aged between 22 and 65), held in custody by the Arad Maximum Security Penitentiary, Romania, was analyzed. In the second part of the study, it was investigated whether in the context of non-sexual situations (initial psychological interview), the detained females would display a protean strategy (display of behavioral signals with seductive valence) towards the male psychologist when they meet for the first time and if the seductive signals relate to the individual values of their reproductive potential (individual evolutionary fitness).

The third objective of the study is to identify a potential facial pattern in terms of facial emotional expressions that accompany the answer to the question of thoughts and / or suicide plans for detained persons and visually impaired persons. There were conducted 27 initial psychological assessment interviews with detainees and 13 psychological assessment interviews with visually impaired persons. The first category of participants consists of persons detained (N = 27, M = 42.04, AS = 11.53), who are newly placed in the Arad Maximum Security Penitentiary. The second category is represented by visually impaired persons (N = 13, M = 34.27, AS = 9.23) who were members of the Arad Visually Impaired Association. The aim was to identify the similarities and differences in the head movements (yaw, pitch, roll), the duration of the response to the questions regarding the suicidal ideation / autolytic behavior, at the level of emotions and identified facial actions, between detained persons and visually impaired persons, and between people with ideation / history of suicide and people without thought / history of suicide. For the data analysis, the sequences of the videotaped interviews which are accompanying the response of the two categories of participants to the question about thoughts and / or suicide plans were identified and the elements of nonverbal behavior (facial actions, direction of head movement) were collected. The analysis of the data was based on semi-structured interviews and on the observation of the participants' nonverbal behavior.

**The fourth objective** concerns the behavioral and biometric analysis of a suicidal person's facial expressions in the context of initial psychological assessment in the penitentiary. Starting from the results of study three, study four aims to highlight the elements of a potential facial pattern associated with denial of suicidal ideation. A positive aspect lays in the way to integrate the information resulting from the various tools used here, for example, the multidimensional analysis of the video recordings of the initial psychological assessment (psychological screening; iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET - facial expression technology from Emotient, version 5.7; behavioral analysis through the frame by frame method - facial macro-expressions, gestures, postural changes).

**The fifth objective** proposes, in the first part, to identify possible associations/ differences between penitentiary agents (with different levels of professional training in the penitentiary environment), at the levels of Emotional Intelligence (EI), experience at work (penitentiary) and age, but also to analyze the need for education of emotional recognition skills, etc. It is intended to establish the level of accuracy of authentic/ deceptive behavior detection based on the analysis of recorded situations (three situations of truth and three lies); but also to identify the level of self-perception (low/ increased ability) regarding the success of the choices made in case of filmed situations among novices (M= 21, 55; AS= 3,43) and experts (M= 40,02; AS= 8,51). The subjects of this study are divided into two categories: (1) active, **experienced** penitentiary agents and officers from the Arad Maximum Security Penitentiary (N = 34) aged between 25-57; and (2) **novices**, pupils (future penitentiary agents) at the Târgul Ocna School, Arad (N = 34), aged 18 to 31.

In the second part of the study regarding the fifth objective, it is intended to identify deceptive behaviors in different highly emotionally loaded situations in the context of initial psychological assessment and also in the context of polygraph testing by presenting a case study of a person in detention.

## **CHAPTER III**

## III.1. STUDY 1

# Investigation of Emotional Facial Micro-expressions in Psychopathy – A Case Study of an Individual in Detention

#### **III.1.1.Introduction**

Similar to verbal communication, nonverbal communication can be manipulated, especially by people with mental health problems. In particular, people with mental health problems in the psychopathic sphere are believed to have good acting skills and can easily manipulate others in different contexts of interpersonal relationships (Porter, ten Brinke, Baker & Wallace, 2011).

#### **III.1.2** Theoretical basis and related literature

Glass and Newman (2006) argue that a better understanding of the emotional deficiency of people diagnosed with dissocial personality disorder can be achieved, given that universal emotions that can be expressed by facial muscles can easily be identified by standardized methods in the field of emotion recognition. Thus, in the prison environment, it would be necessary to know these "abilities" of individuals with traits of dissociated personality in order to prevent unpleasant situations.

#### **III.1.3 Research objectives and hypotheses**

The objective of this study is to investigate the facial micro-expressions displayed by an individual in custody with the diagnosis of dissocial personality disorder in various highly emotionally charged situations in the context of the psychotherapeutic interview, i.e. a structured environment in terms of interpersonal communication (detainee-psychologist interaction). The *hypothesis* of the study is: questions that act as emotional triggers will be associated with intense emotions expressed at the facial level through facial micro-expressions.

#### **III.1.4 Research methodology**

#### Participant

A case study of a person in detention in Romania, a male adult, aged 23 years, is presented. All data from video analysis is confidential and used for scientific purposes only. The participant (C.A.) is an imprisoned young adult man convicted of first degree murder at the age of 17. C.A. has completed 8 grades and has no professional qualifications. Information on clinical diagnosis and history of self-aggressive and hetero-aggressive behaviors has been provided by the Prison Medical Department (Arad Maximum Security Penitentiary, Romania) at the request and on the basis of consent to the confidential use of clinical data for this study.

#### Procedure

The recorded interview was not the first meeting between the participant and the psychologist, but approximately the forty-fifth meeting. The professional and psychotherapeutic relationship was built over a period of one and a half year during the sessions, with one meeting/week (on average). Recording was done with a Sony HDR-CX 190 camcorder. The interview took place in a room at the Arad Maximum Security Penitentiary, Romania, and the recording was made in February, 2015. The participant was informed in advance of the activity (semi-structured interview and video recording of the interview) and he was asked for the written consent to record the interview (see Annex 4). A frame-by-frame analysis of the interview was performed to extract behavioral data (Facial Actions, emblems, and conversational / conventional signs).

#### Instruments

The facial reactions of the person in custody were measured with the Facial Action Coding System (FACS), a standardized method of identifying and describing the emotional expressions of facial behavior.

#### **III.1.5 Results**

During the interview, the representative emotional triggers were topics related to physical detention / aggression (n = 21) and antisocial actions (n = 8, Table 2) (eg physical and verbal aggression towards other detainees or prison staff; antisocial behavior in history - thefts, robbery, murder, manipulative behavior in order to obtain short-term benefits, difficulties in complying with the penitentiary internal regulation, manifesting interest in "refining" for criminal purposes).

These subjects triggered a series of negative emotions at the facial level, such as anger (AU = 4 + 5 + 7 + 23) and contempt (AU = R12), but also positive emotions such as happiness (AU = 6 + 12). Examples of Action Units / AUs are provided in Figure 3 and Figure 4. The numbers are the conventional ones in the Facial Action list associated with the Facial Action Coding System.

Table 2. FACS results after frame-by-frame analysis
*=AU and **= conversational signs and emblems

Emotional triggers general/specific topics	Frequency of the disscused topic	AU*/ conversational signs; emblems**	Universal emotions
Environment/ childhood	3	2/9/32/46**	Various
Antisocial actions	8	4+5+7+23*/+10+25*	Anger
		6+12*	Happiness
Detention/aggression	21	4+5+7+23*/+10+25*	Anger
		6+12*	Happiness
Lie/Manipulation	5	6+12*	Happiness
Educational activities	1	4+5+7+23*/+10+25*	Anger
Inappropiate behavior in detention	4	R12*	Contempt
Total	42		



Figure 3. Examples of Facial Actions expressed by C.A. during the interview with the psychologist (in the prison environment)



Figure 4. Examples of Facial Actions, emblems and conversational signs expressed by C.A. during the interview with the psychologist.

The identified conversational signs - "raised eyebrows" (AU = 2) occurred when a particular word was emphasized or it was given a lot of importance by the speaker (Figure 4). Emblems such as "blinking" (AU = 46) can generally be interpreted as an amicable agreement between the transmitter and receiver (Ekman & Fridlund, 1987). The "bottom lip bite" emblem (AU = 32) appeared when the subject remembered his criminal deeds, their severity and the joy he felt at those moments (joy was expressed through verbal descriptors). The nose wrinkles (AU = 9) occurred when the subject made statements about his aggressive behavior, lies and other antisocial actions.

#### **III.1.6 Discussions and conclusions**

Behavioral data analyzed show an image that prefigures the pattern specific to the psychopathic personality, dominated by facial expressions of negative emotions. However, facial expressions of positive emotions have also been numerous and expressed in a clear way, being directly associated with negative triggers (physical aggression and lie expressed through verbal descriptions). In addition to the facial expressions identified in this study, the topics of the participant's speech seemed to be specific to the psychopathic personality, ie no reference to remorse or guilt, cruelty, lack of empathy, low self-control, antisocial behavior in childhood, impulsivity, etc. (DSM-V, 2013; Cleckley, 1988).

From an evolutionary perspective, these behaviors can represent some survival strategies, in the sense that in such an environment (prison environment), if alternatives to forming social coalitions are limited, emotional expressiveness can be a quick way to signal some intentions to potential competitors in the battle for resources. In conclusion, the present study provides important information at the level of nonverbal communication regarding the good knowledge of persons deprived of their liberty during psychological assessments, counseling sessions and not only.

#### Limitations

A first limit of this study is the lack of a participant's overall behavioral analysis (voice analysis, postural analysis). Another aspect that addresses the limits of this study is that only one participant is described, so it can only be concluded at an individual level and the present results cannot be generalized. In this case there may be a degree of subjectivity in terms of the interaction between the psychologist and the detainee.

#### Strengths of the present study and recommendations

This case study has provided both the possibility of "testing" psychological assessment techniques and some hypotheses from the literature on emotional triggers (Ekman & Fridlund, 1987), but can also be perceived as a useful method of analysis of an isolated case of a person diagnosed with a dissocial personality disorder in detention. By identifying the connection between emotions and emotional triggers in the biography of each detainee, psychologists can obtain meaningful information with the value of **preventing antisocial behaviors in the prison environment.** For example, the emotion of happiness in this case has been associated with negative emotional triggers such as lying, physical aggression against another person, or antisocial actions (theft, robbery). In other words, a clear behavioral diagnosis of the associations between emotional categories and emotional triggers is recommended for specific categories of persons with a tendency to aggression, such as psychopathy.

The FACS (based on behavioral observations) method, along with a semi-structured interview containing specific emotional triggering elements, could function as a behavioral assessment tool for psychologists working in penitentiaries. Thus, in view of conceiving a range of activities to prevent antisocial behaviors in prison, this type of instrument could help psychologists to identify the link between facial expressed emotions indicators and emotional triggers in imprisoned persons who have psychopathology associated with aggression and not only. In this respect, these techniques could also be used by psychologists in the school environment, in police investigations, in the activity of the traffic system and customs control system, etc.

**Mention:** Please note that the results presented in this chapter have been published in the article: Investigation of Facial Micro-expressions of Emotions in Psychopathy – A Case Study of an Individual in Detention. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 209, 46-52; year 2015, authors: Andelin, E. I. & Rusu, A. S.

## III.2. STUDY 2

## The Evolutionary Analysis of the Seductive Nonverbal Behavior in the Context of the Initial Psychological Assessment in the Penitentiary in Recently Condemned Females

#### **III.2.1 Introduction**

Studies in the field of evolutionary psychology support the possibility that women have developed adaptive cognitive mechanisms to visually assess the physical capabilities of potential partners (Hugill, Fink, Neave, 2010). In the prison environment, in addition to the need to cope with environmental changes, new prisoners (eg psychologically rated women by male psychologists) may unconsciously show evaluation behaviors towards other male detainees with whom they make contact inside the penitentiary, as well as with the male personnel of the penitentiary.

#### **III.2.2** Theoretical basis and related literature

The general question from which begins the investigation of seductive behavior in a nonsexual social context (psychologist – detainee interaction) is: "Why do specific expressions of seductive behavior occur in women, even in non-sexual contexts?" Finding an optimal solution to the environmental problems / pressures of the Environment of Evolutionary Adaptation / EEA, which our ancestors faced, is directly connected with the well-being, survival and individual reproduction that takes place in the context of communicating with the other members of the group (Buss, 2000; Grammer, 2002 Andelin & Rusu, 2015).

In this study we consider that from the perspective of emotional behavioral indicators in the first phase of psychological assessment the emotionally encountered universe may seem to be vast because the subject is walked through all areas with high psychological impact by using assessment questions and the semi-structured interview. Therefore, during the interaction with the psychologist, the interviewed subject resonates emotionally with all memories evoked from childhood to the present.

#### Asymmetries in gender communication: Opinions on seductive behavior

The analysis of literature on intersex interactions shows an asymmetric distribution of control behavior, regarding the person who initiates or determines the outcome of communication with the opposite sex (Grammer et al., 2000, apud Andelin & Rusu, 2016). Various empirically validated studies of gender interactions indicate a repertoire of the wooing signals that have been observed and described in various situations, either in sexual contexts (eg single bars, laboratory conditions) or non-sexual contexts, such as experiments from waiting rooms and client-therapist interactions; most studies show similarities in behavioral manifestations of women in the presence of foreign males, including come-on signals (Grammer et al., 2000, Moore, 1985). Moore (1985) produced an index of 52 behavioral elements (wooing behavior) that was positively correlated with male approaches bars for single people, but did not identify direct predictors of women's interest in men.

#### Protean strategy and communication ambiguity: Seductive signals in non-sexual contexts

The literature in the field of evolutionary psychology indicates that men try to trick women with symbols related to their socio-economic status (ability to provide resources), while women tend to deceive their physical attributes (fertility indicators and reproductive capacities, Buss, 1992, apud Andelin & Rusu, 2016). Miller (1997) identifies three possible counter-strategies against deception: (a) hiding intentions (poker face strategy); (b) tactical deception and misinformation (KGB strategy); (c) adaptive unpredictability (protean strategy).

Behavioral information in non-sexual contexts, such as the waiting room scenario (Grammer et al., 2000), indicates that women use request signals (seductive signals) irrespective of their sexual interest, which supports the hypothesis that nonverbal seductive signals displayed by women in front of strangers, unfamiliar, males can be part of the proteanist strategy of female psychology developed by them. The question that arises is whether nonverbal seductive signals displayed by women in nonsexual contexts are connected/or not to the individual evolutionary fitness ability (ie, survival and reproduction ability). In this study, we ask the question whether the seductive signals displayed by women in a non-seductive context (in this case we refer to the initial psychological interview of newly condemned women who were confronted with a male psychologist), if these take place according to the model predicted by the protean strategy of the first woman-man interaction, are related to the individual value of the reproductive potential (evolutionary fitness).

#### **III.2.3** Research objectives and hypotheses

The first objective of this study is to identify nonverbal indicators of seductive behavior in the context of initial psychological assessment in prison, in intersexual interaction.

**The second objective** is to investigate whether, in the context of non-sexual situations (initial psychological interview), women in detention will display a protean-type strategy towards the male psychologist they encounter for the first time (display of seductive behaviors) and whether the seductive signals relate to the individual values of the reproductive potential (evolutionary fitness). The assumptions made are as follows:

- It is possible to identify nonverbal indicators of seductive behavior in the context of initial psychological assessment in the penitentiary, in intersexual interaction.
- There will be an association between the type of seductive category (expressive and non-expressive detained persons) and the individual values of the reproductive potential (evolutionary fitness) adjusted to the information in the semi-structured interview.

#### **III.2.4 Research methodology**

#### Design

This is an exploratory, field-based, ecological study that seeks to highlight elements of nonverbal communication in different contexts.

In the case of the first hypothesis an exploratory strategy is used. For the second hypothesis, the identified independent variable is represented by the category of participants (expressive and non-expressive detained persons) and the dependent variable is represented by the individual values of the reproductive potential (evolutionary fitness), more precisely by the scores that were calculated by adjusting the evolutionary fitness measurement scale (High-K Strategy Scale, Giosan, 2006) to the information in the semi-structured interview.

#### Participants

The content of 33 videotaped initial psychological interviews (based on informed consent) with recently condemned female (N = 33, aged between 22 and 65) was analyzed in the Arad Penitentiary, Arad, Romania. *Instruments* 

#### (1) Facial Action Coding System (Ekman, Friesen, Hager, 2002)

Content analysis of nonverbal-centered interviews focused around the facial identification system FACS (Ekman, Friesen, Hager, 2002), on the indicators of positive facial expressions - happiness (Duchenne smile), surprise (forehead wrinkles, eyelid lifting) and indicators of negative facial expressions of emotions - anger (frowning eyebrows, tight lips), disgust (wrinkles on the nose, lifting of the upper lip) and contempt (raising a corner of the mouth).

#### (2) Psychological Screening

It covers the following dimensions: (1) identification data; (2) general psychological support (family of origin, quality of family environment, social support network, educational level); (3) specific psychological support (suicide risk, aggressiveness management, substance abuse, psychic disorders, sexual impulses, victimization / marginalization, additional information). This is the standard tool used in the penitentiary environment in Romania for initial psychological assessments.

#### (3) High-K Strategy Scale (Giosan, 2006) - Evaluating the individual score of evolutionary fitness

Four dimensions for calculating the individual value of the reproductive potential based on the High-K Strategy Scale (Giosan, 2006) were considered: (1) health and attractiveness, (2) ascending mobility, (3) social capital and extended family and (4) risk assessment. The four dimensions of the HKSS (Giosan, 2006) have been designated dimensions extracted from the semi-structured interview used by the psychologist during the initial psychological assessment in the penitentiary, such as: age, history of psychological and medical conditions in the family, suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, civil status, number of children, psychiatric diagnosis, financial mobility, occupational history, support in social networks, family connection during detention, social situation of children, type of offense, criminal history, existence of aggression against their own, drug use.

Each dimension in the psychological screening equated to the value of the evolutionary fitness was coded with 0 (presence) or 1 (absence), depending on the situation of each participant. The sum of values for all dimensions is the individual score of the evolutionary fitness (Table 3).

The four dimensions in HKSS (Giosan, 2006) were equated with psychological screening items in the following way:

- <u>the health dimension</u> was equated with the following items in the psychological screening: the participant's age (18-50 years), dichotomically coded (reproductive = 1, if the participant falls within the age limit and non-reproductive = 0 if the participant does not falls within the age limit); psychiatric pathology in the family (Yes = 0 and No = 1); suicidal ideation (Yes = 0 and No = 1); suicide attempts (Yes = 0 and No = 1); and <u>the attractiveness dimension</u> was equated with the cohabitation / marriage relationship (Yes = 1 and No = 0); has children Yes = 1 and No = 0);
- <u>the ascending mobility dimension</u> was equated with the following items in the psychological screening: professional qualification (Yes = 1 and No = 0); occupational history (Yes = 1 and No = 0);
- <u>the size of the capital and the extended family</u> was equated with the following items of psychological screening: social support network (Yes = 1 and No = 0); is visited in the penitentiary (family = 2, friends = 1, nobody = 0); children (live / are in the care of the family = 1, state institutions / placement centers = 0);

- <u>the size of the risk assessment</u> was equated with the following items in psychological screening: violence offense (Yes = 0 and No = 1); criminal offense (Yes = 0 and No = 1); self-aggressive behaviors in the past (Yes = 0 and No = 1); past history of substances (Yes = 0 and No = 1).

Analysis of nonverbal seductive behavioral data

A frame-by-frame analysis of the video recordings was performed to extract seductive nonverbal behavioral data. Behavioral analysis focused on nonverbal behavioral elements:

- 1. micro-facial expressions;
- 2. posture changes;
- 3. changes in the tone of voice;
- 4. elements of seductive behavior (Grammer et al., 2000).

Among the many repertoires of nonverbal seductive behavioral elements found in the literature, we have selected only those identified by Grammer et al. (2000) as being related to the sexual interest declared by women in the waiting room situation:

- 5. Primp (trimming) arranging the garment without a visible need;
- 6. Coy smile a smile immediately followed by the return and lowering of the head;
- 7. Look through look at the other person without fixing it and pointing the look elsewhere; there is no break between looking at partner and looking elsewhere;
- 8. Short glance look in the direction of the partner for less than 3 seconds.

A binary coding system (0 = non-occurrence, 1 = appearance) was used to quantify the seductive behavioral indicators for each initial interview of newly condemned women. These elements allowed us to generate two categories of people in detention: (1) expressive and (2) non-expressive (inexpressive) (Andelin & Rusu, 2015).

#### Procedure

The participants were seated and the video camera was positioned 40-50 cm in front of them. The interviews lasted between 25-50 minutes / session. The first 20 minutes of the interview were considered for behavioral content analysis. The recording was done with a Sony HDR-CX 190 camcorder.

#### **III.2.5 Results**

The detained persons were included in two categories regarding seductive behavior indicators: expressive women (N = 14) and non-expressive (N = 19). Summary of the two categories identified by the detainees (expressive and non-expressive at the level of manifest behavior):

- 1. Expressive persons tend to show that they have developed social skills (both in verbal and nonverbal communication) and are characterized by abundance of nonverbal behavior: active women at the behavioral level (change of posture in concordance with the situation), in terms of facial expression display micro-expressions (happiness, surprise), high interpersonal skills, empathy, directionality (clear and direct expression of intentions), a proper physical presence in the proximity of the other, etc. Demographics indicate that these people have a socio-economic status and a level of education above the average of the population and are accused of crimes of fraud, incitement to fraud, robbery, theft, consumption and drug trafficking, etc.
- 2. Non-expressive persons have low social skills (low ability to adapt to the environment and interpersonal relation), low level of expressivity (closed posture, crossed arms, facial micro-expressions from the sphere of negative emotions anger, sadness, fear), low levels of self-esteem, anxiety, inner tension, restlessness, fear and mistrust in their own forces). Demographics show that these people come from precarious social environments and are illiterate or semi-illiterate.

Within the category of "expressive persons", based on the literature in the field of expression and recognition of emotions, several indicators of seductive behavior were identified as follows:

- the "fugitive" look associated with facial expressions and micro-expressions from the sphere of positive emotions;
- lower lip bite (lower lip covers lower teeth and upper teeth bite part of lower lip, right or left);
- insinuating questions and suggestions;
- position the head to the right or to the left to expose the neck;
- self-touch (movements that are a gesture of pleasure and accompany the discourse, a situation that reinforces an affirmation, those types of unconscious touching towards the other);
- arranging hair;
- arranging of clothing and jewelry;
- touching legs and constantly changing their position;
- changing body posture and approaching the opposite sex;

- gestures to explore the inner area of the arms;
- symbolic use of the arms the "broken wing", emphasizing the trunk line.

#### Results of the evolutionary fitness values

SPSS (version 19) was used to process the data obtained. In the first phase, descriptive statistics were made on the basis of participant responses that were coded and entered into the statistical program, then *t test* was used for independent samples to calculate the differences between means for the two categories (expressive and non-expressive); in the final phase simple regression was calculated to graphically highlight the possible relationship between variables (Fig. 5, Fig. 6) (Howitt & Cramer, 2010).

Slight differences, but statistically insignificant, were found between the two categories of women in the sense of the values of the evolutionary fitness (t test for independent samples, NS, expressive women: m = 13.8, SD = 2.6, women non-expressive: m = 12.8, SD = 3.02), with expressive women having an average higher individual fitness value (see Annexes 1A and 1B).



**Figure 5**. Regression analysis of expressive women's age and evolutionary fitness values indicates an increase in agerelated evolutionary fitness score for this category of women (N = 14), but the difference is not significant.



**Figure 6.** Regression analysis of the non-expressive women's age (N = 19) and evolutionary fitness values indicate a downward direction of the score, but the difference is not statistically significant. In this category, 5 women had attempted suicide before the time of the conviction.

**Table 3**. Age (years) and individual evolutionary fitness score calculated for each person in detention (14 women in the category of expressive persons and 19 non-expressive women)

Seductive category															
Expressive women	Age (years)	43	31	22	35	50	38	42	65	45	55	24	49	49	36
(N=14)	Evolutionary fitness score	14	13	17	15	16	10	14	16	12	16	9	9	15	15
Non-expressive women	Age (years)	43	53	38	40	35	43	38	47	40	53	30	53	31	38
without suicide attempts (N=14)	Evolutionary fitness score	9	15	16	14	14	10	15	11	11	16	14	17	14	17
Non-expressive women	Age (years)	53	38	26	60	46									
with suicide attempts (N=5)	Evolutionary fitness score	7	10	15	12	9									

#### **III.2.6 Discussions and conclusions**

The aim of this research on seductive nonverbal behavior is to raise awareness that the prison environment does not prevent human individuals from using their "selected natural behavioral arsenal" developed in years of evolution, closely related to survival and reproduction, even if the situations in which they interact have no sexual intent but are part of the social and professional context. Even with no statistical significance, the data obtained regarding female detained persons indicates small differences in the individual evolutionary fitness score between expressive and non-expressive seductive persons in the non-sexual context of the initial psychological interview in the penitentiary (persons in detention - female and psychologist - male).

A larger sample and other investigations are definitely needed to uncover the link between evolutionary fitness and the protean strategy of transmitting seductive signals to this specific type of non-sexual situation, namely, the prison environment. It is important to note that all women with suicide attempts prior to detention fell into the non-expressive category, which means that there were no seductive behavioral indicators during their initial interviews.

Being aware of the small sample size (N = 5 people in detention with attempted suicide), we suggest that the results concerning the lack of seductive non-verbal behavior in suicide attempts, regardless of average scores of evolutionary fitness, should stimulate a reconsideration of the evolutionary fitness assessment in the case of individuals who have already attempted suicide in order to designate a low value on the evolutionary fitness scale, or at least zero values on the dimensions of risk and health considerations. If null values for the dimensions of risk and health considerations were designated for the five people in detention who attempted suicide in our sample, differences between expressive and non-expressive women would become significant (Andelin & Rusu, 2016).

Another interesting aspect is that regression analyzes of age and score of individual evolutionary fitness point to the evolutionary prediction between evolutionary fitness and age for non-expressive women (Figure 6, the higher the age, the more lower is the evolutionary fitness score), but not for expressive women (Figure 5), where the relationship seems to be inverse, ie, the higher the age, the higher the value of the evolutionary fitness. It is possible that this specific relationship between age and the value of evolutionary fitness applies to this particular category of individuals (people in detention) who take risks. More data is needed to confirm this hypothesis.

In order to perform an objective psychological assessment and to avoid the seductive manipulation behavior of women interviewed in the prison environment, we suggest the following three methods by which psychologists can try to control this behavior (to prevent or stop it when it appears):

- 1. *Visual inspection* the psychologist controls the interaction (in the context of communication) by keeping a fixed look until the other caves and turns his gaze. This action will stop when the psychologist will notice signs of stress, anxiety or aggression on the person interviewed. This technique is meant to restore the position of the psychologist in the interview and to reveal the true character of the interviewee.
- 2. Questions confirming dominant behavior vs. defensive behavior this technique consists in simply observing the detained person and his behavior in an emotionally stressed situation in order to create a position of superiority in that relationship, followed by asking a question. Both behavioral (dominant / defensive) behaviors are most likely lacking in authenticity, it is a response dictated by emotions, the desire to lead or to make a good impression (social desirability), fear of the unknown, surprise, anxiety or even helplessness (Example 1 and Example 2).

Example 1: Behavior of superiority and domination by the interviewed woman

-> the psychologist's question: "Do you feel vulnerable right now?" The woman's answer: "Oh ... no, no ... that's how I am right now ... a little restless."

#### Example 2: Defensive behavior of the interviewee

-> the psychologist's question: "Are you okay? I notice that you are emotional, is it true? "The interviewee's reply comes immediately, in a low and fearful tone:" Yeah ... I do not know what's going to happen to me, I'm a little afraid. "

3. *Controlling the distance between persons* - In the initial phase of the evaluation, the distance between the psychologist and the interviewee can be manipulated with the purpose of obtaining a reaction. Depending on the behavior shown, it may intentionally produce tense situations (respecting the deontological norms of the psychologist-client interaction), which can trigger shame or support for interviewees. The dynamics of social distance to the interviewee depends on some variables initially identified in the standard assessment, such as depression, self-esteem, lack of social support, etc.

#### Strengths of the present study

A strong point of the present study is the context of the field in which the data collection took place, ie all interviews were conducted in the prison environment, at the first meeting with the male psychologist. Also, the dimensions included in the form of psychological screening allowed for an assessment of the form of evolutionary fitness according to the HKSS dimensions (Giosan, 2006), which is a tool often encountered in Evolutionary Psychology.

#### Limitations

The present study focused on the relationship between woman (detained) - male (psychologist) and nonverbal elements could be identified only in this situation. In the future, it would also be useful to analyze the relationship between a woman (psychologist) and a male (detained), hoping to identify other possible nonverbal behaviors and not only. Another element limiting the present study is the reduced sample size and the socio-demographic differences between the participants, the experimental group being not homogeneous in this case. Another limit of the study can be represented by the type of personality of the participants, the personal representation of the impact with the prison environment and the way in which this situation is subjectively felt, variables that have not been measured and which could influence the results of this study. Further studies should also take into account these variables in order to produce a general and broad picture of the relationship between these subjective elements and seductive nonverbal behavior displayed in a non-sexual context.

#### Recommendations and future research directions

It is advisable to become aware of and acknowledge information about these seductive nonverbal signals, in which case the assessment / intervention by the psychologist (male in this case) is done in a professional manner. The results of this study support the idea of proteanism in social situations, especially in non-sexual situations (such as the initial psychological interviews in the present study), and may be useful for future research, clinical practice and daily interactions for adopting the best strategies for interpersonal relationships. Also, it would be useful to address the protean approach of the emotional expressiveness in detained women from the perspective of the T-model algorithm proposed by Magnusson (2000) in order to identify seductive behavioral patterns in a non-sexual context (such as the prison environment). One aspect that may be taken into account in future studies would be that in which null values for the dimensions of risk and health considerations would be designated (HKSS, Giosan, 2006), then the differences between expressive and non-expressive women could be significant.

**Mentions**: Please note that some of the results of this chapter have been published in the article: An Evolutionary Analysis of Seductive Behavior of Newly Convicted Females. The European Proceedings of Social & Behavioural Sciences EpSBS, XVIIIr, 27-34, year 2016, authors: Emanuel I. Andelin & Alina S. Rusu;

Some of the results of this chapter have been published in the article: Identifying Non -verbal Seductive Behavior Indicators in the Context of Initial Psychological Evaluation in Prison–Analysis of Situational Type Interviews. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 209, 61-66, year 2015, authors: Emanuel I. Andelin & Alina S. Rusu.

**Acknowledgments**: This study was made possible by the financial support of the Sectoral Operational Program for Human Resources Development 2007-2013, co-financed by the European Social Fund, within the project POSDRU / 187 / 1.5 / S / 155383 - "Quality, excellence, transnational mobility the field of doctoral research ".

#### III.3. STUDY 3

#### Detecting a Potential Pattern of Nonverbal Behavior in Visually Impaired and Non-Impaired Individuals in the Context of the Discussion on Suicide

#### **III.3.1 Introduction**

Studies that use facial actions as a measurement method have had results predicting the onset of depression and other psychopathologies (Ekman, & Rosenberg, 1997; Andelin, & Rusu, 2015), but also prompted research that identifies differences in the type of facial micro-expression between suicide and non-suicide subjects (Heller, & Haynal, 1994). To reduce the amount of time required for facial coding, this study presents a new method of recognizing and analyzing facial expressions - an automated software analysis (iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET facial expression technology from Emotient) which identifies emotions and facial actions specific to them in real time, significantly reducing the time required for video analysis.

In 1970, the Eibl-Eibesfeldt states that behavior is formed by patterns in time and that they are not always visible (Eibl-Eibesfeldt, 1970, p. 1, in Magnusson, 2000). In this sense, it can be said that the pattern is made up of three parts - the relationship between context, problem and solution (Alexander, 1979).

In this study, we can discuss the three situations (context, problem and solution) from a perspective adapted to the prison environment, in the case of identifying a potential pattern of facial expressions of emotions in the context of the discussion on suicide, especially denial of suicidal idea / behavior (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Potential Pattern Formation Representation (takeover after Alexander, 1979) - adapted to the prison context.

In the case of the detection of repetitive elements of behavior, Magnusson (2000) uses the dynamic relationship of communication, of subject interaction to define them as a temporal behavioral type, based in ethologic research (Dawkins, 1976), of human interaction (Duncan, & Fiske, 1977), in short the **T-pattern**. Thus, the T-pattern is perceived as a behavioral element (Figure 7), which depends strictly on the *context* in which the pattern was displayed; depends on the *problem* faced by the subject and finally on the solution offered to deal with both the context and the problem (Casarrubea et al., 2015).

#### **III.3.2** Theoretical basis

From a qualitative point of view, the imprisonment shock can be associated with a series of intense emotional and psychosocial experiences, finding them in social withdrawal behavior, aggressive and self-aggressive behaviors (Florian, 1996). Work has been done with detainees in prison for several reasons: (1) because the literature reminisces of the existing factors in the prison environment that can influence the suicidal behavior (Towl, 2003), (2) because it was known their clinical history and (3) because it is desirable to maintain adequate psychosocial status during detention (the role of the penitentiary being a custodial one).

#### The importance of identifying a potential T-pattern of denial of suicidal ideation / behavior

In the case of denial of suicidal behavior (in the context of the discussion on suicide) and the identification of a potential T-pattern of facial expressions in the context of the discussion on suicide (denial of suicidal ideation / behavior) one can discuss the absence or inversion of the concepts that are in relation with a theme, in this case, with the presence or absence of an autolytic idea or a potential behavior (Chu et al., 2006). Along with verbal communication, denial is also expressed at nonverbal level (gestures and facial expressions of emotions) (Ekman & Friesen, 1978). Later on, Matsumoto (2009) has conducted studies that highlight the fact that facial expressions of emotions are universal even when it comes to athletes, even if they are visually impaired or blind.

#### The importance of studying the facial expression of emotions in visually impaired people

Matsumoto (2013) asserts that the facial expressions of emotions are universal, they prepare us for behavioral reactions; they are not socially learned reactions, but are phylogenetically transmitted. Recognition and reading of other people's emotions can provide insight into the personality, motivation, and intentions of others, even in the case of visually impaired people (Matsumoto, 2013). This study proposes to identify a potential facial pattern in the expression of the following idea's (*Have you thought about/ do you plan to commit suicide*?) and / or suicidal behavior's (*Do you want to commit suicide*?) denial *in the case of persons deprived of liberty and of visually impaired people*. This study does not specifically address the topic of suicide in visually impaired people, but this category is used as a control group to align and identify common facial elements in a provoked situation (questions *to identify facial expressions when discussing suicide - denial of suicidal ideation / behavior*).

A possible identification of the facial pattern in the case of the suicide discussion (specifically verbal denial on suicidal ideation and behavior) starts from the hypothesis that for the two groups of participants (prisoners and visually impaired persons) the universality of emotions is a strong premise that can outline a potential pattern for facial expressions in this respect, and it is possible to identify common nonverbal elements, regardless of cultural influence, context, gender or visual analyzer functioning.

#### **III.3.3 Research objectives and hypotheses**

#### **Objectives**

**The first objective** of the study is to identify behavioral facial expressions in the context of the discussion on suicide (answers to specific questions, *"Have you thought about/ do you plan to commit suicide?"* and / or *"Do you want to commit suicide?"* regarding detained and visually impaired people, with the word "suicide" being a triggering element.

**The second objective** is to identify the differences in the head movements (yaw, pitch, roll), the duration of the response to questions about the suicidal ideation / autolytic behavior, the emotions and the facial actions identified, between people in detention and visually impaired people, ie people with ideation / history of suicide and people without thought / without a history of suicide.

#### Hypotheses

- There is a possibility of identifying similar facial expressions at the level of the two categories of participants (people in detention and visually impaired persons) in the case of providing a verbal answer "NO" to specific questions in the context of the discussion of suicide.
- There will be significant differences in head movements, response time to questions about suicidal ideation / autolytic behavior, emotions and facial actions identified between detained persons and visually impaired persons.
- There will be significant differences in head movements, response time to questions about suicidal ideation / autolytic behavior, emotions and facial actions identified, between people with an ideation / with a history of suicide, and people without an ideation / no history of suicide.

#### **III.3.4 Research methodology**

#### Design

This study seeks to identify a possible facial pattern, is a field-based, ecological study.

In case of hypothesis 1, 2 and 3 a quasi-experimental design was used.

For hypothesis 1, the quasi-independent variable is the emotional trigger (suicide word), the participants being divided into two categories: inmates and visually impaired people. The dependent variable is represented by emotional facial expressions in the context of the discussion on suicide, more specific in the context of providing a verbal answer "NO" to the questions "*Do you plan to commit suicide*?" and / or "*Do you want to commit suicide*?".

For hypothesis 2, the independent variable identified in this case is represented by the status of the participants (inmates vs. visually impaired persons), and the dependent variable is represented by nonverbal facial behavior.

For hypothesis 3, the independent variable identified in this case is the status of the participants / the history of the suicidal antecedents (with suicidal ideation vs. no suicidal ideation), and the dependent variable is represented by the nonverbal facial behavior.

#### Participants

Between July 2012 and August 2016 psychological interviews with 27 detainees and 13 psychological assessment interviews with visually impaired people (N = 40) were recorded.

Following the analysis of video recordings with the FACET biometric platform, the total number of participants is lower (N = 32), of which inmates (N = 21) and visually impaired people (N = 11). The first category of participants consists of detained persons (N = 21, M = 42.04, AS = 11.53), who are recently placed in the Arad Maximum Security Penitentiary,

being arrested for various offenses (murder, robbery, rape, and drug abuse, incitement to robbery, deception), of which men (N = 5) and women (N = 16).

The second category of participants is represented by visually impaired people (N = 11, M = 34.27, AS = 9.23) who are part of the Arad Visually Impaired Association, of which men (N = 4) and women (N = 7), respectively congenital blinds (N = 8) and visually impaired persons that became over the course of their life (N = 3). Participation was based on voluntary and informed consent.

The medical records of the detainees were checked for the purpose of identifying possible suicide attempts prior to the conviction. In this regard, nine people with a history of suicide were identified, of which men (N = 3) and women (N = 6). Detainees were monitored throughout the entire detention period (July 2012 - February 2017). All interviewees are of Romanian nationality.

#### Consent of the participants

All interviewees were informed about the purpose of the research and the analysis and subsequent use of the video recordings. In this respect, written consent was requested from detained persons (Figure 8), while visually impaired persons expressed their verbal consent.

	<u> </u>
În conformitate cu art. 175 din Regu	lamentul de aplicare al Legii 275/2006,
subsemnatul, aflat în Penitenciarul Ar	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
al, condamnatani, pentru infracțiune audio-video în cadrul întâlnirilor de evaluare psi	
	a de studii și cercetări cât și în sprijinul
comisiilor constituite la nivelul unității. Datele și	informații le obținute în urma înregistrărilor
vor avea caracter confidențial fiind folosite ca ata	we.
Data	Semnătura

Figure 8. Informed consent model used for audio-video recordings.

#### The equipment used

A camcorder (Sony HDR-CX190) was used to record the interviews in which the participants' face was recorded during the initial psychological assessments. It was intended that the size of the frames should be from the shoulders to the upper part of the head (Fig. 9, Fig. 10).

#### Location of the interviews

Filming took place in (1) the psychological cabinet of the Arad Penitentiary and (2) in a room of the Arad Visually Impaired Association, Romania.

The central theme of the interview was the subject of suicide, namely:

- 1. If a detained person / a visually impaired person proposes / is thinking of committing a new attempt to suicide (in the case of those who have suffered suicidal ideation / committed at least once a previous suicide attempt). The question was: "Do you have suicidal thoughts? / Do you want to commit suicide?".
- 2. If the detainee/visually impaired person intends / is thinking about committing an attempted suicide (in the case of those who did not have suicidal ideation / did not have suicide attempts). The question was: "Do you have suicidal thoughts? / Do you want to commit suicide?".
- 3. For the magnitude of suicidal behavior and suicidal ideation, coding of video recordings started from the moment the subject begins to give the answer and stops immediately after the last word of the subject. The sequence duration varies between 1 6 seconds. The interviews took a minimum of 20 minutes and a maximum of 45 minutes, and the distance between the video camera and the subjects was about one meter.

#### *Coding the collected nonverbal information:*

The results of the nonverbal behavior expressed as:

- Facial Muscle Activity Action Units. Based on the analyses conducted with the FACET biometric platform, 23 indicators of nonverbal behavior were identified and encoded.
- Direction of head movement (yaw, pitch, and roll). The FACET biometric platform identifies these values in degrees, at the head, using 3 dimensions (Figure 9, Figure 10): (1) turning the head in the left-right direction, (2) moving the head in the up and down direction, (3) tilting the head in the left-right direction (yaw, pitch, and roll).



**Figure 9.** Values of the three dimensions measured with the FACET biometric platform at head level for a visually impaired subject. Head rotation in left-right direction **Yaw** (**negative**) = -11.09; head movement in the up and down direction **Pitch** (**positive**) = 9.79; tilted head in left-right direction **Roll** (**positive**) = 7.04.



**Figure 10.** Values of the three dimensions measured with the FACET biometric platform, at the head, in the case of a visually impaired subject. Head rotation in left-right direction **Yaw** (**positive**) = 13.72; head movement in the up and down direction **Pitch** (**positive**) = 0.13; tilted head in left-right direction **Roll** (**negative**) = -5.61.

 Body behaviors such as postural movements, head movements, direction of sight hand gestures, face touch, etc. were examined. Information obtained from behavioral analyses provides an overview of the subject's emotional perspective and helps identify and define existential problems in the context of clinical interventions (eg stress management, prevention of self-aggression and hetero-aggressiveness, prevention of autolytic behavior, etc.).

#### Biometric data analysis

In order to identify the potential pattern for facial expressions in the context of the discussion on suicide, in particular the verbal expression NO, in response to the questions "Do you have suicidal thoughts? / Do you want to commit suicide?", in the case of analyzes performed with the FACET biometric platform, the following steps were taken:

the baseline (automatic adjustment of emotional values according to facial morphology) was established for the emotion record using the FACET biometric platform (Figure 11);

#Study : Nevazato ri												
#Date : 20151013 12:22:35												
#Version : 5.7.2374.0												
#TestRunDate : 20151006 11:26:21.441 (+0	12:00)											
# FACET Baseline: Joy=(-0.5573223), Ange	r=(-0.8263)	189), Surpri	ise=(-1.239	9685), Fear	=(-0.64160	76), Contei	mpt=(-0.24	79435), Dis	gust=(0.11	25304), Sa	dness=(0.0	7663357),

Figure 11. Example of a baseline of universal emotions set for the case of a visually impaired subject.

- the marker times (M) start of the subject's response (M1) and the end of the subject's response (M2), were established, the time interval being used for subsequent analyzes;
- the biometric analysis was performed for each record on the segment set by the markers;
- biometric analyses were performed at 0.040 seconds for each record;
- the highest value of the Surprise emotion was identified on the selected interval for analysis. This particular emotion was chosen on the assumption that this universal emotion is the most spontaneous reaction to an emotional trigger (Ekman, 2003; Ekman, & Friedlund, 1987), and Landis and Hunt (1939) speak of the thrilling reaction ("*Startle preemotional behavioral measurements*");

In order to identify a potential pattern associated with the denial of suicidal ideation / behavior, the results of 32 participants (persons deprived of liberty and visually impaired persons) were analyzed irrespective of the response (positive or negative) offered.

#### **III.3.5 Results**

The identification of facial expressions (potential behavioral pattern) associated with verbal answer to questions about suicide

The collected data were entered into the SPSS program (version 19), then the descriptive statistics for the experimental group and the control group were carried out, showing the means and the standard deviations for each category (Table 4), but also for the category of persons with ideation / with a history of suicide (inmates and visually impaired persons) and persons without ideation / no history of suicide (inmates and visually impaired persons) (Table 5).

Table	Category	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard Deviation	4:
Average	Detained persons	21	23.00	65.00	42.0476	11.53896	and
standard	Visually impaired Persons	11	21.00	58.00	34.2727	9.23137	
	Total	32	21.00	65.00	39.3750	11.29016	_

deviation for people in prison (N = 21) and visually impaired people (N = 11) by age.

**Table 5**: Mean and standard deviation (N = 9) for persons (detained and visually impaired persons) with ideation / history of suicide, and persons (inmates and visually impaired persons) without ideation / no history of suicide (N=23) depending on age.

	Age				
Category	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	- Standard Deviation
Persons with ideation / history of suicide	9	23.00	58.00	36.5556	10.48941
Persons without ideation / no history of suicide	23	21.00	65.00	40.4783	11.62235
Total	32	21.00	65.00	39.3750	11.29016

Firstly, for the two groups of participants (inmates and visually impaired persons), factorial analysis was performed to identify common significant factors (Facial Actions) that were activated at the time the participants responded to questions about the suicidal ideation (*Have you had thoughts about suicide?*) /suicidal behavior (*Do you want to commit suicide?*).

For the category of persons detained, the exploratory factorial analysis was performed to identify significant factors, which have values greater than 1.00 (Figure 12). Initially, seven main components were derived from the variance analysis. Elements with values greater than 1.00 were extracted, the results being presented in Table 6 (for more statistical information, see Annex 3 A, B, C, D).

					tion of loadings'	sums of squares	Rotatio	Rotation of loadings' sums of squares				
Component	Total	% Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% Variance	Cumulative %			
1	6.114	26.582	26.582	6.114	26.582	26.582	5.297	23.032	23.032			
2	4.830	20.998	47.580	4.830	20.998	47.580	4.587	19.945	42.976			
3	2.705	11.761	59.341	2.705	11.761	59.341	2.399	10.429	53.405			
4	2.151	9.354	68.696	2.151	9.354	68.696	2.068	8.992	62.397			
5	1.811	7.874	76.569	1.811	7.874	76.569	1.970	8.566	70.963			
6	1.367	5.945	82.515	1.367	5.945	82.515	1.893	8.232	79.195			
7	1.004	4.364	86.879	1.004	4.364	86.879	1.767	7.684	86.879			

Table 6. The main Facial Action components and elements of nonverbal behavior with values greater than 1.00, following variance analysis in the case of detained persons in the context of the discussion on suicide.

Principal component analysis was performed based on Facial Action correlations (twenty Facial Actions) and nonverbal behavioral elements (three elements of head movement). The orthogonal rotation of the factors determined the factorial structure represented in Table 6. The first three cumulative factors account for about 59% of the factors activated in the case of the detained persons in the context of the discussion about suicide. The first component is found in the lower part of the head (Facial Actions 14, 25, 24, 26, 28, 17, 12), the second component contains Facial Actions 9, 2, 7, 1, 6, 4, and the third component contains the Actions Faces 20 and 18 (Table 7).



Figure 12. Graphic of the main Facial Actions components and head movements as a result of the variance analysis for the detained persons.

The decreased graphic indicates that after the seventh dimensional component (the last significant factor with a value greater than 1.00), the values decrease, reaching the critical threshold of 1.00. Components represent units of action.

The values greater than 1.00 found in Table 6 were rotated in the orthogonal plane, and the saturations of the twenty-three variables (Facial Actions and head movement elements) for the seven factors are found in Table 7.

**Table 7.**Significant factorial saturations (correlation coefficients) of variables (Facial Actions and elements of head movement) in the case of detained persons in the context of the discussion on suicide.

Rotated Comp	otated Component Matrix <sup>a</sup>						
AU			Component				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
AU14	.895	.062	.133	052	094	.212	046
AU25	892	.018	.367	064	027	.105	106
AU24	.891	.124	150	.091	139	025	.027

AU26	833	.045	.357	.094	240	.088	201
AU28	.765	.275	.429	.165	011	028	106
AU17	.724	163	148	.449	230	.166	016
AU12	.584	.277	.477	246	.314	.241	220
AU9	046	.903	.118	.055	.129	098	.122
AU2	159	893	.189	.187	.078	054	129
AU7	003	.805	.005	.280	.193	010	.127
AU1	088	796	.193	.075	.148	374	.147
AU6	.453	.688	020	055	.396	.157	053
AU4	072	.655	.075	039	.228	529	.256
AU20	174	049	.813	153	.043	121	.054
AU18	.092	.353	703	172	.208	.134	.310
AU43	180	.456	.472	462	.146	180	.189
AU5	065	.083	009	.887	146	074	.099
AU15	.523	010	079	.683	015	.157	.104
AU23	.338	119	.131	.184	780	.321	.050
AU10	.120	.376	.156	160	.739	.428	092
Pitch	.017	.084	174	.050	.033	.951	.070
Yaw	173	080	.260	212	105	.003	855
Roll	101	.281	.212	054	432	.017	.783

Extraction method: Principal components analysis. Rotation method: Varimax with Kaiser normalization.<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>The rotation converged in 11 iterations

The variables are sorted and ordered according to the saturation they have for each factor (Fig. 13).



Component

Figure 13. Graphic representation of the main components, the saturation of the variables (Facial Actions and head movements) and their sequence in the case of the persons detained, depending on the positive or negative values.

Negative values of factorial saturation indicate that some of the values of nonverbal indicators (Facial Actions, head movements) correlate negatively with each other (Table 7). Negative correlations represent the fact that when an indicator of nonverbal behavior measured in this study is activated and exceeds the baseline for biometric measurements (value of -1), another indicator of nonverbal behavior cannot reach the same values positive aspects, which may be due to the way the facial muscles work (for example, the levator muscles contract upwards and the depressor muscles contract downwards) (Ekman, 2003). For example, in Table 7 (for component 1), the negative correlation coefficients for Facial Action 25 (lip split) (r = -.892) and Facial Action 26 (jaw dropping) (r = -.823)are in reversed correlation with Facial Actions 14 (dips), 24 (tightening of lips), 28 (teeth covering with lips), 17 (lifting the chin), 12 (pulling the corners of the mouth). This may be due to the way the facial muscles work. Another example (component 7) where the negative values

of the correlation coefficients for the nonverbal index "spin the head in the left-right direction"- yawn (r = -855) are in reverse correlation with the nonverbal indicator " tilting the head in the right-hand direction "-roll. For the biometric analyzes performed, the value -1 is used as a benchmark value for the highest sensitivity in identifying nonverbal indicators.

In the case of visually impaired persons, exploratory factorial analysis was performed to identify significant factors with values greater than 1.00 (Figure 14). Five main components were originally extracted with values greater than 1.00, the results are shown in Table 8.

**Table 8**. The main components of Facial Actions and head movements with values greater than 1.00, following the variance analysis of visually impaired people in the context of the discussion on suicide.

	Initial Eigen Values				Extraction of loads' sums of squares			Rotation of loads' sums of squares		
Component	Total	% Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% Variance	Cumulative %	
1	7.879	34.256	34.256	7.879	34.256	34.256	5.649	24.563	24.563	
2	4.886	21.242	55.498	4.886	21.242	55.498	5.479	23.823	48.385	
3	3.349	14.563	70.060	3.349	14.563	70.060	4.111	17.876	66.261	
4	2.397	10.422	80.483	2.397	10.422	80.483	2.433	10.579	76.840	
5	1.576	6.851	87.333	1.576	6.851	87.333	2.414	10.494	87.333	

Extraction method: Principal components analysis; a. category - visually impaired persons

Principal component analysis was performed based on Facial Action correlations (twenty Facial Actions) and nonverbal behavioral elements (three elements of head movement). The orthogonal rotation of the factors determined the factorial structure represented in Table 8. The first three cumulative factors represent about 70% of the factors activated in the case of visually impaired people in the context of the discussion on suicide. The first component is represented by Facial Actions 14, 24, 43, 28, 12, 17, 15 and the head movement - Pitch, the second component is represented by Facial Actions 6, 7, 10, 9, 1, 2), and the third component by Facial Actions 26, 25, 20 (Table 9).

#### Reprezentarea valorilor proprii ale componentelor semnificative



Figure 14. The graphic of Facial Actions and head movements' principal components as a result of variance analysis for visually impaired people.

The decreased graphic shows that after the fifth component (the last significant factor with a value greater than 1.00), the values decrease, reaching the critical threshold of 1.00. The components are units of action. Values greater than 1.00, found in Table 8, were rotated in orthogonal plane, and the saturations of the twenty-three variables for the five factors are found in Table 9.

**Table 9.** Significant factorial saturations (correlation coefficients) of the variables (Facial Actions and head movements) in the case of the visually impaired persons in the context of the discussion on suicide.

Rotated Component N	<b>latrix</b> <sup>a</sup>				
AU			Componentă		
	1	2	3	4	5
AU14	.867	152	235	.198	.308
AU24	.836	.043	344	.001	.372

AU43	.764	231	.168	395	.182
AU28	.732	087	.370	.072	.527
AU12	.727	.468	.170	.449	104
AU17	.723	360	343	011	.448
AU15	.716	402	058	097	339
Pitch	679	.322	.469	.100	002
AU6	.369	.874	219	.099	089
AU7	079	.867	086	.004	.020
AU10	350	.836	.204	061	011
AU9	159	.832	.173	025	071
AU1	.496	773	133	135	282
AU2	.452	760	081	.238	165
AU26	075	169	.960	041	106
AU25	162	.114	.925	071	284
AU20	103	.381	.870	167	005
AU4	.099	096	.103	904	.017
Yaw	.054	224	321	.597	.514
AU23	.374	400	.565	.573	.018
Roll	184	047	.143	.029	784
AU18	.236	.368	450	506	.521
AU5	.162	.395	247	.360	.424

Extraction method: Principal components analysis. Rotation method: Varimax with Kaiser normalization. <sup>a</sup>The rotation converged in 9 iterations. The variables are sorted and ordered according to the saturation they have for each factor (Fig. 15).



**Figure 15**. Graphical representation of the principal components, the saturations of the variables (Facial Actions and head movements) and their sequence in the case of the visually impaired persons, depending on the positive or negative values. Negative values of factorial saturation indicate that some of the values of nonverbal indicators (Facial Actions, head movements) correlate negatively with each other (Table 9). For the biometric analyzes performed, the value -1 is used as a benchmark value for the highest sensitivity in identifying nonverbal indicators.

The automatic analysis of Facial Action is here only for the sequences that contain the suicide theme (1 - 6 sec. / recording). The results of factorial analysis (Table 6 and Table 8) indicate that identical facial indicators were identified in the components in nonverbal expression of suicide denial in the two groups with similar variance values. These values are shown in Table 10.

#### **Rotated Component Matrix**

 Table 10. Common variables (Action Units-AU) for the category of inmates and visually impaired persons - The pattern of facial expressions in the verbal expression of the denial of suicide.

Category	Component	Initial Eigen values	% Variance	AU	Common AU Suicide denial pattern	AU	% Variance	Initial Eigen values	Component	Category
	1	7.87	34.25 %	<b>AU14,AU24</b> , AU43, <b>AU28</b> , <b>AU12,AU17</b> , AU15,Pitch	AU14, AU24, AU28, AU17, AU12	AU14,AU25 AU24,AU26 AU28,AU17 AU12	26.58%	6.11	1	-
visually impaired persons (n=11)	2	4.88	21.24%	AU6,AU7, AU10,AU9, AU1,AU2	AU6, AU7, AU9, AU1, AU2	AU9, AU2 AU7,AU1 AU6,AU4	20.99%	4.83	2	Detained persons (n=21
	3	3.34	14.5%	AU26, AU25 AU20	AU20	AU20,AU18	11.76%	2.70	3	perso
	4	2.39	10.4%	AU4, Yaw AU23	-	AU5, AU15	9.35%	2.15	4	ained
	5	1.57	6.85%	Roll, AU18		AU23,AU10 Pitch Yaw, Roll	7.87% 5.94% 4.36%	1.81 1.36 1.00	5 6 7	Det

The facial indicators identified by factorial analysis are partial elements of the following universal emotions: Surprise (1 + 2 + 5B + 26), Sadness (1 + 4 + 15), Happiness (6 + 12) 5 + 7 + 20 + 26), Fury (4 + 5 + 7 + 23), Disgust (9 + 15 + 16), Contempt (R12A + R14A).

For a better representation of the common components (Table 10), nonverbal indicators are represented in Figure 16.

AU	Description	Facial muscle	Example image
14	Dimpler	Buccinator	less
24	Lip Pressor	Orbicularis oris	
28	Lip Suck	Ordicularis oris	Components
17	Chin Raiser	Mentalis	Сопфоления
12	Lip Corner Putter	Z; gomatk us major	10 miles
6	Cheek Raiser	Orbiz ularis oculi, pars orbitalis	
7	Lid Tightener	Orbi: ularis oculi, pars palpebrali:	
9	Nose Wrinkler	Levator labii superiori: alaquae nazi	Component
1	Inner Brow Raiser	Frontalis, pars medialt	(m. 70)
2	Outer Brow Raiser	Frontalis, pars la te ralis	12 2
20	Lipstretcher	Risorius w/ platysma	Component

**Figure 16.** Taken after FACS - Facial Action Coding System (Ekman, & Friesen, 1978). Significant common facial actions for detainees and visually impaired people at verbal denial of suicidal ideation / behavior regarding plans for the future.

Behavioral expressions manifested at the facial level during verbal denial of suicidal ideation / behavior in the two categories of investigated individuals may be a behavioral pattern (Figure 17).



**Figure 17**. Sequence of facial indicators/ facial behavior (visually impaired person vs. detained person) performed with the FACET Biometric Platform at a time interval T = 0.040 sec. - eyebrow lift and mouth opening, according to Fixed Action Models (MAF), Eibl-Eibesfeldt, 1972

The identification of differences in head movements, response time to questions about suicidal ideation / autolytic behavior, emotions and facial actions in the case of detained persons and visually impaired people, namely people with ideation / history of suicide and people without ideation / without a history of suicide.

The statistical analysis was made using SPSS, version 19, based on the data obtained from the processing of audio-video recordings with the FACET biometric platform. The level of significance was set at p = .05. In the first stage, analyzes of head movements, duration of response to questions about suicidal ideation / autolytic behavior, emotions and facial actions identified for the category of detained persons and visually impaired persons were performed. Means and standard deviations for representative variables are shown in Table 11 (for more statistical information see Annex 1E).

**Table 11.** Means and standard deviations for head movements, response time to questions about autolytic ideology / behavior, evidence of emotion and Facial Action for detainees and visually impaired persons.

Emotions/	Category	Ν	Mean	Standard deviation
Facial actions*				
Evidence for Surprise	Inmates	21	1.1692	1.11172
	Visually impaired persons	11	0186	1.47790
AU6	Inmates	21	-1.4753	.61146
	Visually impaired persons	11	9670	.75984
AU7	Inmates	21	-1.4504	.47820
	Visually impaired persons	11	-1.0570	.52307
AU15	Inmates	21	4169	.46380
	Visually impaired persons	11	7751	.45043

\* Action Unit - AU

In order to verify whether there are differences between the group of detainees and that of the visually impaired persons in the head movements, the duration of the response to the questions concerning the autolytic idea/ behavior, the evidence of emotion and the Facial Actions, the t test for independent samples was performed. The results are shown in Table 12 (see Annex 1F).

**Table 12**. Test t for differences in head movements, response time to questions about autolytic idea / behavior, evidence of emotion, and Facial Action for inmates and visually impaired persons.

	T test for E	qual Means		
	t	Degrees of freedom	Level of significance (2-tailed)	Means difference
Evidence of Surpise	2.562	30	<u>.016</u>	1.18785
AU6	-2.055	30	<u>.049</u>	50829
AU7	-2.141	30	.040	39339
AU15	2.095	30	.045	.35823

The t test for independent samples was applied to determine the difference between the mean scores of the detained persons and the visually impaired persons in the head movements, the response time to the questions regarding the autolytic idea / behavior, the emotion evidence and the Facial Actions. The mean scores of the universal emotion Surprise (Table 11) in the case of the detained persons (N = 21, M = 1.169, AS = 1.11) are significantly higher t (30) = 2.56, p bidirectional = .016, than those of the visually impaired persons (N = 11, M = - .0186, AS = 1.47).

The mean scores of AU6 (Orbicularis oculi, pars orbitalis- raised cheek) and AU7 (Orbicularis oculi, pars palpebralistightened eyelid) in the case of the persons detained are significantly lower t (30) = 2.05, p bidirectional = .049, respectively t(30) = 2.14, p bidirectional = .040, than the scores of visually impaired people.

The average scores of AU15 (Depressor anguli oris – triangularis, lowered mouth corners) are significantly lower for visually impaired persons t (30) = 2.09, p bidirectional = .045. This may be due to the fact that the psychological state of recently detained prisoners is less good compared to the psychological state of the visually impaired persons who are free. It should be stressed that AU15 (Depressor anguli oris, aka Triangularis - the lowered corners of the mouth) is one of the basic facial actions, specific to the pattern of the universal emotion Sadness (AU1 + AU4 + AU15).

In this case it can be said that AU6 and AU7 are less obvious in the case of the detained persons compared to visually impaired persons, which may be due to the facial morphology of the visually impaired, and AU15 is less obvious in the case of visually impaired persons compared to the detained persons. There were no statistically significant differences in the other scores for the two categories of participants.



**Figure 18**. Identification of Facial Actions at the evidence level at the value of -1. Sequence from biometric analysis for a visually impaired subject.

In the second stage, analyses of head movements, response time to questions about suicidal ideation / autolytic behavior, emotions and identified facial actions were performed, for people with ideation / history of suicide \* and people without ideas / no history of suicide \*\*. Means and standard deviations for representative variables are shown in Table 13 (see Appendix 1G).

**Table 13.** Means and standard deviations for head movements, response duration to questions concerning autolytic ideation / behavior, evidence of emotion, and Facial Actions for persons with suicidal ideation / history \* and persons without ideation / no history of suicide \*\*

	Category	Ν	Mean	Standard Deviation
Evidence of	With suicidal ideation / history	9	-1.3356	1.30529
Contempt	Without suicidal ideation / history	23	-1.0561	.97930
Evidence of	With suicidal ideation / history	9	9818	1.07449
Disgust	Without suicidal ideation / history	23	-1.1929	1.10756
Evidence of	With suicidal ideation / history	9	-1.2375	1.46360
Sadness	Without suicidal ideation / history	23	6191	1.17151
AU25	With suicidal ideation / history	9	4463	1.38129
	Without suicidal ideation / history	23	-1.1372	1.06244
AU26	With suicidal ideation / history	9	3459	1.49019

	Without suicidal ideation / history	23	7942	1.10075
Yaw	With suicidal ideation / history	9	-1.9184	13.11685
	Without suicidal ideation / history	23	-5.2794	10.14700
Response duration	With suicidal ideation / history	9	1018.7778	841.52819
	Without suicidal ideation / history	23	2301.3913	1042.15348

**Note**: \* Persons with a suicidal ideation /history - It refers to the participants of this study who at the time of the interview answered affirmatively the questions: "*Do you plan to commit suicide*?" (people with suicidal ideation); and "*Did you ever try to commit suicide*?" respectively (people with a history of suicide).

\*\* Persons without suicidal thoughts /history - It refers to the participants of this study who at the time of the interview answered negatively to the questions: "*Are you planning to commit suicide*?" (people **without suicidal ideation**); and "*Did you ever try to commit suicide*?" (people **without a history of suicide**)

In order to verify whether there are differences between people with a suicidal ideation / history of suicide and those without a suicidal ideation / without a history of suicide, head movements, response time to questions about autolytic behavior, evidence of emotion, and Facial Actions, the t test for independent samples was performed. The results are outlined in Table 14 (see Annex 1H).

**Table 14**. T Test for independent samples in the case of differences in head movements, response time to questions about autolytic idea / behavior, evidence of emotion, and Facial Action for people with a suicidal ideation / history of suicide and for people without a suicidal ideation / without a history of suicide.

T test for Equal Means				
	t	Degrees of freedom	Level of significance (2-tailed)	Means difference
<b>Response Duration</b>	-3.286	30	<u>.003</u>	-1282.613

The t test for independent samples was applied to determine the difference between the mean scores of people with suicidal ideation / history of suicide and those without suicidal ideation / no history of suicide, at the head movements, the duration of the response to the questions concerning the autolytic idea / behavior, the evidence of emotion and Facial Action. There was a statistically significant difference in the response time mean scores for participants without a suicidal ideation / no history of suicide (N = 23, M = 2301.39, AS = 1042.15). They are significantly higher t (30) = 3.28, p bidirectional = .003 than those with suicidal ideation / history of suicide (N = 9, M = 1018.77, AS = 841.52).



**Figure 19.** Graphical representation of the response time for the two categories of participants: detained persons and visually impaired people with suicidal ideation / history of suicide and detained persons and visually impaired people without suicidal ideation / no history of suicide).

#### **III.3.6 Discussions**

The hypotheses of this study were partially confirmed. In this respect, the first hypothesis of this study highlights nonverbal elements common to the two categories of participants (both prisoners and the visually impaired). The

statistical analysis of the data supports the proposed hypothesis in identifying a facial expression pattern associated with verbal negation about suicidal ideation / behavior, allowing the identification of three major components, namely eleven Action Units (AU) for the two groups of participants. The study by Heller, Haynal-Reymond, Haynal, & Archinard (2001) identified in persons who have attempted suicide, oral activity at the facial level that cannot be explained by the activity of the speech and which cannot always be associated with the risk of a new suicide attempt.

The principal components identified by the factorial analysis in the case of the presented study highlight facial indicators grouped at mouth level, which is supported by similar studies in the literature (Heller, Haynal-Reymond, Haynal, & Archinard, 2001). Data suggests that participants tend to show more facial activity in the lower part of the face, especially at the mouth level in the context of the discussion on suicide. Studies in nonverbal communication support the hypothesis that expressivity is perceived as an element of normality that characterizes healthy people (Ekman & Fridlund, 1987).

In the category of the detained persons, the results obtained are relevant for the cumulative percentage of the variance, indicating that 59.34% of the factors activated in the context of the suicide discussion are found in the first three components (in the first component Facial Actions 14, 25, 24, 26, 28, 17, 12, were activated; Facial Actions 9, 2, 7, 1, 6, 4 were activated in the second component and Facial Actions 20 and 18 were included in the third component.) In the case of visually impaired people, the results obtained are relevant for the cumulative percentage of the variance, indicating that 70.06% of the factors activated in the context of the suicide discussion are found in the first three components (Facial Actions 14, 24, 43, 28, 12, 17, 15 and the head movement element –Pitch were activated in the first component, Facial Actions 6, 7, 10, 9, 1, 2 have been activated in the second component, and the third component includes Facial Actions 26, 2, 20.

In the context of the discussion on suicide, the common Facial Actions found in the two categories of participants in the first three components may represent the fact that regardless of the category of persons (inmates or visually impaired persons), context (prison or state of freedom), when there is an emotional trigger (eg, the discussion about suicide), both categories of participants can activate common facial actions.

In this study, the static behavioral pattern is highlighted, which refers to behavioral analysis within a well-defined timeframe, that is, behavioral pattern refers to a single sequence of time. Simple (static), unlike ritualistic (dynamic) patterns (Haynal-Reymond, Jonsson, & Magnusson, 2005), refers only to simple behavioral actions that do not involve arm movements or postural changes.

In present study we can discuss a simple, static behavioral pattern where Facial Actions common to the two categories of participants are activated. In the case of the first component (34, 25% of the variance for the detained persons and 26.58% of the variance for visually impaired people), a Facial action regularity is displayed at the lower level of the face (AU14, AU24, AU28, AU17, AU12). Concerning the second component (21%, 24% of the variance in the detained persons and 20,99% of the variance for visually impaired people), a regularity of the Facial Actions in the nose, eye and eyebrows is shown (AU6, AU7, AU9, AU1, AU2), and in the case of the third component (14, 56% of the variance for the detained persons and 11.76% of the variance for visually impaired people), a regularity of the Facial Actions at the lip level (AU20) occurs. In the context of the discussion on suicide, a possible explanation for the large number of facial indexes identified at the mouth level (such as the first component) could be given by the verbal expression of the response (the mechanical function of the facial muscles involved in the speech process) but also by the nonverbal expression of disapproval, the denial of the possibility of another suicide attempt in the future. Significant facial indicators may play a role in transmitting the specific emotions faced by participants only in the context of the discussion on suicide: (1) the participants present a mixed multi-emotional index, as is the case with the second and third components (eg anger, contempt) ; (2) anxiety identified by lip tension from a possible desire to control the situation. In the case of verbal denial of suicidal ideation / behavior regarding future situations, in this study, data suggest that participants exhibit more facial activity at the mouth compared to upper face indicators.

The Facial Actions identified in the two groups of participants can represent a potential behavioral pattern that can be determined by a possible degree of rhythmicity in the occurrence of these actions in the context of the discussion on suicide for future situations. The literature demonstrates that the pattern in nonverbal behavior is characterized by the rhythm of the structure and not by its content (Grammer, Kruck & Magnusson, 1998; Magnusson, 2000).

Facial expressions highlighted by statistical analysis may represent an indicator of a potential pattern of emotional expressions accompanying verbal denial of suicide (though a much larger number of subjects is needed to identify a pattern) that can be used in the future as a diagnostic tool, allowing identification of pattern deviations and assessing the needs for specific analyses and interventions to assess and prevent the risk of suicide.

Magnusson (2000) asserts that identifying the type of pattern is important for the flow of different types of behavior within a time frame. In this sense, the pattern is important in organizing behavior (Magnuson, 2000).

In relation to the data obtained in this study (common Facial Actions activated by detainees and visually impaired persons were identified in the case of verbal denial of suicidal ideation / behavior), reference can be made to the theory of universality of emotions from a philogenetic perspective, but also to the idea according to which affective states are reflexes (Darwin, 1872). In the visually impaired people category, people with congenital, but also acquired, blindness are found. In the case of people with congenital blindness, it is not possible to discuss ways of learning and expressing emotions at the facial level in the context of social interaction, these people not being able to visualize the facial

expressions of other individuals. The literature highlights the fact that the phylogenetic dimension is responsible for expressing emotions at the facial level, even for the visually impaired (Darwin, 1872; Matsumoto, 2013).

The results obtained in this study can highlight the dynamic nature of the communication process that relates to the exchange of information at the verbal and / or nonverbal level between the psychologist and the participants in the context of the psychological assessment. The results of the studies by Grammer, Fink, & Renninger (2002) highlight the fact that the communication process is dynamic, regardless of context.

In the second part of the statistical analysis, regarding the differences between the groups of participants (prisoners / visually impaired persons, *people with suicidal ideation / history of suicide and people without suicidal ideas / no history of suicide*), it can be concluded that there have been identified in total five statistically significant differences. In the first analyzed situation (inmates vs. visually impaired persons), differences were found: (1) at the level of evidence for the emotion Surprise, in the case of the inmates the results are significantly higher than those of the visually impaired persons; (2) at *Facial Action level 6* and (3) at *Facial Action 7*, in the case of detainees the results are significantly lower than those of the visually impaired persons; (4) at the level of *Facial Action 15*, in the case of visually impaired persons the results are significantly lower than those of the persons detained; in the second analyzed situation (persons with suicidal ideation / with a history of suicide and people without suicidal ideation / without a history of suicide), differences were found (5) *in the duration of the response* in the context of the discussion on suicide, in the case of persons without suicidal ideation / without a history of suicide the results are significantly higher than those with a suicidal ideation / without a history of suicide.

At the level of the other measured variables: six universal emotions, seventeen Facial Actions and three elements of the head movement no statistically significant differences were found, which can be perceived as a high level of behavioral similarity between the participants in the emotional expressivity accompanying the verbal denial of suicidal ideation or suicidal behavior. Thus, the research hypothesis according to which there will be statistically significant differences in the head movements, the duration of the response to the questions regarding the suicidal ideation / autolytic behavior, at the level of emotions and identified Facial Actions, *between detained persons and* visually impaired *persons, and persons with suicidal ideation /with a history of suicide, and people without suicidal thoughts / without a history of suicide respectively*, has been partially confirmed.

#### **III.3.7** Conclusions and implications

The large number of people who commit suicide has increasingly attracted attention, especially for suicidology researchers, but not only, for this reason, factors that may underpin suicidal behaviors have been addressed here. In the literature there have been identified the risk factors associated with suicide for various populations. Risk factors associated with suicide may be: mood disorders, schizophrenia or psychosis, substance abuse or dependence, personality disorders, feelings of futility, suicidal ideation, suicidal antecedents, psychiatric history, psychiatric history in the family (Mościcki, 1999, apud Brown, Beck, Steer & amp; Grisham, 2000); demographic and psychological factors (Brown, Beck, Steer, & Grisham, 2000), etc.

According to the World Health Organization (WHO) site, depression is a common illness worldwide, with about 350 million people affected (<u>http://www.who.int/en/</u>). Depression can lead to suicide, and more than 800,000 people per year commit suicide. According to the same site, suicide is the second cause of death for the age group of 15-29 years. The barriers to suicide prevention identified by World Health Organization specialists include lack of resources, lack of specialist training for health care providers, stigmatization, and inaccurate assessments (WHO, 2017; http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs36 /en / ).

Another factor that can increase the suicide rate is the prison environment. Statistically, internationally, it is known that at the time of placing a prisoner, the risk of him committing a suicide act is quite high within the first 24 hours of being placed in prison (Towl, 2003). One of the roles of the psychologist in the prison environment is to identify such risks and to succeed in intervening as soon as possible to stop the act. Most of the time, thoughts about suicide plans are not clearly identified simply by the use of a screening or structured interview assessment (National Institute of Corrections, 1982). Thus, it can be infered that for prisoners is easy enough to lie about their emotional mood, but also about their thoughts.

#### Strengths of the present study

An important aspect of this study is the fact that it is a field-based, ecological study, the participants (detainees) are interviewed at important moments of their existence, and results similar to previous studies have been highlighted.

An advantage of the study may be the fact that the Facial Action Coding System (FACS), a standardized method of measuring and describing the expressions of facial behavior, was used. FACS is a useful research tool for measuring any facial expression that human individuals can produce. The Facial Action Coding System has been used in many clinical trials, many of which are related to the relationship between emotional triggers, emblems, conversational signs and affective disorders (Ekman & Fridlund, 1987; Ekman, Matsumoto & Friesen, 1997).

Besides the fact that all results are based on the interpretation and theory of the FACS (Facial Action Coding System) (Ekman, & Friesen, 1978), another benefit of the study is that the results were obtained using the FACET biometric platform (iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET facial expression technology from Emotient), software that automatically recognizes universal emotions (surprise, fear, anger, sadness, happiness, disgust, contempt)

and identifies nonverbal behavior indicators (three dimensions in the head movement and twenty expressions and facial micro-expressions: AU1, AU2, AU4, AU5, AU6, AU7, AU9, AU10, AU12, AU14, AU15, AU17, AU18, AU20, AU23, AU24, AU25, AU26, AU28, AU43).

#### Limitations

From the point of view of the limitations of this study, one can first discuss the small number of participants (N = 32). Following the analysis of FACET (iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET facial expression technology from Emotient), the number of participants analyzed is lower (N = 32) than the initial number of participants interviewed (N = 40), of which detained persons (N = 21) and visually impaired persons (N = 11). The lower number of subjects is due to external causes - the quality of the recordings (too strong light behind the subject, some subjects wearing glasses, frequent movements of the subject in the chair), and these situations significantly diminish the quality of the data analysis (up to 90%) with the FACET Biometric Platform.

In the case of detainees, sampling of convenience was used, they signed informed consent when they were psychologically assessed, which can be perceived as a limit of the study.

Another element that can be perceived as a limitation of this study is that the FACET biometric platform designates mouth level movements as Facial Actions at the time the participant speaks, which does not give much fidelity to the measurements.

The image of a potential pattern of denial of suicide is static and not dynamic, this being represented by the fact that the image of the facial model identified in this study is limited to only one time sequence (0.040 sec.) - the highest level of evidence for the universal emotion Surprise, even if the analysis was carried out for a maximum of 6 seconds, which may limit this study, because in the analyzed six-second interval the participants also expressed other universal emotions.

#### Recommendations/Applicability

Identifying facial expressions and analyzing them as potential patterns can be used in various contexts:

**Educational environment (students)** - identifying nonverbal behaviors specific to negative universal emotions (sadness, anger, contempt, disgust) that can predict depressive behaviors and suicide, on the one hand, and on the other hand, potential aggressive behaviors, bulling, etc.

**Prison environment (inmates)** - can be a way of predicting self-aggression and hetero aggression, or identifying depressive-suicidal behaviors, but also a way of identifying elements of nonverbal behaviors in limbo situations (negotiation, hostage-taking, riots, threats with suicide, etc.)

**Polygraphic assessments, behavioral analyses (suspects)** - identification and decryption of nonverbal messages in the psychological assessments made by the polygraph expert and by the behavioral analyst in order to outline a realistic, objective and detailed psychological profile. In this respect, during the doctoral studies a collaboration with the General Police Inspectorate - Behavioral Analysis Service was made (in 2016 and 2017, see Annex 6) - support granted for the scientific substantiation of the psychological profile of the suspects by explaining the verbal and nonverbal behavioral variables, but also with the County Police Inspectorate-Arad - Criminal Investigation Directorate (2015-2017).

**Professional training** for *judges* in order to identify the facial expressions and emotions of defendants cited in various criminal or civil cases; for *police officers* in order to decode possible hetero aggressive behaviors of people they come in contact with (Boureanu case); staff from the National Penitentiary Administration (*guarding agencies, psychologists, educators, visiting sector workers,* etc.); *psychologists certified in the field of educational psychology* in schools, high schools, etc; for *psychotherapists* because the ability to decode nonverbal behavior can be an element that helps to develop the therapeutic relationship, counteracting nonverbal elements that can trigger transfer and counter-transfer situations etc; *security and control staff at airports, secret services; the health system* (psychiatry, general medicine, pediatrics, etc.) and beyond, with the aim of identifying nonverbal behaviors and obtaining information from the unconscious sphere of the individual.

#### Future research directions

In the future, a behavioral analysis can be made to identify a dynamic pattern of nonverbal behavior in the context of the discussion on suicide targeting facial, postural and verbal measurements. The dynamic pattern could be outlined using binary analysis (the presence or absence of behavioral indicators) over the entire response period (duration of three to six seconds) to questions about suicide that highlight the type of elements of nonverbal behavior and the frequency of occurrence while answering questions.

In this study, the potential facial pattern for expression of emotions in the context of the discussion on suicide is realized through both negative and positive answers to questions about suicidal ideation and behavior. In the future, it is intended to approach a negative model only, but also a differentiation between the two categories (positive responses and negative answers to questions about suicidal ideation).

It would be useful to replicate research with a larger number of participants, to conduct a comprehensive analysis of nonverbal behavior, but also to use ethiology methods (eg, etogram) that could highlight the facial behavior sequences and their succession in case of denial of suicide.

The field of nonverbal communication is on the rise. Studies conducted since the 1840s have provided essential insights on a better understanding of emotions and nonverbal communication (Darwin, 1872; Tomkins, 1962), clarity in the identification and measurement of universal emotions (Tomkins, 1964, 1970; Ekman, Friesen & Hager 1978); and are used in research areas in the case of depression, where the client-therapist relationships concerned (Heller, et al., 2001), the autism domain (Deriso, et al., 2012), the human-machine relationship (Yeasin et al.), seductive behavior (Grammer, 1990; Troje, 2003; Andelin & Rusu, 2015) and beyond. At present, in Romania, the interest in this field of research (nonverbal communication) is increasing. In the present case, there is an image of a potential pattern of emotional expression that accompanies verbal denial in responses to questions about suicide, which is based on facial indexes identified by participants in this study. The automatic analysis of nonverbal facial micro-expressions on denial of suicidal behavior allows the identification of three significant components and eleven Facial Actions (eg AU14, AU24, AU6, AU7) for both groups of participants (inmates and visually impaired persons) in the following way:

- 1. in the case of the first component 34, 25% of the variance for the persons detained and 26.58% of the variance for the visually impaired persons, there is a regularity of the Facial Actions at the lower level of the face;
- 2. the second component 21, 24% of the variance for the persons detained and 20,99% of the variance for the visually impaired persons, shows the regularity of the Facial Actions in the wrinkles of the nose, eye and eyebrows;
- 3. third component 14, 56% percent of the variance for persons detained and 11.76% percent of the variance for visually impaired persons, a regularity of the Facial Actions at the lip level is displayed.

Acknowledgements: This research (the automatic data analysis) was supported by the Research Grant PN-II-PT-PCCA-2013-4-0781 (director: Alina S. Rusu). The automatic data analysis (micro-facial expressions) was carried out with the help of the iMotions team - Denmark between 01.10-01.11.2015, based on a doctoral research grant under the project POSDRU / 159 / 1.5 / S / 155383 "Quality, excellence, transnational mobility in doctoral research ", offered between July and December 2015.
# III.4. STUDY 4

# The Image of Deception about the Suicide Attempt: Behavioral and Biometric Analysis of the Facial Expressions of a Detained Person during the Initial Psychological Assessment - Case Study

### **III.4.1 Introduction**

The specialized literature points to two functions of emotion: (1) *the intrapersonal function* meaning the emotional functions to the individual experiencing them, and (2) *the interpersonal function* of emotion that facilitates the communication of intent but also establishes and maintains the social networks, the central conclusion is that emotions help regulate social norms (Hess, 2001). The involuntary nature of emotions through the communication channels (facial expressions, body language and voice) can provide information about the authenticity of nonverbal behavior even if controlling and concealing emotional signals is desired (Frijda, 1986; Ekman, 2003). Faking emotions in various contexts cannot be achieved easily because the difficulty of feign emotion can be high, and people less aware of the emotions experienced may involuntarily display behavioral indicators belonging to genuine emotions (Ekman, 2003). In 1985, Ekman and Friesen brought to light the famous case study "Mary", where the identification of hidden signs that can trace the intent of suicidal behavior is sought. They discuss facial micro-expressions and gestures, and the fact that the identified signs are difficult to access in the plan of conscious attention.

Taking into account the literature, in this case, the question is as follows: Is it possible to identify a form of behavior at the level of facial expression which allows the prediction of a future attempt of suicide and the identification of facial expressions associated with a potential deceptive information about a future suicide attempt?

In the prison environment, aggressive behavior against one's own person is frequently encountered among detainees (12% of suicides per 100,000 incarcerated persons, <u>http://anp.gov.ro/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/bilant-ANP-2016.pdf</u>). Therefore, this behavior is a problematic one that presents increased interest for the National Administration of Penitentiaries in order to prevent suicidal behaviors.

### **III.4.2 Research objectives and hypotheses**

### Objectives

The objective of this study is the behavioral and biometric analysis of the facial expressions of a suicide person in the context of the initial psychological assessment in the penitentiary, at the time of questioning the suicidal ideation and suicidal behavior.

### Hypotheses

It is possible to identify behavioral reactions and emotional facial expressions accompanying the verbal denial (the answer given) to the questions that investigate the antecedents, the idea and the future thoughts on suicide, in the context of the initial psychological assessment in the penitentiary.

### **III.4.3** Problems history

The participant in this case study (female, 30 years of age, unmarried and without children, detained person in Arad Penitentiary, Romania) encountered difficulties in relation to the family environment (eg poor communication with her parents) beginning at the age of 14-15 when her parents divorced. Her professional qualification is in the field of alimentary industry (assistant chef). She comes from a family with social problems and low income. After the divorce of her parents, her mother remarried and her biological father committed suicide. Immediately after the divorce of her biological parents, the detainee started drinking alcohol. The first attempt at suicide occurred at the age of 15, by cutting the veins from both hands. Three years after the incident, alcohol consumption has become a daily routine, and the subject only consumed alcohol-rich beverages. At the age of 22, the subject attempted suicide for the second time by ingesting sleeping pills. At the age of 30 she killed her stepfather. The crime occurred amid alcohol consumption and repeated disagreements with her stepfather. Currently, she is imprisoned in the Arad Maximum Security Penitentiary, being convicted of killing the stepfather.

### **III.4.4** Identifying the objectives and establishing the therapeutic intervention plan

For the therapeutic intervention the following objectives were defined:

- 1. Achieving a complex psychological profile of the subject in order to initiate therapeutic approaches and identify possible deceptive behavior, knowing that the subject has a high risk of suicide and can hide the suicidal ideation;
- 2. Identification of "anchors" for better self-reporting to reality and the future;
- 3. Establishing a therapeutic intervention / counseling program (1-2 meetings / week, with a duration of about 50 minutes each session) for a period of 6 months;

- 4. Emotional stabilization of the participant;
- 5. Adaptation to alcohol withdrawal (imprisonment does not allow alcohol consumption).

# **III.4.5 Research methodology**

A case study of a Romanian detained person aged 30 years is presented. All data from video analysis is confidential and used for scientific purposes only.

### Method of work - Therapeutic goals

For this case study, therapeutic goals were specifically set to address suicidal ideation (ie decrease in suicidal ideation), postponement of suicide attempts, and the development of a beneficial therapeutic relationship based on mutual trust.

### Choosing the right intervention

The psychological intervention aimed at cognitive restructuring, identifying the subject's potential and focusing on the issue in terms of "here and now". All these objectives have been achieved periodically and gradually during counseling sessions.

### The equipment used

The interview was recorded with a video camera (Sony Handycam HDR-CX 190E, Full HD). The video was analyzed using the biometric platform - iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET - facial expression technology from Emotient, version 5.7.

### Instruments

### 1. Psychological Screening

Questions from the psychological screening about the idea and the history of suicide (*Have you had suicidal attempts in the past?*/ In the present moment do you have any suicide thoughts?) are part of the field of specific psychological assistance, the subdomain - risk of suicide (see annex 5).

# 2. Biometric Platform iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET - Real-time identification of emotions expressed during discussions with the psychologist

The video was analyzed with the iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET - facial expression technology from Emotient, version 5.7. This platform identifies the emotions of the subject (Figure 20, Figure 22, Figure 25), the intensity of emotions, but also the facial micro-expressions, encoded with Action Units (AU) by the software (Figure 21, Fig. 23, Fig. 24).

# 3. Video analysis by frame by frame method - Participant's behavioral analysis (facial macro-expressions, gestures, postural changes)

The behavioral analysis of the subject was based on video recording and concerned behavioral elements in the sphere of nonverbal communication. Body behaviors such as postural changes (Figure 26), head movements, direction of sight, hand gestures, face touch etc. have been carefully analyzed.

### Procedure

The detainee was informed in advance of the activity (initial psychological assessment and video recording of the interview) and was asked for a written consent (see Annex 4) to record the interview. The participant was recorded from shoulder to shoulder, focusing the audio-video camera on the face area. The person was seated, and the audio-video camera was placed approximately 40-50 cm in front of her. The interview lasted about 45 minutes. The recording took place in the psychological cabinet of the Arad Maximum Security Penitentiary.

# **III.4.6 Results**

### Results based on the automatic analysis of emotions

In the case of the analysis carried out with the iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET, a sensitivity threshold at a standard value of -1 was used to identify the evidence of universal emotions and Facial Actions in order to increase this sensitivity and identify as much accurate emotions and Facial Actions expressed by the participants. The evidence of a channel for the expression of a universal emotion or Facial Action represents the chances in the logarithmic scale in the base 10 as an expression to be present. For example, for the expression of the universal emotion of happiness, this standard value -1 of the evidence of universal emotion or Facial Action means that the observed expression is 10 times more likely to be classified by an expert coder as *NON Happiness* than *Happiness* (<u>https://imotions.com/facial-expressions/</u>).

The universal emotion of Sadness (Figure 20) and the Action Unit (AU) of this emotion (Figure 21) were identified in clear moments of the interview, such as questions about future suicide attempts, and when the answer the subject was "... no ... I do not want to commit another suicide attempt ...".

The question asked by the psychologist during the interview was "*Do you want to commit suicide*?" To T: 00: 01: 488. During the addressing of the question and the answering the facial micro-expressions, gestures, postural changes, voice changes, etc. were analyzed.

The total period analyzed with the FACET Biometric Platform is T: 00: 28: 272. At this time two questions are asked: (1) "*Do you want to commit suicide?*" And (2) "*Do you still have suicidal thoughts?*". The analysis focused on the visible behavioral manifestations of the first question - "*Do you want to commit suicide?*"

The analysis period began with the identification of nonverbal behavior (emotions displayed, body language, voice tones) before and after the first question. The period ends when the second question is asked. The total period analyzed for the first question ("*Do you want to commit suicide*?") is T: 00: 10: 256, the results (identification of emotions and specific AUs) obtained using the FACET Biometric Platform are shown in Figure 20.



Figure 20. Representation of the universal emotion Sadness with the FACET Biometric Platform in the answer to the suicide questions

In this case, the verbal response of the subject is analyzed immediately after the participant states that he does not want to commit another suicide attempt. The level of the universal emotion Sadness is set to -1 (sadness threshold). The sensitivity threshold of Sadness is highlighted by FACET in the green color.



**Figure 21**. The Action Units specific for the universal emotion Sadness (AU1 threshold, AU4 threshold, AU15 threshold), identified by the FACET Biometric Platform, at AU evidence level, at -1.0.

At this time frame (00: 07: 956), all three specific indicators for the universal emotion Sadness (AU1, AU4, AU15) were activated. This confirms that the emotion is pure, even if its evidence is not very high over the time interval analyzed, meaning that the observed expression is 10 times more likely to be classified by an expert coder as *NOT Sadness* than *Sadness* (<u>https://imotions.com/facial-expressions/</u>).



**Figure 22.** The level of evidence of universal emotions Fear and Sadness identified with the FACET Biometric Platform. The threshold of sensitivity of emotions is highlighted by the FACET platform with the blue (fear threshold) and green (sadness threshold)

On the displayed time frame (00: 08: 041), the vertical line segment highlights the occurrence of the two universal emotions almost simultaneously, when the subject responds that he does not want to commit another suicide attempt. At this time, the Fear emotion is also identified as an element that complements the behavioral facial aspect. It is noticeable that the two emotions are activated almost simultaneously, the differences being made by the specific active indicators (AUs). In the time interval, the Fear emotion evidence is not very high, being identified at -1.0, according to FACET.



**Figure 23**. The Action Units specific for the universal emotion Fear (AU1 threshold, AU2 threshold, AU4 threshold) identified by the FACET Platform, at AU record level at -1.0.

On the displayed time frame (00: 08: 041), the vertical segment of the line highlights the appearance of the AU at the very end of the verbal behavior - the participant's response was "... no, because I promised not to do it again".



Figure 24. The Action Units specific for the universal emotion Fear (AU5 threshold, AU7 threshold, AU20 threshold, AU26 threshold) that were identified by the FACET Platform at the end of the verbal behavior "... no, because I

promised not to do it again"), but do not exceed the evidence of Facial Action set to -1.0, for the displayed time frame (00: 08: 041). Even if for the universal emotion Fear not all Facial Actions were activated, but only AU1, AU2, AU4, AU5, they confirm that the Fear emotion is present.



**Figure 25.** The evidence of universal emotions: Surprise, Fear, Sadness, identified with the FACET Platform at the end of the verbal behavior (the answer of the subject was: "... no, because I promised not to do it again").

These emotions (Surprise, Fear, Sadness) appear after returning to the initial position in the chair, the postural movement has come to an end, but facial expressions have been identified as surprises, fears and sadness. They appear as a facial emotional mix, telling about the participant that at the internal level she is experiencing emotions in relation to the topic (committing another suicide attempt), but she may try to hide them.

# Results based on behavioral analysis (gestures, posts)

Postural sudden movements were observed when the participant had to answer questions about suicide plans (Fig.26). Also, a sudden shift in the direction of the eyes to the left of the participant was observed, which could indicate an activation of the right hemisphere, which is responsible for emotional responses (Matsumoto, Frank, & Hwang, 2013).



Figure 26. The postural change of the participant when responding to the question of suicide.

The postural movement in the chair is triggered by the question "Do you want to commit suicide?" And starts at T1: 00: 05: 325 and ends at T2: 00: 08: 704. This behavior is followed by the answer "... no, because I promised not to do it again", then it is accompanied by another verbal behavior (the subject clears her throat and adjusts her voice during the postural movement in the chair).



**Figure 27.** Graphical representation of the response time (seconds) for the participant in this case study, to the question that investigates the antecedents, the idea and the future thoughts about suicide, compared to the average response time of the participants with a suicidal ideation / history and the participants without suicidal ideation / without a history of suicide.

# Related results

Correlated data analysis allowed the identification of emotional tension felt in the behavioral plane, discomfort associated with the question, possible deceptive behavior in relation to the answer to the question of future suicide attempts. These results were supported by the emergence of universal emotions Surprise, Fear and Sadness, when the detainee was asked about future suicide attempts, as can be seen in Fig. 20, Fig. 22, Fig. 25, as well as sudden postural changes (Figure 26).

### **III.4.7 Discussions and conclusions**

A particular situation was identified in the response time of the case study participant, who is a detained person with a history of suicide and who attempted suicide two weeks later after the psychological interview. In the case study, the response time to the suicidal ideation is **1,640 seconds**. The duration of the response period does not fall into the values of the category of the participant (people with suicide ideation / history of suicide) (Figure 27), the duration of the response being much longer. From the perspective of deceptive behavior, the literature (Zuckerman, & all, 1981a) addresses two broad dimensions: (1) emotional and (2) cognitive, involving long pauses, repetition of words or phrases, situation that increases response time. For this case study, the duration of this participant's response may fall within the category of deceptive-specific indicators. Compared to other respondents surveyed in Study 3, for this participant, the answer of denial includes a complete expression of the universal emotion Sadness.

The analysis of the negative response to the suicide question revealed the following Facial Actions: AU1, AU4, AU15 (Figure 28), indicating a deviation from the model of the negative pattern identified in Study 3.

AU	Description	Facial muscle	Example image		
Au's 15	Lip Corner Depressor	Depressor anguli oris (a.k.a. Triangularis)	30		

Figure 28. Taken after FACS - Facial Action Coding System (Ekman & Friesen, 1978). One of the facial indicators specific to the universal sadness of emotion.

The changes in posture when the question of suicide was answered may also indicate a discomfort associated with the question.

In terms of cognitive involvement, studies say the blink rate is lower (Bagley & Manelis, 1979), there are more mistakes in the speech, the subjects speak less often, break more often, and wait longer to give an answer (Eisler, 1968). When people are lying, and the context is important, the possibility of cognitive indicators (long breaks, repetition of words, etc.) is high (Vrij, 2012).

The behavioral patterns through which emotion is discharged are either facial (e.g., conversational signals, facial macroexpressions, facial micro-expressions), or at the body level, through postural movements (eg movements of the hands, feet, body direction, etc.).

After six months of regular meetings with the psychologist, during the counseling sessions, the suicidal ideation diminished, and the participant presented a better adaptation to the new environment, but also an optimal level of socialization with the other inmates.

### Strengths of the present study

A positive aspect of this case study is the way to integrate the information resulting from the various tools used here, for example, the multidimensional analysis of the video recordings of the initial psychological assessment. Nonverbal behavioral analysis, the use of the iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET facial expression technology from Emotient, along with the information extracted from psychological screening, can help legal psychologists use behavioral indicators of denial and / or lying or behavioral discomfort in the context of specific questions related to self-aggression or hetero aggression, as preventive anchors for the development of personalized interventions in penitentiaries.

Although this case study does not allow to generalize conclusions about a potential lying pattern in relation to verbal response to questions about suicidal ideation, the multidimensional method used for data analysis (the FACET platform and behavioral observations during the suicidal ideation interview) helped gaining a valuable image (in the sense of identifying emotions and Facial Actions associated with possible deceptive behavior used by the person in question when addressing questions about future suicide plans.

The value of the case presented here resides in the possibility of differentiating the indicators of deceptive behavior associated with answers to specific questions with strong individual valency (such as future suicide attempts). The multidimensional identification of nonverbal indicators accompanying verbal denial (behavioral and biometric indicators) was made for nine other cases of suspected / suicidal persons, but no attempted suicide after imprisonment.

### Limitations

One limit of this study may be the latency period between the participant's response to the initial psychological assessment and the suicidal behavior that happened after approximately two weeks after the initial psychological assessment was completed, meaning that during this time various variables that could have influenced the will of the detainee to try for the third time to commit suicide may have possibly occurred.

It can be assumed that the question of identifying the idea of suicide could be a trigger for suicidal behavior when assessing people who have been diagnosed with major depressive disorder or a major depressive episode. In such situations, when the clinical diagnosis is known, the initial psychological assessment identifies the factors underlying the suicidal desire, the time when the last suicide attempt occurred and the ways in which the person overcame the difficult moments (eg admissions to psychiatric medical units and medical treatment, family support or close relatives, psychotherapy, etc.) to prevent suicide attempts.

### Recommendations

Starting from this study, the methods by which behavioral expressions associated with answers to specific questions about suicide have been identified can be applied in various areas:

- Staff assessment (army, police, gendarmerie, airplane pilots) to identify deceptive behavior targeting suicidal ideation / behavior, taking into account that there are areas of activity where suicide cases have been recorded (Andreas Lubitz "The co-pilot of death" (<u>http://www.digi24.ro/stiri/actualitate/evenimente/</u>). The more so as the commander of the Victor Anastasiu National Aeronautical and Space Medicine Institute notes that the assessment of the airplane pilots are made only at the request of a physician (<u>http://www.hotnews.ro/stiri/</u>);
- Patient assessment in psychiatric hospitals, detainees assessment in prison, knowing that closed environments are a factor that can facilitate suicide. It is recommended that in cases where depressed persons are psychologically evaluated, questions that investigate suicidal ideation or another possible suicide attempt should be addressed with caution only after a very good knowledge of personal and medical history (psychiatric family history, psychiatric diagnosis, admissions to psychiatric medical facilities, etc.).
- Student assessment Identifying nonverbal behaviors specific to negative universal emotions (Sadness) that can predict depressive, suicidal behaviors, (the "Blue Whale" case, this is an online game where tasks are given to the player by a supposed "mentor, and the ultimate task is the suicide of the player. This game comes from Russia and propagates on online social forums and networks and has been associated with the suicide of several

young people in both the former Soviet space and the European one. Romania has reported such cases (<u>http://www.mediafax.ro/social/</u>).

### Future research directions

Although this case study does not allow for conclusions to be generalized about a potential lying pattern for suicidal ideation, it would be useful in the future to continue this type of study with a larger number of subjects and validate this multidimensional analysis method. This global assessment technique could be used in the future as a diagnostic tool to identify latent psychopathological trends, deviations from the established pattern of negation (eg, potential dishonest behavior), and assessing specific needs analyses and interventions to prevent and assess suicide risk.

Acknowledgments: The research (automatic data analysis) was supported by the Research Grant PN-II-PT-PCCA-2013-4-0781 (director: Alina S. Rusu). Automatic data analysis (micro-facial expressions) was performed with the iMotions team in Denmark between 01.10-01.11. 2015, on the basis of a doctoral research grant under the project POSDRU / 159 / 1.5 / S / 155383 "Quality, Excellence, Transnational Mobility in Doctoral Research", offered in July - December 2015.

# **III.5 STUDY 5**

# Identifying the level of detection accuracy for authentic and deceptive / dishonest behavior in relation to the Emotional Intelligence level - comparative study between experts and novices

### **III.5.1 Introduction**

A series of studies indicate that the ability to recognize emotions is related to the effectiveness of nonverbal communication (Capirci & Volterra, 2008). An important factor associated with inter-individual differences in emotional recognition abilities is given by emotional intelligence, which is defined as a list of personality traits that include empathy, motivation, perseverance, cordiality and social skills (Mayer, Salovey, Caruso, 2002).

### Emotional intelligence

Seen from the perspective of applicability, emotional intelligence can provide numerous information in the environments where it is used. The assessment of IE can help in the field of human resources, in the field of organizational development, can also be used to assess the level of emotional functioning (Mayer, Salovey, Caruso, 2002). MSCEIT - Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (Mayer, Salovey, Caruso, 2002) allows the assessment of emotional intelligence from the perspective of the **four branches** model (Perceiving emotions, Facilitating thought, Understanding emotions, Managing emotions).

### Recognition of nonverbal indicators of simulated/deceptive behavior - the degree of detection accuracy

Ekman (1985, 2001) makes the distinction between two important terms, deception and lie, terms that underlie his studies that concerned the behavior of the liar. Thus, deception is defined as an act or phenomenon that misleads someone, while lying is an act by which someone deliberately misleads another person and does so without informing the person that he or she will mislead. According to the multifactorial model of the lie (Zuckerman, DePaulo, & Rosenthal, 1981), the clues to simulated behaviors can be influenced by the presence of three factors: (1) emotional reactions; (2) cognitive effort; (3) behavioral control attempts. They can influence the nonverbal behavior of the mind and may emphasize a different aspect of the simulation so that elements of all three factors are found in the false behavior.

### **III.5.2** Research objectives and hypotheses

### **Objectives**

The first objective is to identify differences in Emotional Intelligence (EI) between two categories of people with different levels of professional expertise in the penitentiary environment.

**The second objective** is to determine the level of accuracy of authentic / deceptive behavior detection based on the analysis of some of the videotaped situations encountered in the two categories of participants (novices and experts) and the possible association between Emotional Intelligence (IE) and the level of detection accuracy.

The third objective is to identify the level of self-perception (low / high ability) regarding the success of the choices made in the case of filmed situations, the self-perceived need for specialized training / training for the recognition / identification of emotions, the need for specialized training in the detection of deceptive / dishonest behavior and comparative analysis between two categories of persons with different levels of professional expertise in the penitentiary environment.

**The fourth objective** is the realization of a case study that consists of the multidimensional analysis of behavior (polygraph assessment and behavioral analysis) of a preventive arrested person in the context of the judicial investigation and initial psychological assessment in the penitentiary at the time of asking some questions regarding the identification of authentic / deceptive behavior,

This case study seeks to identify the deceptive behavior in the polygraph test, but also in the context of the initial psychological assessment, when similar questions are addressed that follow the degree of guilt of the alleged author of the offense. Physiological reactions to the relevant questions in the polygraph testing are compared, with the behavioral reactions to similar questions in the psychological assessment and it is desired to highlight the indicators of deceptive nonverbal behavior.

### Hypotheses

- There are significant differences between the two categories of participants (experts and novices) at the Emotional Intelligence (IE) variable.
- There are significant differences between the two categories of participants (experts and novices) as the level of authentic / deceptive behavior detection accuracy based on the analysis of some videotaped situations.
- There will be an association between Emotional Intelligence (IE) and the level authentic / deceptive behavior detection accuracy

• There are significant differences between the two categories of participants (experts and novices) in the level of self-assessed accuracy in detecting deceptive behavior, the self-perceived need for specialized training for recognition / identification of emotions and the need for specialized training in the deceptive / dishonest behavior detection.

### **III.5.3 Research methodology**

### Design

In case of hypotheses 1 and 2 a quasi-experimental design is used.

In case of hypothesis 1, the independent variable is represented by the category of participants (experts and novices), while the dependent variable is the level of Emotional Intelligence (IE).

In case of hypothesis 2, the independent variable is represented by the category of participants (experts and novices), while the dependent variable is represented by the ability to recognize authentic / deceptive behaviors presented in filmed situations (three truth situations and three lies) - the detection accuracy.

For hypothesis 3, a correlational design is used. In this case, the independent variable is the level of Emotional Intelligence (IE), and the dependent variable is represented by the level of authentic / deceptive behavior detection accuracy.

In case of hypothesis 4, an explorational design is used. The independent variable is represented by the category of participants (experts and novices), while the dependent variables are the self-assessed degree of accuracy in detecting deceptive behavior, the need for specialized training / training for the recognition / identification of emotions and the need for specialized training in detecting deceptive/dishonest behavior.

### Participants

The participants in this study are divided into two categories: (1) **Experienced** agents and prison officers from the Arad Maximum Security Penitentiary (N = 34) aged 25-57 (M = 40.02, AS = 8.51); and (2) **novices**, pupils (future penitentiary agents) at Târgul Ocna School, Arad extension (N = 34), aged 18 to 31 (M = 21.55, AS = 3.43).

Participation in this study was conducted on a voluntary basis, based on the initial agreement of the National Administration of Penitentiaries (Annex 4), mentioning that the ethical norms were respected (Annex 7).

### Instruments

1. Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test (MSCEIT) (validated and adapted for the Romanian population by testcentral.ro)

MSCEIT performs Emotional Intelligence evaluation from the perspective of the four-branches model (Perceiving emotions, Facilitating thought, Understanding emotions, Managing emotions).

MSCEIT (Mayer, Salovey, & Caruso, 2002) comprises a total of 141 items, and about 30-45 minutes are required to complete the test. It can be applied from the age of 17 years. The test can be applied both individually and in groups, pencil-paper or online, and scoring is done online (Mayer, Salovey, & Caruso, 2002, apud Iliescu & Livinti 2011).

The minimum score is 50 and the maximum is 150. In this range, between the minimum and the maximum, MSCEIT scores the scores in 5 classes: (1) *improve* score between 50-70; (2) *consider developing* - scores between 70 and 90; (3) *competent* - score between 90 - 110; (4) *skilled* - score between 110 - 130; (5) *expert* - score between 130-150 (Mayer, Salovey, & Caruso, 2002, apud Iliescu & Livinti 2011).

The test was applied classically (pencil-paper method) and scoring was made online using the platform provided by the testcentral. For each participant, a personalized report was generated containing the results of the MSCEIT test, but also the qualitative interpretation of the results (Annex 8).

2. The questionnaire for identifying the degree of authentic / deceptive behavior detection accuracy based on the analysis of some recorded situations.

The questionnaire (Annex 9) contains demographic data (age, current work experience, time spent with people in custody, the category of people they have been working with), as well as questions related to: (1) self-perception of the skills regarding the identification of nonverbal indicators expressed by people in truth or lies; (2) needs analysis - the need to participate in any specialized training (recognition / identification of emotions); the answer to the two questions uses a 5-step Likert scale, from 1 (total disagreement) to 5 (total agreement); (3) potential nonverbal and verbal indicators identified and described by the respondent in order to support choices made as to truth or lies in the visualization of audio-video recordings with persons in custody.

3. Audio-video recordings of people in custody

For this study, audio-video recordings (fragments) of 3 people from previous studies on seductive behavior investigation (Study 2) and suicidal behavior investigation (Study 4) were used. Each record has two situations, of 3 participants, totaling 6 audio-video recordings of the detained persons:

1. *Recorded person number 1* - Audio-video recording 1 - True situation - Movie duration 22 sec. - Pre-trial detainee for murder, subsequently released; the court considered him innocent; the topic of the discussion - the way of committing the deed / the description of the deed.

- 2. *Recorded person number 1* Audio-video recording 2 True situation Film duration 47 sec. Participant preventively arrested for murder; the topic of the discussion the way of committing the deed / the description of the deed.
- 3. *Recorded person number 2* Recording 3 true situation movie duration 38 seconds participant convicted definitively for murder; committed the third suicide attempt approximately two weeks after the psychological assessment, initially stating that he will not do so; topic of discussion description of the idea of suicide.
- 4. *Recorded person number 2* Recording 4 Lying situation Movie duration 22 sec. participant convicted definitively for murder; the topic of the discussion the denial of the idea of suicide.
- 5. *Recorded person 3* Registration 5 Lying situation Movie duration 13 sec. Participant preventively arrested for qualified murder, subsequently convicted; the court judged him to be guilty; the topic of the discussion denial of the act / way of committing the deed / description of the deed.
- 6. *Recorded person* 3 Recording 6 Lying situation Movie duration 16 sec. Participant preventively arrested for qualified murder; topic of discussion denial of deed / exculpation.

The certainty of the concealed behaviors in the case of the audio-video recordings of the detained persons is given by the fact that:

- Record number 3 and 4: In the case of a person who attempted to commit suicide for the third time, approximately 14 days after the initial psychological assessment these facts might support the idea that at the time of the registration the person in custody could hide the desire to commit suicide (see Study 4);
- Record number 5 and 6: In the case of a pre-trial detainee for murder, this detainee did not pass the polygraph test, lied about his deeds, which contributed to his conviction for 15 years of detention. Another important criterion for selecting this record is the similarity of the questions addressed in the initial psychological assessment, in the pre-test and post-test interviews, as well as in the moments of the polygraph assessment.

# Used equipment

An Epson video projector, a pair of audio speakers and a 3567, i5 Dell Inspiron Laptop have been used to project audiovideo recordings.

### Procedure

For the conduct of this study, the National Administration of Penitentiaries consent (Annex 4) was needed.

*In the case of the novice category*, the emotional intelligence measurement test - MSCEIT (Mayer, Salovey, Caruso, 2002) was applied in the group (8 participants) by the penitentiary psychologist. Questionnaires and audio-video recordings were applied in groups (17 and 18 participants respectively).

In the case of audio-video recordings, the method of application was as follows: (1) the recordings were played in turn, in the order specified above, (2) each record was played twice as follows: (a) for the first play the truth or the lie was chosen; (b) For the second play, the elements of the nonverbal or verbal behavior (communication-specific indicators) that were the basis of the decisions of the first play were listed.

In total, each participant watched the audio-video material 12 times: 3 people recorded X 2 situations (truth / lie and / or truth / lie) X 2 plays / situation (there were specific communication indicators).

The activity took place at the Center for Training and Specialization of Officers - Arad, the participation of the subjects was based on voluntary and informed consent. Data collection took place between January and April 2017.

*For the category of experts*, the Emotional Intelligence Level Test - MSCEIT (Mayer, Salovey, Caruso, 2002) was applied in the group (5-8 participants) by the psychologist in the penitentiary. Questionnaires and audio-video recordings (followed the same steps as for novices) were applied in the group (5-8 participants).

The activity was carried out within the Arad Maximum Security Penitentiary (training room). The selection of the participants was done on a voluntary basis and took into account the age of each participant in the system for joining the two groups. For inclusion in the category of experts, over one year work place experience was taken into account, and the participants who were in the novice category had to have up to three months of experience at the workplace. The testing and subsequent viewing of the audio-video recordings with the detained persons for both groups of participants took place between February and May 2017.

# III.5.4 Results

Hypothesis 1: There are significant differences between the two categories of participants (experts and novices) at the Emotional Intelligence (IE) variable.

In the first phase, the total number of participants in this study was 70, but due to the fact that two participants (one in each category) failed to complete all the answers to the tools used, the number used in the statistical analyzes was of ( N = 68), of which novices (N = 34) and experts (N = 34).

The collected data were entered into the SPSS program (version 19), then descriptive statistics for the groups of novices and experts were performed, with the means and standard deviations for each group being presented in Table 15. **Table 15**: Mean and standard deviation for novices (N = 34) and experts (N = 34) for the age and years in the system variables. Verse in the system and Age

Participants		Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard Deviation
Novices	Years in the system	34	0.30	0.30	.3000	.00000
	Age	34	18.00	31.00	21.5588	3.43944
	Total	34				
Experts	Years in the system	34	1.00	24.00	12.8529	6.98541
	Age	34	25.00	57.00	40.0294	8.51197
	Total	34				

The statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS program, version 19, more specifically the *t* test for independent samples according means and standard deviations for the measured subscales. The significance level was set at p = .05.

Table 16. Means and standard deviations for the total scores on the Emotional Intelligence subscale by group	s (novices
and experts).	

	Participants	Ν	Mean	Standard Deviation
Total score	Novices	34	101.7647	11.01255
	Experts	34	98.9118	13.09723
Perceiving Emotions	Novices	34	104.8529	9.47447
6	Experts	34	97.8824	15.09117
Using Emotions	Novices	34	99.3824	12.24501
6	Experts	34	99.7941	14.83399
Understanding Emotions	Novices	34	98.6471	10.48486
6	Experts	34	99.1176	10.21219
Managing Emotions	Novices	34	105.4118	11.14401
0 0	Experts	34	101.9706	12.41818
Faces	Novices	34	100.8824	13.13050
	Experts	34	98.2647	13.44643
Pictures	Novices	34	104.3824	8.70045
	Experts	34	97.2059	15.07713
Sensations	Novices	34	116.0000	18.24580
	Experts	34	116.2941	20.57437
Facilitation	Novices	34	91.3529	19.20051
	Experts	34	88.7353	9.68694
Blends	Novices	34	93.7059	12.54695
	Experts	34	93.0588	8.97451
Changes	Novices	34	103.0000	11.88072
6	Experts	34	104.6765	14.61780
Emotions Management	Novices	34	106.1471	12.80656
<u>-</u>	Experts	34	102.5882	10.79876
Relationships Management	Novices	34	103.2059	9.67590
r	Experts	34	100.9118	13.28788

As we can see, there were no significant differences in the means between the two categories of participants. Significant means identified in this case are at the *Perceiving Emotions* and *Pictures* subscale (Table 16).

In order to verify whether there are significant differences between the novice group and the experts at the level of Emotional Intelligence, the t test for independent samples was performed. The results of the t test for independent samples are shown in Table 17.

**Table 17.** The t test for means equality for the two categories of participants (novices and experts) at the level of Emotional Intelligence.

	t	Degrees of freedom	Level of significance (2-tailed)	Means difference
Perceiving Emotions	2.281	66	<u>.026</u>	6.97059
Pictures	2.404	66	.019	7.17647
Total score	.972	66	.335	2.85294

As shown in Table 17, between the two categories (novice and experts), statistically significant differences were found in Emotional Intelligence scores, on Perceiving Emotions Scale in the case of novices (N = 34, M = 104.8529, AS = 9.47447) are significantly higher t (66) = 2.281, p bidirectional = .026, than those in the category of experts (N = 34, M = 97.8824, AS = 15.09117), but also on the Pictures subscale, in the case of novices (N=34, M = 104.3824, AS = 8.70045), are significantly higher t (66) = 2.404, p bidirectional = .019, than the experts (N = 34, M = 97.2059, AS = 15.07713).

No other statistically significant differences in Emotional Intelligence were found in the scales: Total Score, t (66) = .972; p bidirectional = .335; Using Emotions, t (66) = -125; p bidirectional = .901; Understanding Emotions, t (66) = -187; p bidirectional = .852; Emotions Management, t (66) = 1.203; p bidirectional = .233; Faces, t (66) = .812; p bidirectional = .420; Sensations, t (66) = -0.062; p bidirectional = .950; Facilitation, t (66) = .710; p bidirectional = .480; Blends, t (66) = .245; p bidirectional = .808; Changes, t (66) = -.519; p bidirectional = .606; Emotions Management, t (66) = 1.239; p bidirectional = .220; Relationships Management, t (66) = .814; p bidirectional = .419.

These results indicate similarities due to the low number of significant differences in the EQ scale, which may indicate that the psychological profile of the participants is not very different.

# *Hypothesis 2: There are significant differences between the two categories of participants (experts and novices) in terms of the level of accuracy in authentic / deceptive behavior detection based on the analysis of some filmed situations.*

In order to calculate the level of accuracy in authentic / deceptive behavior detection based on recorded situations, the records were encoded binary (1 = correct identification of authentic / deceptive behavior, 0 = incorrect identification of authentic / deceptive behavior). The next step was to create a new variable, namely **the accuracy of authentic** / **deceptive behavior detection**. This variable is built based on the cumulative frequencies that target the detection accuracy of the six records (filmed situations). A similar procedure was also used by Mann, Vrij & Bull (2004).

It was aimed for the identification of the authentic/deceptive behavior detection accuracy at the global level, that is, at the level of the six filmed situations with detainees (three truthful situations and three lies) presented to the participants. For every correct identification of the filmed situations a point was given, the minimum score being 1 and the maximum being 6. Afterwards, each situation was analyzed in part. Following the results of this new variable (the accuracy of the authentic / deceptive behavior detection), the analysis of data for the two groups of participants (novices and experts) was carried out (for more statistical information see Annex 10 C). Statistical analysis was carried out using the SPSS program, version 19, more precisely, the frequency analysis of the accuracy in authentic / deceptive behavior detection variable was performed by the Split File method for the two categories of participants (Table 18). Frequency analysis is used to identify the distribution of scores for a certain variable (Howit & Cramer, 2010).

**Table 18**. The frequencies for the correct identification of the recordings for the two categories of participants (novices and experts) at the level of the six situations with persons in custody.

Participants	Correct identifications score	Frequencies (Subjects					
-		nr.)	Percentage	Valid percentage	Cumulated percentage		
Novices	1	1	2.9	2.9	2.9		
	2	4	11.8	11.8	14.7		
	3	14	41.2	41.2	55.9		
	4	11	32.4	32.4	88.2		
	5	3	8.8	8.8	97.1		
	6	1	2.9	2.9	100.0		
	Total	34	100.0	100.0			
Experts	2	4	11.8	11.8	11.8		
	3	10	29.4	29.4	41.2		
	4	13	38.2	38.2	79.4		
	5	6	17.6	17.6	97.1		
	6	1	2.9	2.9	100.0		
	Total	34	100.0	100.0			

Detection accuracy (correct identifications/ recordings number)



Figure 29. The graphical representation of the correct identifications (detection accuracy) of the six recorded situations with detained persons in the category of novices.



Figure 30. Graphical representation of the correct identifications (detection accuracy) of the six recorded situations with detained persons in the category of experts.

As shown in Table 18, the frequencies for the number of participants who correctly identified as many of the filmed situations with detained persons as possible (the lie situation was identified by the participants as a lie, and the truth situation was identified by the participants as a situation of truth) are not very high if they are related to the total number of possible recognitions (six possible correct recognitions).

For the 68 participants, the total number of possible correct recognitions should have been 408. For the two categories of participants, 242 correct admissions were recorded (Table 19).

**Table 19.** Total number of correct identifications for the two categories of participants (novices and experts) at the level of the six recorded situations with detained persons.

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Total corre	ct Mean
				identifications	
Detection Accuracy	68	1	6	242	3.56

The total amount of correct recognitions (242) represents 59.31% of the total amount of 408 possible correct recognitions for both groups of participants.

If you consider the possibility that the correctly identified elections are based on the chance variable, then more than 50% of the total election could be influenced by the chance. In this respect, the binomial test was carried out to identify whether there is meaning in relation to the 50% chance.

**Table 20**. Significance of the binomial test for the level of significance in relation to the 50% chance, in the case of the accuracy of the detection.

Binomial Test						
		Category	Ν	Observed proportion	Specified proportion	Level of significance (2- tailed)
Detection accuracy	Group 1	<= 3	33	.49	.50	.904
	Group 2	> 3	35	.51		
	Total		68	1.00		

The binomial test is not significant, the significance level is greater than 0.05. The proportion observed in the sample for group 1 (correct answers less than 3) is 49% and does not differ significantly (p = .904, n = 68) from the proportion observed in the sample for group 2 (correct answers greater than 3) at a specified proportion of 50%.

The next step in this study was to identify the accuracy of authentic / deceptive behavior detection according to each situation (as described in point 3 - *Audio-Video Instruments*). The statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS program, version 19, more precisely, the analysis of the frequency of the variable accuracy of the detection of authentic / deceptive behavior was performed by the Split File method, for the six situations recorded with detained persons:

- 1. Situation 1 Film1 Truth (A1);
- 2. Situation 2 Film 1 Truth (A2);
- 3. Situation 3 Film 2 Truth (A3);
- 4. Situation 4 Film 2 Lie (M4);
- 5. Situation 5 Film 3 Lie (M5);
- 6. Situation 6 Film 3 Lie (M6).

**Table 21.** Frequencies of correct identifications of recordings for the two categories of participants (novices and experts) depending on the situation with the persons in custody.

Participants		Frequencies	Percentage	Valid	Cumulated
				percentage	percentage
Novices	Incorrect identification	22	64.7	64.7	64.7
	Correct identification	12	35.3	35.3	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	
Experts	Incorrect identification	27	79.4	79.4	79.4
-	Correct identification	7	20.6	20.6	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	



**Figure 31.** Graphic representation of correct / incorrect identifications for Situation 1 - Movie 1 Truth (A1) for the two categories of participants (novices and experts).

Individual 1 - Situation 1 - Film 1 Truth (A1) - Movie duration 22 sec. – the person is preventively arrested for murder, subsequently released; the court considered him innocent; the topic of the discussion - the way of committing the deed /

the description of the deed. In the case Situation 1 - Film1 Truth (A1), success rates for identifying authentic behavior are very small for both categories (novices and experts) (Table 21).

**Table 22.** Frequencies of correct identifications of recordings for the two categories of participants (novices and experts) depending on the situation with the persons in custody.



Participants				Frequencies	Percentage	Valid percentage	Cumulated percentage
Novices	-	Incorrect ide	entification	24	70.6	70.6	70.6
		Correct ide	entification	10	29.4	29.4	100.0
		Total		34	100.0	100.0	
Experts	Incorrect identification	19	55.9	55.9		55.9	
	<b>Correct identification</b>	15	44.1	44.1		100.0	
	Total	34	100.0	100.0			



**Figure 32.** Graphic representation of correct / incorrect identifications for Situation 2 - Film 1 Truth (A2) for the two categories of participants (novices and experts).

Individual 1 - Situation 2 - Film 1 Truth (A2) - Movie duration 47 sec. – the person is preventively arrested for murder, subsequently released; the court considered him innocent; the topic of the discussion - the way of committing the deed / the description of the deed. For Situation 2 - Film 1 Truth (A2), the percentages of success in identifying authentic behavior are very low for the category of novices, and for the category of experts they are much higher than in previous elections (Table 22).

**Table 23.** Frequencies of correct identifications of recordings for the two categories of participants (novices and experts) depending on the situation with the persons in custody.

 Situation 3 - Film 2 Truth (A3)

Participants				Frequencies	Percentage	Valid Cumulated percentagepercentage
Novices	Incorrect identification	17	50.0	50.0	50.0	
	Correct identification	17	50.0	50.0	100.0	
	Total	34	100.0	100.0		
Experts	Incorrect identification	12	35.3	35.3	35.3	
	Correct identification	22	64.7	64.7	100.0	
	Total	34	100.0	100.0		





Individual 2 - Situation 3 - Film 2 Truth (A3) - Movie duration 38 sec. – the person is definitively convicted of murder; committed the third attempt of suicide after the psychological assessment, initially stating that she will not do so; topic of discussion - description of suicidal antecedents. In the case of Situation 3 - Film 2 Truth (A3), the percentages of success in identifying authentic behavior are much higher in both categories compared to previous elections (Table 23).

**Table 24.** Frequencies of correct identifications of recordings for the two categories of participants (novices and experts) depending on the situation with the persons in custody.

Situation 4 - I	Film 2 Lie (M4)				
Participants				Valid	Cumulated
		Frequencies	Percentage	percentage	percentage
Novices	Incorrect identification	15	44.1	44.1	44.1
	Correct identification	19	55.9	55.9	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	
Experts	Incorrect identification	12	35.3	35.3	35.3
	Correct identification	22	64.7	64.7	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	



**Figure 34.** Graphic representation of correct / incorrect identifications for Situation 4 - Film 2 Lie (M4) for the two categories of participants (novices and experts).

Individual 2 - Situation 4 - Film 2 Lie (M4) - Movie duration 22 sec. - the person is definitively convicted of murder; committed the third attempt of suicide after the psychological assessment, initially stating that she will not do so; topic of discussion the denial of the idea of suicide.. For Situation 4 - Film 2 Lie (M4), the percentages of success in identifying disguised behavior are much higher in both categories than previous elections (Table 24). Let us mention that this is the first situation in which the deceptive behavior appears.

**Table 25.** Frequencies of correct identifications of recordings for the two categories of participants (novices and experts) depending on the situation with the persons in custody.

Participants		Frequencies	Percentage	Valid percentage	Cumulated percentage
Novices	Incorrect identification	2	5.9	5.9	5.9
	Correct identification	32	94.1	94.1	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	
Experts	Incorrect identification	2	5.9	5.9	5.9
	<b>Correct identification</b>	32	94.1	94.1	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	





**Figure 35.** Graphic representation of correct / incorrect identifications for Situation 5 - Film 3 Lie (M5); for the two categories of participants (novices and experts).

Individual 3 - Situation 5 - Film 3 Lie (M5) - Movie duration 13 sec. – the person is preventively arrested for murder; later on further convicted; the court judged him to be guilty; the topic of the discussion - denial of the act / way of committing the deed / description of the deed. For Situation 5 - Film 3 Lie (M5), the percentages of success in identifying deceptive behavior are significantly higher. Only two cases in each category failed to correctly identify the concealed behavior (Table 25).

**Table 26.** Frequencies of correct identifications of recordings for the two categories of participants (novices and experts) depending on the situation with the persons in custody.

Participants		Frequencies	Percentage	Valid percentage	Cumulated percentage
Novices	Incorrect identification	9	26.5	26.5	26.5
	<b>Correct identification</b>	25	73.5	73.5	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	
Experts	Incorrect identification	7	20.6	20.6	20.6
	<b>Correct identification</b>	27	79.4	79.4	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	



**Figure 36.** Graphic representation of correct / incorrect identifications for Situation 6 - Film 3 Lie (M6) for the two categories of participants (novices and experts).

Individual 3 - Situation 6 - Film 3 Lie (M6) - movie duration 16 sec. - the person is preventively arrested for murder; later on further convicted; the court judged him to be guilty; the topic of the discussion - denial of the act /exculpation. In the case of Situation 6 - Film 3 Lie (M6), the percentages of success with regard to the identification of deceptive behavior (Table 26) are lower than in Situation 5 (Table 25) and higher than in Situation 4 (Table 24). It is highlighted that election scores aimed at identifying deceptive behavior are higher compared to choices concerning authentic behavior (Table 21, Table 22, Table 23).

The next step in this study was the t test for independent samples to identify possible differences between the mean of the two groups (novices and experts) at the level of authentic / deceptive behavior detection accuracy based on the analysis of some filmed situations.

The results obtained are not statistically significant t (66) = -1.201, p bidirectional = .234 NS (for more statistical details see Annex 10 N, O).

Hypothesis 3: We anticipate an association between emotional intelligence (IE) and the level of authentic / deceptive behavior detection accuracy.

We also calculated possible correlations at the level of existing variables (Emotional Intelligence and Detection Accuracy), but no statistically significant correlations were reported in this case (r = -.023, n = 68, p > 0.01) (Annex 10 P).

Taking into account that no significant correlations have been identified to explain the possible relationships between the measured variables, the Population Pyramid function in the SPSS program - version 19 was used to better elucidate the possible effects of the Emotional Intelligence scores obtained by the two categories, in relation to the accuracy, and the effects of the age in relation to the accuracy.



**Figure 37**. Distribution and Frequency of Participants Based on Total scores on the Emotion Intelligence Tests (Experts N = 34, M = 98.9118; Novices N = 34, M = 101.7647) vs. Number of Identifications of Authentic /Deceptive Behavior (accuracy of detection) (experts - M = 3.71, novices - M = 3.41). The red axis at 100 is the Competent score range in the MSCEIT Emotional Intelligence Test.



**Figure 38**. Distribution and frequency of participants by age level (experts - N = 34, M = 40.0294, novices-N = 34, M = 21.5588) versus Number of Identifications of Authentic /Deceptive Behavior (accuracy of detection) (experts - M = 3.71, novices - M = 3.41).

Hypothesis 4: There are significant differences between the two categories of participants (experts and novices) in the level of self-assessment of the degree of accuracy in detecting deceptive behavior, self-perceived need for specialized training for recognition / identification of emotions and the need for specialized training in detecting deceptive/ dishonest behavior.

In the case of the self-assessment of the degree of accuracy in detecting the deceptive behavior, *only recordings with deceptive (dishonest) behavior* (ie recordings 4, 5 and 6) were targeted.

Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS program, version 19, more specifically the t test for independent samples taking into account these variables (for more statistical details see Annex 10 Q, R).

Table 27 presents the means and standard deviations for the measured variables. The significance level was set at p = .05. **Table 27**. Means and standard deviations for total scores *in the self-assessment of the degree of accuracy in the detection of deceptive behavior, the need for specialized training for the recognition / identification of emotions and specialized training for detecting deceptive / dishonest behavior, depending on the groups (novices and experts).* 

	Participants	N	Mean	Standard deviation
Deceptive behavior identification	Novices	34	3.8824	.68599
	Experts	34	4.0000	.65134
Emotional recognition training	Novices	34	4.0000	.81650
	Experts	34	3.4706	1.07971
Deceptive behavior detection training	Novices	34	3.8824	.84440
	Experts	34	3.5294	1.23669

Between the two categories of participants (novices and experts) statistically significant differences were found only in the scores for the dimension - *emotional recognition training*, in the case of novices (N = 34, M = 4.0000, AS = .81650), they are significantly higher t (66) = 2.280, p bidirectional = .026, than those in the expert category (N = 34, M = 3.4706, AS = 1.07971).

For a clearer overview, using the SPSS program, version 19, the frequency analysis of the above mentioned variables was also performed using the Split File method for the two categories of participants. Frequency analysis is used to identify the distribution of scores for a certain variable (Howit & Cramer, 2010).

**Table 28**. Frequencies for self-assessment of accuracy in detecting deceptive behavior in video recordings (Situations 4, 5 and 6) for the two categories of participants (novices and experts).

Self-assessment of accuracy in detecting deceptive behavior

Participants				Valid	
-		Frequencies	Percentage	percentage	Cumulated percentage
Novices	disagreement	1	2.9	2.9	2.9
	indifference	7	20.6	20.6	23.5
	agreement	21	61.8	61.8	85.3
	total agreement	5	14.7	14.7	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	
Experts	disagreement	1	2.9	2.9	2.9
-	indifference	4	11.8	11.8	14.7
	agreement	23	67.6	67.6	82.4
	total agreement	6	17.6	17.6	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	



**Figure 39**. Graphic representation of the self-evaluated accuracy degree in detecting the concealed behavior in video recordings (Situations 4, 5 and 6) for the two groups of participants.

**Table 29.** Frequencies for the need for specialized training for recognizing / identifying emotions for the two categories of participants (novices and experts).

Emotional recognition training

			_	Valid	-
Participants		Frequencies	Percentage	percentage	Cumulated percentage
Novices	disagreement	2	5.9	5.9	5.9
	indifference	5	14.7	14.7	20.6
	agreement	18	52.9	52.9	73.5
	total agreement	9	26.5	26.5	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	
Experts	disagreement	2	5.9	5.9	5.9
	indifference	5	14.7	14.7	20.6
	agreement	6	17.6	17.6	38.2
	total agreement	17	50.0	50.0	88.2
	Total	4	11.8	11.8	100.0
	disagreement	34	100.0	100.0	



Figure

**40.** Graphical representation of values for the expressed need for participation in the training of emotion recognition for the two groups of participants.

**Table 30**. Frequencies for the expressed need by for specialized training in detecting deceptive / dishonest behavior in the two categories of participants (novice and experts).

		- <del></del>		Valid	
Participants		Frequencies	Percentage	percentage	Cumulated percentage
Novices	disagreement	2	5.9	5.9	5.9
	indifference	8	23.5	23.5	29.4
	agreement	16	47.1	47.1	76.5
	total agreement	8	23.5	23.5	100.0
	Total	34	100.0	100.0	
Experts	disagreement	4	11.8	11.8	11.8
	indifference	3	8.8	8.8	20.6
	agreement	4	11.8	11.8	32.4
	total agreement	17	50.0	50.0	82.4
	Total	6	17.6	17.6	100.0
	disagreement	34	100.0	100.0	

Deceptive behavior detection training



**Figure 41.** Graphical representation of values for the expressed need for specialized training in detecting deceptive / dishonest behavior for the two groups of participants.

### **III.5.5 Discussions and conclusions**

The hypotheses of this study were partially confirmed. In this regard, the first hypothesis of this study proposed to identify the differences between the two groups of participants (novices and experts) at the level of Emotional Intelligence. Significant statistical differences were noted at the Perceiving emotions and Pictures scales, in the case of novices, they are significantly higher than those in the category of experts

The second hypothesis of the study was not confirmed. It was focused on highlighting the differences between participants (novices and experts) at the level of authentic / deceptive behavior detection accuracy based on the analysis of some filmed situations. The number of people who have managed to make the right choices is rather low. If these results are related to the total number of possible correct identifications (regardless of the situation: correctly identifies the truth, correctly identifies the lie) and considering the possibility that the correctly identified elections are based on the variable chance, then more than 50% total choices may be influenced by chance. The binomial test is not statistically significant, the significance level being greater than 0.05. The specialized literature reminds that accuracy in detecting deceptive behavior was very rarely more than 60%, and in some groups much lower values were recorded (Zuckerman,

DePaulo, & Rosenthal, 1981). In the present study, the total amount of correct recognitions represents 59.31% of the total amount of 408 possible correct recognitions for both groups of participants.

From the perspective of a more detailed analysis of the authentic / deceptive behaviors identification accuracy, it can be observed that for the first three situations where identification of authentic behavior is concerned, the two groups of participants (novices and experts) score very poor results. An important element to which Ekman refers (2009) is the error in detecting the lie.

The specialized literature classifies the errors in detecting the lie in two categories (Ekman, 2009): (1) *The Brokaw hazard* - which refers to the inability to take into account individual differences (the possibility of wrong judging others) and (2) *The Othello error* - defined as being incapable of identifying those who say the truth, but who are suspected of lying. In the present case, it seems that the two errors (Brokaw Hazard and Othello Error) greatly influence the decisions of the participants in the first three situations, the truths. For the following three situations, the lie, the results for these two categories of participants (novice and experts), compared to the first three truth situations, are very different, meaning the participants record significantly higher values in the frequencies (Table 24, 25, 26).

Vrij (2012) recalls that both lying and truth-telling people can express emotion, mental effort, or behavioral control. These indicators may be visible when someone conceals the truth (lies 4, 5 and 6) or when he is afraid he will not be believed (truths 1, 2 and 3).

In order to provide a clearer picture of this study, it was highlighted the distribution of Emotional Intelligence scores and the age level, both in relation to the degree of accuracy.

Even if the mean values in the total score for the two categories (novices and experts) in the Emotional Intelligence test fall into the Competent category, it seems that this variable does not influence the results in this study. The same applies to the age variable. A possible variable that could have influenced the results when identifying deceptive behavior is that the detainee in situations 5 and 6 is of Roma origin.

In case of hypothesis three, this was partially confirmed and statistically significant differences were only found in scores regarding the *emotion recognition training* dimension, in the case of novices it is significantly higher than those in the category of experts. More than half of the participants (novice and experts) in this study agree / totally agree that they *can easily identify the dishonest behavior* of detainees, with a percentage of success for lies standing between 50% and 94%. As in the previous case, participants (novice and experts) who feel they need training for the recognition of emotions represent more than 50%, a percentage that can be perceived as a conscious need for the proper performance of penitentiary activity in the workplace with the detainees. With regard to the need for *training to detect deceptive behavior*, the percentage is more than 50% for the two groups of participants (novice and experts).

In conclusion, it can be said that the needs for continuing training in the acquisition of new skills and abilities are quite large for both categories of participants in this study. In the future, specialized trainings with this category (penitentiary agents) can be carried out on topics such as: identifying authentic / concealed behaviors, emotion recognition, emotion management, etc.

Firstly, this study investigates the differences between the two categories of participants (novices and experts) across several variables: Emotional Intelligence, the degree of accuracy in identifying authentic / deceptive behaviors, self-perception of the degree of accuracy in identifying deceptive behaviors, as well as the continuous training needs for the various abilities, skills, necessary for the penitentiary staff to work with the detainees. The fact that no very large differences between the two categories were found in the Emotional Intelligence "Total Score" variable can be perceived as an issue that refers to the abilities held (the values of the total scores in the case of novices) as well as abilities possibly developed during the professional activity (the values of the total scores for the experts). These aspects can be perceived as a positive element that certifies the professional quality of prison officers. It should be emphasized that the results of the two categories (novices and experts) on the *Perceiving emotions* and *Pictures scales*, even if they are statistically significant (Table 3), these results are framed according to the evaluation report in the Competent category, i.e. the participants are aware of the emotions of others and theirs, can communicate, identify and transmit emotions, associate emotions with the environment and have a good analytical capacity. These issues have been identified by some authors (Rice, 1999, apud Iliescu & Livinti 2011).

The prison environment is a special one, and the way in which penitentiary agents manage to cope with day-to-day challenges is also due to personal abilities. The way of interaction between prison officers and detained persons can also be found in Smith's (1982) theory of evolutionary strategies of competition, if the climate is analyzed and the fact that, almost all the time, interpersonal skills, recognition of emotions, facial expressions, emotional intelligence, analysis and synthesis capability, and time-based projective skills are used by both categories for adaptive and survival in extreme cases.

Later on, the results were analyzed, focusing on the ability to identify authentic / concealed behaviors. The results obtained by the two groups of participants in identifying obscured behaviors reveal that they have a higher level of recognition compared to the results obtained with authentic behaviors. This case may also be due to other variables that could have influenced the participants' choices, variables that were not considered in this case.

# Strengths of the present study

An important element of this study is the professional quality of the participants, who are employees of the Arad Penitentiary, as well as future penitentiary agents. Another original point is that this study is a field study and highlights important aspects of the interaction between hired staff and individuals - elements of nonverbal communication (indicators of authentic / deceptive behavior). Another advantage of this study is provided by video footage (in the case of preventive arrested persons) that could be done in high-stakes situations in relation to possible release (Situation 1 and 2) or possible conviction (Situation 5 and 6). Another advantage is that interviews take place in the prison environment; access to this category of participants is not an easy one, they are tested in their natural environment and can be a starting point for future studies.

### Limitations

A first limit can be reported to the experts test condition - an issue that could have influenced the low results of the experts compared to the novices may be that the experts were tested before entering the service (between 6.30 and 7.30 AM) or at the end of the program hours (after 12 hours of work between 19:30 and 20:30), meaning the degree of concentration to resolve the Emotional Intelligence test may be lower. Another possibility regarding the low results of the experts compared to the novice results could be the fact that this category (the experts), along their professional activity, they could have adapted to the penitentiary environment, and the existing coping mechanisms msy provide other information that could replace these abilities of Emotional Intelligence.

An aspect that may fall within the limits of research may be that groups of participants are heterogeneous, regarding significant differences in experience and age, participants are periodically tested from a psychological point of view. The profile required for this kind of activity could have favored scores from the Emotional Intelligence test as well as the results for identifying the degree of accuracy of recognizing authentic / deceptive behavior based on the analysis of some recorded situations.

Another limit may be that the scores for identifying the concealed behavior could be influenced by social prejudices (the individual in situation 5 and 6 is of Roma ethnicity, the penitentiary agencies did not know the quality of the recorded ones - two persons were arrested preventively and hence, all persons in these records are detained, so all may lie), by the fact that there could have existed features from the sphere of paranoid personality (suspicion, distrust and interpretation), which may be more serious along with the age in the penitentiary system. In the future, it would be useful to use a questionnaire that measures these traits of paranoid personality (suspicion, distrust and interpretation) which could be related to the degree of accuracy in detecting authentic / deceptive behavior based on the analysis of some filmed situations.

The small number of participants for the two categories may be another limit for this study, with a larger number of participants needed in the future. For this study, sampling of convenience was used, involving all participants at our disposal.

The records of the six situations (3 truths and 3 lies) were not validated on the Romanian population, this study being of exploratory value.

### Recommendations/Applicability

Nonstandard training programs can be developed to improve emotional skills of perceiving, using, recognizing, understanding and managing emotions, programs that can be applied to different professional categories and that can be personalized according to identified needs or requirements.

The ability to identify authentic / deceptive behavior nonverbal indicators can be used in various contexts:

- Political environment can be used as a source of nonverbal behavior information in negotiations where a good level of knowledge, control and decoding of nonverbal elements is needed;
- Marketing and sales techniques of persuasion can be based on elements of nonverbal behavior that require good knowledge for success in these areas;
- Career environment it is necessary to know and correctly identify nonverbal behaviors in the high-risk situations (negotiation, hostage taking, riots, suicide threats, etc.) in order to adopt the best ways to intervene;
- In polygraph assessments, behavioral analyzes (suspects) identifying and decrypting nonverbal messages in the psychological assessments made by the polygraph expert and by the behavioral analyst in order to outline a realistic, objective and detailed psychological profile.

### Future research directions

In the future, we propose an analysis of the nonverbal indicators that underpin the decisions regarding the identification of authentic or deceptive behaviors.

Data collected between January and May 2017 in Study 5 highlight about 1,000-1300 indicators of nonverbal behavior (facial expressions and micro-expressions, elements of body language, postural changes, verbal channel specific elements) expressed by 68 of participants after viewing the 6 audio-video recordings. Data is currently being collected

and under review. These indicators of nonverbal behavior that have been collected can provide a higher level of understanding of how to decide whether to identify authentic or concealed behaviors.

Another variable that should be taken into account in the future is "*confidence in decisions made*", a variable that should be measured by applying a Likert scale questionnaire as the literature reminds that this variable can influence decisions with regard to the identification of deceptive behavior (DePaulo et al., 1997; Mann, Vrij, & Bull, 2004).

It would be useful to replicate research with a larger number of subjects including another category of participants (students or civilians).

# -CASE STUDY-

# The multidimensional analysis of the behavior of a preventively arrested person in the context of the judicial investigation (polygraph testing) and initial psychological assessment in the penitentiary at the time of addressing questions aimed at identifying authentic / deceptive behavior

### Introduction

From the physiological point of view, the polygraph method concerns changes in the abdominal and thoracic breathing at the cardiovascular level (heart rate and pulse) and at the electrodermal parameter/ galvanic skin reaction (Bus, 2000, Vrij, 2012). Vrij (2012) states that the phrase "lie detector" is attributed to the polygraph. This name is wrong because the polygraph does not detect the lie, but the physiological activity (Vrij, 2012).

This case study seeks to identify the deceptive behavior in the polygraph test, but also in the context of the initial psychological assessment, when similar questions are addressed that follow the guilt of the alleged author of the offense. Physiological reactions to the relevant questions in the polygraph testing are compared with behavioral responses to similar questions in the psychological evaluation and it is desired to highlight the indicators of deceptive nonverbal behavior.

#### **Objectives**

The objective of this case study is to identify behaviors that are concealed in highly emotionally charged situations in the context of initial psychological assessment and in the context of polygraph testing in the case of a preventively arrested person.

#### Hypotheses

Emotional trigger questions will activate / will be associated with intense emotions expressed at the facial level through facial micro-expressions but also with physiological responses (changes in the airways, changes in the electrodermal pathway, changes in cardiovascular pathways) evaluated using the polygraph system.

### Methodology

A case study of a preventively arrested person in Romania, a 32-year-old female adult, is presented. The video recording of the semi-structured interviews was based on the informed consent of the participant, as well as on the official approval of the institution's leadership (Arad Maximum Security Penitentiary, Romania).

### Participants

The participant in this study is 32 years old (when she is placed in prison in 2013), she is a woman, preventively arrested for murder, and she is in trial.

#### Working method

The semi-structured interview was conducted by one of the penitentiary psychologists (PhD student EI). The prepolygraph testing and post-polygraph testing interview, as well as the polygraph assessment, were conducted by the forensic expert authorized to detect simulated behavior (G.A) within the IPJ-Arad.

### The equipment used

Recording was done with a Sony HDR-CX 190 camcorder, based on informed consent.

#### Instruments

### The Psychological Screening

It covers the following dimensions: (1) identification data; (2) general psychological support (family of origin, quality of family environment, social support network, educational level); (3) specific psychological support (suicide risk, aggressiveness management, substance abuse, psychic disorders, sexual impulses, victimization / marginalization, additional information).

# The Pre-Polygraph Test Interview

Psychological reactivity is evaluated in the pre-test interview during the polygraph examination, with the possibility of inventorying the verbal and nonverbal reactions of the subject by using an observation grid or audio-video recording (with the prior consent of the participant).

# The Facial Action Coding System (FACS)

The facial reactions of the person in custody were measured with the Facial Action Coding System (FACS), a standardized method of measuring and describing facial expressions. Ekman and Friesen developed for the first time FACS in 1978 by tracking and measuring facial muscle contractions of each facial muscle (individually and in combination with other muscles).

# The polygraph test

The verbal stimulus in the forensic examination using the polygraph technique activates the footprint of the memory (Bus, 200; Vrij, 2012). The physiological reactivity is emphasized exclusively in the examination under the control of the polygraph and it provides any specific notes for simulated behavior in physiological routes (chest and abdominal neuromuscular innervation, bioelectric G.S.R., blood pressure) as follows: changes in the respiratory tract; changes in the electrodermal route; changes in cardiovascular pathways (Vrij, 2012).

### Procedure

The procedure is similar to study I and study IV. The participant was informed in advance about the activity (the semistructured interview and video recording of the interview in the penitentiary), and she was asked for the written agreement to record the interview (see Annex 4). The participant was recorded from shoulder to shoulder, focusing the audio-video camera on the face area. The attendant sat in the chair and the audio-video camera was placed approximately 40-50 cm in front of her. The interview lasted about 40 minutes. A frame-by-frame analysis of the interview was performed to extract behavioral data (Facial Actions, Emblems, and Conversational / Conventional Signs). The pre- and post-test interview, as well as the polygraph testing, were conducted in accordance with the IPJ-Arad internal procedures.

<u>Mention</u>: It is worth noting that some questions that related to the description of the deed (the central theme that had the purpose of emotional stimulation of the participant) were addressed both in the penitentiary interview (psychological assessment in the penitentiary) and in the polygraphic evaluation (the pre-polygraph testing and relevant questions during polygraph examination).

For the emotional stimulation of the participant, questions were asked (Fig.42) which had the role of triggering reactions at physiological level (Fig.43, Fig.44) (such as polygraph testing) or nonverbal behavioral reactions (Table 34) (such as psychological assessment in penitentiary). In the polygraph testing, questions (Table 31) are determined by the forensic expert authorized to detect simulated behavior, following discussions with the case prosecutor.

-	n	Intrebarea
Nr.	Rasp.	
crt.	1117	Esti acum in 2 mino aro? lo utusterili
1.	NU	Eisti acum m a more lo little ferre
12	XU	Bisti acum in 2 nuivario.
		acetui test?
2	NU	Pano and arte ai facut modate Tou :
-J	NU	partice and 2
A	· · m	neuvui cqul?
14/	NUU	AL 25.01 AD15, OF ONE ON TO FLOOD THE
		mano pe que n reand fellion for
J	KIU.	hora ste dumanica
(T)	AL AD	In a3.02. 2013 an Rost is menu fel cu
16	1000	Mas. 02. 2013 an monto na 10 Jelito
11,14.	8	cutilul in grua rou gatul ferrira, felito
2	NU	to mighter modate to to to anim
		no grenelo de-a to?
P.	tid	the gurace da e no:
4.	NU	tru de meseire contoreasa?
	-	
-23		
1		

Figure 42. Questions addressed during the polygraph assessment in the case of a preventively arrested person.

**Table 31.** Questions addressed during the polygraph testing in the case of a preventively arrested person.

Nr.	Question addressed by the forensic expert	The subject's answer
Crt.		-
1	Are you in Timişoara now?	NO
2	Are you planning on lying in this test's questions?	NO
3	Have you ever harmed a child by this year?	NO
4	On February 23, 2013, did e you suffocate your little girl Denisa (put your hand on her mouth and nose)?	NO
5	Is today Sunday?	NO
6	On February 23, 2013 did you hit Denisa, your little girl, in any way, with the knife in her mouth or throat?	NO
7	Have you ever lied to hide a mistake of yours?	NO
8	Are you a seamstress?	NO

In the case of psychological assessment in the penitentiary, the questions asked by the psychologist have the role of knowing the way of committing the act and of identifying the degree of assumed responsibility for the committed offense.

The fact that similar questions were used in the two evaluation techniques may be an advantage in objectively drawing a conclusion regarding the identification of deceptive behavior.

# Results

Results obtained in the polygraph technique

For the polygraph testing a set of 10 questions was administered (Table 31). After the polygraph testing of the participant, the specific diagrams were recorded, which recorded the physiological reactions during the interview (Fig.43, Fig.44).



**Figure 43**. Highlighting the reaction to the verbal stimulus in the physiological plane: Respiratory (thoracic and abdominal - the first two diagrams in blue); Electrodermal (galvanic skin reaction - third black color chart); Cardiovascular (brachial and distal pulse - the last two diagrams in red).



**Figure 44.** Highlighting the reaction to the verbal stimulus in the physiological plane: Respiratory (thoracic and abdominal - the first two diagrams in blue); Electrodermal (galvanic skin reaction - third black color chart); Cardiovascular (brachial and distal pulse - the last two charts in black).

The relevant questions (Table 32, 33) are those that directly target the offense (eg "*Did you steal the wallet?*", Response of the tested person - "NO.") For the interpretation of the diagrams, a numerical scoring was used. Interpretations are given below for the relevant questions (Table 32).

# Table 32. RELEVANCE 1 (Question No.4)

On February 23, 2013, did e you suffocate your little girl Denisa (put your hand on her mouth and nose)?

Test /diagram	<b>Respiratory route</b>	Electrodermal route	Cardiovascular route
Test 1	Controlled route ☑	Singular amplitude 5 monoflexion ☑☑ Duration of 2 quadrants ☑	Changes to the width of the route; $\square \square$ Changes in the baseline
Test 2	Changes in the baseline Stages routes ☑☑	6 quadrants biflexion (in relation to double biflexion on control) ☑☑	Changes in rhythm and width with return to baseline ☑
Test 3	Double precipitated response with major discomfort Changing the ratio between duration of inspiration and expiration 🗹 🗹	5 biflexion (in relation to monoflexion of 4 on control) ☑	Steep change with reversing of the route Changing the width of the route $\square$

### Table 33. RELEVANCE 2 (Question No.6)

On February 23, 2013 did	vou hit Denisa	your little girl in any w	ay with the knife	in her mouth or throat?
On February 25, 2015 au	you nii Denisa,	, your mme gin, many w	иу, ттп те ктуе,	in her mount of infour.

Test /diagram	Respiratory route	Electrodermal route	Cardiovascular route
Test 1	Routes with with minimal reactivity	Biflexion, amplitude of 7 in relation to the monoflexion of 4 on the control $\square \square$	Strong changes, reactivity type M ☑
Test 2	Changing the base level on both routes; Stepping on the thoracic route; Changing the inspiration / expiration ratio 🗹 🗹	Monoflexion (biflexion on control)	Changing the baseline, and route width, high arousal degree ☑;☑
Test 3	Changing the base level on both routes; Changing the ratio between duration of inspiration and expiration 🗹 🗹	4 monoflexion on the control)	Changing the baseline of the route width abruptly ☑☑

### Results obtained in the behavioral assessment

Name: K. V .; age: 32 years old;

Acts: Qualified homicide;

The initial mood displayed - fearful, submissive. The assessment of the first contact with the detainee was based on criteria for expressive / non-expressive persons (Andelin & Rusu, 2015)

Nr. Crt.	Emotion type pure/ mixt	Time of appearance	Action Units	Emotional Trigger	Mood	Observations/ Psychological significance
1	Anger	ʻ47	4+7	Have you had any law problems?	Irritability	Positive presentation of one's self List of situations that she did NOT encounter, exculpation
2	Sadness	2'35	4+17+26	"How hard it is without the children"	Bitterness, gloom, pain	Longing for the children, fear of being in detention
3	Disgust/Contempt	5'05	9+10+12	How many educational grades do you gave?	Contemptuous	
4	Happiness	5'20	10+11+12+14	"What is your name?	Euphoria	Social approach, openess to the evaluator, looking for an ally.
5a	Surprise Astonishment, Misunderstanding the Question	7,33	2+25	Why haven't you thought about suicide?		
5b	Surprise	7,34-7,36	2+5+51+ 10	Why haven't you thought about suicide?		does not understand the question, but responds as if I accuse her of committing the crime.
6	Anger	9'36		Who sent you to the hospital to take your analysis?		There is no emotional congruence with the micro-expression displayed.
7a	Anger/shame (head down)	12'20	4+54	How did you get arrested?	Irritability, shame	She is disturbed by the question, updates events, ashamed of what happened.
7b	Anger	12,56	4+7+10+ 62			
8a	Contempt	13'04	12	How did he get to you/? Did you called him that way?		A defiant attitude towards the person who interrogated her in police custody - the prosecutor.
8b	Anger. Surprise	13'05	2+7+18	"he thinks I did that stuff"	Aggressiveness Anger Hostility	Hostility to the prosecutor that dares to accuse her, who loves children "like the apple of her eyes".
9	Shame/Anger	14'00	4+54	Who was with you at the hospital?		Repeats the question, long latency, memories are reactivated, prepares the answer, shame.
10	Contempt/Surprise	14'30	2+10+12+25	Who called the ambulance?		Exculpation "I did not do that stuff"
11	Surprise/Anger Mixed emotion	Trigger time 15'38, Maintained time 15'42	2+51+62+16+25	Where was the little knife? (Commune theme questi	-	Maintaining the facial emotion more than is normal, <b>possibly a lie</b> (Ekman, 2009).
12	Contempt	15'43	2+43+10+12+25	"I did not see that she was cut with a knife"		Attitude of superiority, disgust, arrogance, as if the preventively arrested person held the truth.
13	Sadness	15'51 16'10	1+7+17+12+14	"I know it's bad without her, if I knew"		sadness, shame, regret - blockage, updating events, agony, crying loudly.
	Surprise/	TD		What do you think hap do you think hurt her?	pened there? Who	Maintaining the facial emotion more than is normal, <b>possibly a lie</b>

14	Anger – Mixed emotion	23'05, TM 23'08	2+51+ 62+10+ 15+17	(Commune theme question 4/ 6 -polygraph)		(Ekman, 2009).
15	Anger, Disgust	24'22	4+10+12	"The children did not see anything happening there?"		She becomes aggressive, "the children do not know anything, they fear" all-knowing, the justification of the events "Gypsies are doing nice in the house, maybe it was on the dunes "
16	Sadness	26,30	1+7+15+17+43	After whom are you crying now?	Bitterness, pain, agony	Regret about child's loss, authentic behavior
17	Surprise/Anger	5,59- part 2 of the interview (P2)	2+4+43+ 10+26	"I did nothing wrong"		Facial specific indicators for surprise / anger: raised and close eyebrows (Au4), wrinkles at the forehead. What is interesting is the fact that the eyes are not open. This action does not support the affirmations of the subject, as if she did not want to see what happened - <b>possibly a lie</b> (Ekman, 2009).
18a	Surprise	<u>8.00-P2</u>	2+52+61+14+23	Who elseelse who?		Maintaining the micro-expression longer than normal. In this situation it denotes a simulated behavior - <b>possibly a lie</b> (Ekman, 2009).You can already talk about a <b>possible behavioral pattern in</b> <b>this situation</b> that can be compared with the situation in the last interview - 18 b.
18b	Bringing to knowledge the judge's verdict					This situation of         "I do not know"         has a totally different facial         dynamics -         this time is authentic.         The reaction time is         considerably lower, the intensity         of micro-expression is much         lower (Ekman, 2009).
19	Astonishment	8,20		But who is?		Cognitive blockage, silence, shame,

# Psychological interpretation of behavioral analysis

Following behavioral analysis, the following psychological conclusions can be drawn:

- Emotional detachment regarding the description of the events that occurred at those times (emotional nonimplication, rationalization, logic in description of events);
- a great emotional discrepancy between how she relates to events and the way in which she relives at high emotional intensity the moment when she talks about the relationship with the child and about the fact that "it is bad without her" where she feels intense sadness;
- good ability to withdraw on her own needs; increased interest in the image of an "innocent" person;
- good emotional transition from the negative emotions to the sphere of positive emotions; normal emotional attitude;
- focusing on one's own person and on how to identify solutions to the problem she is facing.

# Discussions

Firstly, this case study highlights once again that the field of nonverbal communication is important because the information obtained in the polygraph assessment as well as the information extracted from the behavioral analysis can provide a higher degree of fidelity of the results obtained in particular in the sphere of psychological assessments and, of course, in the field of judicial psychology.

The reactions of the preventively arrested person can be mutually supportive at the level of the two types of assessment (polygraph testing and psychological assessment in penitentiary) because there is a highly emotional central theme (questions about the committed act), and the physiological and nonverbal responses measured lead to common conclusion - simulated behavior displayed by the person preventively arrested.

The reactions identified at attitudinal, emotional, cognitive and behavioral level are as follows:

- 1. Short transition from the emotional to the rational plan (denotes that change is animated by personal interests);
- 2. Lack of emotion of hatred, vengeance, towards a possible suspect;
- 3. Loss of the child is devastating, "*does not like it without her*", she is aware of the loss, but does not accept the situation of detention.
- 4. Argumentation the answer to all the questions "has God", even if she "put her hand on the Bible", the prosecutor "does not believe either way" because "he's bad."
- 5. No micro-expression of aggressiveness "directed" towards someone else; there is no other person who can be suspected, only "*God knows*" that she is "*repented*" and she "*did not do that*."
- 6. The ability to distinguish between the situation when the prosecutor may accuse her on the basis of solid evidence and the situation when they would be completely absent.
- 7. Holds that "*without any evidence she cannot be condemned, without any evidence* ...", the pattern of behavior is predetermined, the responses are automatic;
- 8. The emotional transition capacity of the subject is enviable for any individual after about 30 minutes of intense emotional experiences, at the end of the initial psychological assessment, she still has resources to ask for help and clarification about her future.

The specialized literature refers to the criteria underlying the identification of liars using nonverbal behavioral analysis (Vrij, 2012), as follows:

- 1. it is preferable to use flexible decision-making rules, which urges caution when it comes to a clear conclusion;
- 2. Indicators of simulated behavior may also exist when intense emotions, cognitive tension or self-control are present;
- 3. it is preferable for the evaluator to have a suspicion;
- 4. decisions should not be taken very quickly;
- 5. Increased attention to verbal and nonverbal indicators from the category of the indicators of lies;
- 6. verbal and nonverbal indicators should be analyzed simultaneously;
- 7. Increased attention to changes in behavioral responses;

Ekman (2009) suggests that objective conclusions about simulation it is needed a good knowledge of the clues of fraud. This example highlights the findings in the literature on the occurrence of nonverbal behaviors in highly emotionally charged situations, and the importance of a good knowledge of the clues of deceptive behavior that can give greater certainty to decisions about the accuracy of identifying authentic or deceptive behavior, precisely because the polygraph assessment is accompanied by behavioral assessment.

### Conclusions

In this case study, it was desired to highlight the impact of emotional stimulation and to identify the reactions of deceptive behavior (physiological reactions and facial reactions) in the context of polygraph testing and psychological assessment in prison in the case of a preventively detained person. Some sequences filmed with the participant in the context of psychological evaluation in the penitentiary were situations 5 and 6 (recordings of deceptive behavior) that were also used to test the hypothesis 2 of Study 5.

Following general analyzes, it can be considered that emotional triggers (questions describing the way of committing a deed) can be associated with physiological reactions (polygraph testing) but also with nonverbal behavioral responses (facial micro-expressions) in the case of psychological assessment.

# Strengths of the present study

A positive aspect of this case study is how to integrate the information resulting from the various techniques used here. Although this case study does not allow to generalize conclusions about a potential lying pattern in relation to the verbal response to questions about committing a crime, the multidimensional method used for data analysis (polygraph testing and behavioral analysis during the interview) allowed for obtaining a valorous image (in the sense of identifying emotions and facial actions associated with possible deceptive behavior used by the person in question when addressing questions about committing a crime). The case value presented here resides in the possibility of differentiating the indicators of deceptive behavior associated with answers to specific questions with strong individual valency (such as committing a crime). In this respect, the analysis of nonverbal behavior can provide a lot of information about the emotional states of the interviewed persons, information that is needed in the interactions between the prison staff and the detainees, the specialized conclusions and the criminal investigations in progress and not only.

Acknowledgments: The automatic data scoring and reports generated on the MSCEIT test were supported by the Research Grant PN-II-PT-PCCA-2013-4-0781 (director: Alina S. Rusu). Interpreting the polygraph test was performed by Chief Police Commissioner Gianina Alexa, a forensic expert authorized to detect the simulated behavior, of the County Police Inspectorate in Arad. Specialized literature (lying detection and deceptive behavior) was provided by George Visu-Petra.

# CHAPTER IV. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

The main objective of this research was to optimize and develop techniques for the recognition of nonverbal behaviors (facial expressions and micro-expressions) displayed in different contexts (prison environment, therapeutic relationship, psychopathology) in order to identify emotions and dominant behaviors at the level of manifestation, activated by specific triggers. The theories, paradigms and models of emotions were presented diachronically, starting from The theory of facial expression anatomy (Bell, 1806), The theory of human physiognomy mechanisms (Duchenne, 1862), The theory of the universality of emotion expression (Darwin, 1872), 1962, 1963, 1991), The theory of fixed action patterns (1981) and, last but not least, The theory of universal emotions (Ekman, 1971). The theories and models presented argue that emotions are based on the function of individual adaptation, survival (Darwin, 1872; Tomkins, 2008), but also universality (Darwin 1872, Ekman, 2003). At the application level, studies in the field of nonverbal communication highlight the role of emotions in organizing behavior (Ekman & Davidson, 1994) and the influence of fixed action models (MAF) in order to alleviate the individual (Lorenz, 1981). Emotions produce unique and specific nonverbal behaviors such as facial expressions, voice, posture, gestures, and all these expressive behaviors are universal (Matsumoto, 2013). Tomkins (1964) conducted the first study that demonstrated that facial expressions are associated with emotional states (Tomkins & McCarter, 1964). Subsequently, in the early 1970s, Tomkins and Ekman conducted studies that demonstrated the universality of emotions and implicitly the existence of seven universal facial expressions for universal emotions Surprise, Happiness, Anger, Fear, Disgust, Contempt, Sadness (Ekman, 1972, 1973; & Friesen, 1971; Ekman, Sorensen, & Friesen, 1969; Izard, 1971).

This research aimed at a multidimensional approach to identifying specific facial patterns in different contexts (eg, suicide, lie) and proposed new techniques in this respect, techniques that can be used in the future as diagnostic tools in the direction of assessment and preventing the risk of suicide, and identifying deceptive behaviors.

**The first study** of the doctoral thesis proposed the analysis of emotional triggers and the different types of emotions (positive / negative) expressed on the face of a detained person diagnosed with dissocial personality disorder. Facial micro-expressions were measured using the Facial Action Coding System (Ekman & Friesen, 1978).

The second study investigated the interaction between detained persons (females) and psychologist (male), targeting the analysis of nonverbal behavior or the seductive behavior displayed by the detained person in the context of initial psychological assessment in the penitentiary. The elements of nonverbal behavior that can provide useful information about the emotional state of the detained persons, types of posture, micro-facial expressions and indicators of seductive behavior have been analyzed. It was also investigated the association of seductive behavior indicators with the value of the evolutionary fitness (reproductive potential) calculated on the basis of a psychological screening formula and a standardized assessment scale of evolutionary fitness from the field of Evolutionary Psychology (High-K Scale Strategy, Giosan , 2006).

In **the third study** was presented a multidimensional and comprehensive way of initial psychological assessment of people who come into contact with the prison environment and who have a history of suicide attempts or suicidal ideation. In order to identify denial and / or lying indicators of attempted suicide in detention, an exploratory method of detecting the pattern of negation was proposed in answers to questions about suicidal behavior (ideation and attempts). The behavioral analysis of suicide talks from the perspective of theories and methods of pattern detection has been approached by comparing facial micro-expressions of visually impaired civilians and recently convicted persons.

In **the fourth study**, we sought to investigate a psychological assessment technique that combines psychological screening with behavioral observation / analysis and facial micro-expression analysis using the FACET software (iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET - facial expression technology from Emotient, version 5.7 - real-time identification of expressed emotions) in order to achieve a detailed psychological profile.

In **the fifth study**, it was intended to identify the differences between experienced penitentiary agents (experts) and future prison officers (novices), Emotional Intelligence (IE), the level of accuracy in identifying concealed behaviors presented as a result of viewing audio-video recordings with detainees (preventively arrested, or permanently convicted) in various situations. A special feature was the *case study*, where the results from the polygraph technique were analyzed and correlated with behavioral analysis (facial micro-expressions, body language, voice) in order to establish a concealed behavior pattern specific to context. The following subchapter will briefly describe the conceptual and theoretical contributions of this thesis.

### **IV.1** Theoretical and conceptual contributions

The first chapter of the thesis presented the theories, paradigms and patterns of emotions. The elements of nonverbal communication were described, as well as facial muscles and specific indicators to the seven universal emotions (presentation of facial micro-expressions). There was talk of emotional triggers and deceptive behavior. There were briefly presented the techniques of identifying the emotions and the deceptive behavior, but also the model of Emotional Intelligence (IE) (Mayer, Salovey, & Caruso, 2002). Finally, the prison environment and the criminal motivation from an evolutionary perspective were described.

Within this thesis, the main objective was to identify nonverbal behaviors in different contexts of the prison environment. This research has proposed the measurement of nonverbal behavior by specific techniques already used, but also by new techniques, in which a multidimensional approach to the identification of nonverbal behaviors was sought in order to obtain information about emotions of the psychologically assessed persons.

The objective of the first study is to investigate the facial micro-expressions displayed by a person in detention (with the diagnosis of dissocial personality disorder) in various highly emotionally charged situations in the context of the therapeutic interview. The behavioral data analyzed showed an image that prefigured the specific pattern of the psychopathic personality, dominated by facial expressions of negative emotions. However, facial expressions of positive emotions were also numerous and expressed in a clear way, being directly associated with negative triggers (physical aggression and lie expressed at the verbal descriptive level).

The second study addresses the psychological assessment in terms of interaction between a person (woman) and a psychologist (male), targeting the analysis of nonverbal behavior or the seductive behavior of imprisoned women. Recent studies in the sphere of evolutionary psychology have indicated that the use of wooing signals in different social contexts (without direct sexual relevance) may be an indicator of the behavioral and social intelligence of the transmitter (Gersick, 2014). The first part of the study analyzed those elements of nonverbal behavior that can provide useful information about the emotional state of the person being detained, types of posture, micro-facial expressions and seductive behavior indicators. These elements allowed two categories for detained people to be generated: (1) expressive and (2) nonexpressive. The second part of the study investigated the association of indicators of seductive behavior with the value of the evolutionary fitness (reproductive potential), calculated on the basis of a psychological screening formula and a standardized assessment scale of evolutionary fitness from the field of Evolutionary Psychology (High-K Strategy Scale, Giosan. 2006). The interviews of 33 detainees at the Arad maximum Security Penitentiary in Arad, Romania, were analyzed taking into account the fact that five women had attempted suicide before conviction. Seductively expressive women (N = 14) achieved higher evolutionary fitness values compared to the non-expressive category (N = 19), but the difference was not statistically significant. Women with suicidal tendencies have expressed non-seductive behavioral indicators despite moderate-to-high evolutionary fitness values, which implies a reconsideration of the assessment of the value of evolutionary fitness in the context of suicidal behavior. Even without a statistical significance, the data obtained with female detainees indicates small differences in the individual evolutionary fitness score between persons in seductively expressive and non-expressive behavioral categories in the non-sexual context of the initial psychological interview in the penitentiary (persons in detention - female and psychologist - male).

**Study three** presented a multidimensional and comprehensive way of initial psychological assessment of people who come into contact with the prison environment and who have a history of suicide attempts or suicidal ideation. In order to identify denial and / or lying indications of attempted suicide in detention, an exploratory method for detecting the negative pattern was proposed here in the responses to questions about suicidal behavior (ideation and attempts). The behavioral analysis of suicide talks from the perspective of theories and methods of pattern detection has been approached by comparing facial micro-expressions of visually impaired civilians and recently convicted detainees. The control group consists of visually impaired civilians (N = 11) from Arad, Romania, who were interviewed in the same way. The automatic analysis of facial micro-expressions of denial of suicidal behavior allowed the identification of eleven common Facial Actions for both groups of participants.

Facial expressions highlighted by statistical analysis can be an indicator of a potential pattern of emotional expression that accompanies verbal negation about suicide that can be used in the future as a diagnostic tool, allowing identification of pattern deviations to assess and prevent the risk of suicide.

**Study four** outlines the way to psychologically assess recently arrived persons in the penitentiary environment. Behavioral observation and supplementary questions in conjunction with the analysis of facial micro-expressions are the sources of information that outline the psychological profile and draw psychological recommendations specific to the problems identified. We wanted to present a psychological evaluation technique that combines psychological screening with behavioral observation / analysis and facial micro-expression analysis (iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET - facial expression technology from Emotient, version 5.7 - real time identification of emotions expressed) with the aim of achieving a detailed psychological profile. The information gathered through this combined method has enabled the identification of valuable psychological peculiarities of a detained person, such as the tendency to express deceptive behavior while talking about suicide plans.

The fifth study aims at identifying the differences between experienced prison officers (experts) and future penitentiary agents (novices) in Emotional Intelligence (IE). The fact that no very large differences between the two categories were found in the Emotional Intelligence "*Total Score*" variable can be perceived as an aspect that can refer to the abilities held (the values of the total scores in the case of novices) and skills developed in the course of the professional activity (the total scores for the experts). These aspects can be perceived as a positive element that certifies the professional quality of prison officers. It should be emphasized that the results of the two categories (novices and experts) on the *Perceiving emotions* and *Pictures* subscale, even if they are statistically significant, are ranked according to the evaluation report in the *Competent* category, ie the participants are aware of the emotions of others and theirs, can communicate, identify and transmit emotions, associate emotions with the environment, and have a good analytical ability.

In the second part, the study proposed to identify the differences between the two categories (experts and novices) at the level of: (1) the degree of accuracy in identifying the deceptive behaviors presented as a result of watching audio-video recordings with detainees (preventively arrested, permanently convicted) in various situations; (2) the degree of self-perception (low / high skill) regarding the success of the choices made in the case of filmed situations, the self-perceived need for specialized training for the recognition / identification of emotions and the need for specialized training in the discovery of the deceptive/dishonest behavior.

In case of identifying the differences between the participants (novices and experts) at the level of *accuracy in the detection of authentic / deceptive behavior* based on the analysis of some recorded situations, the results obtained were not significant. More than half of the participants (novice and experts) in this study have agreed / totally agreed that they can *easily identify the dishonest behavior* of people in custody. The percentage of success in the cases of lies ranges between 50% and 94%.

The number of participants (novice and experts) who consider that they *need training for the recognition of emotions* is more than 50%, a percentage, fact that can be perceived as a conscious need for the proper performance in the penitentiary staff activity regarding the work with the detained persons. Statistically significant differences were found only in scores concerning the dimension of *emotion recognition training*, in the case of novices, they are significantly higher than those in the category of experts, and in terms of the *need for training to detect deceptive behavior*, the percentage is more than 50% in the case of the two groups of participants (novices and experts)

The obtained results indicated that the need for continuous training in order to acquire new skills and abilities is well known and can be of interest to both categories of participants in this study. A special feature in this study was the *case study* that combines polygraph technique with behavioral analysis (micro-expressions, body language, voice), as well as establishing a deceptive behavior specific pattern depending on context.

The presented case highlighted the findings in the literature on the occurrence of nonverbal behaviors in highly emotionally charged situations. The information obtained here can be a starting point in the future trainings performed with different professional categories. The results obtained may be a first step towards optimizing and developing techniques for recognizing nonverbal behaviors (facial expressions and micro-expressions) displayed in different contexts to identify emotions and behaviors that are dominant at the manifestation level.

### **IV.2** Methodological innovations

This thesis, together with the theoretical and conceptual aspects, proposed offering answers to both classical hypotheses (such as the relationship between emotional triggers and emotions), but also to new hypotheses in the literature, in the field of nonverbal communication (eg. the emergence of behavioral patterns in different contexts), by addressing the studies presented here from an innovative perspective.

**Study 1.** The case study provided the opportunity to "test" some psychological assessment techniques, as well as hypotheses from the literature on emotional triggers (Ekman & Fridlund, 1987), but it can also be perceived as a useful method of analysis of an isolated case of a person diagnosed with dissocial personality disorder in detention. The Behavioral Action Coding System (FACS) based on behavioral observations, together with a semi-structured interview containing specific emotional triggers, could function as a behavioral assessment tool for psychologists working in penitentiaries.

**Study 2.** This study proposed the identification of nonverbal indicators of seductive behavior in the context of initial psychological assessment in the penitentiary, which can be considered when making objective assessments. Data collection, that is, all interviews were conducted in the penitentiary, even at the first meeting with the male psychologist, which gave this study an ecological character. The study was treated from an evolutionary perspective, approached theories of evolutionary psychology in a special context (the penitentiary environment), a situation that gives the study an innovative aspect.

**Study 3.** Using a quasi-experimental design to identify behavioral patterns in the context of discussions about suicide in detained persons and visually impaired people, can be an important step for future nonverbal communication studies. This study was a field study, ecological, the participants were interviewed at important moments of their existence. The fact that the Facial Action Coding System (FACS), a standardized method for measuring and describing facial expressions, was used together with the iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET - facial expression technology from Emotient, version 5.7 - the real-time identification of the expressed emotions, allowing the accurate identification of the evidence of emotions and Facial Actions, was another methodological contribution.

**Study 4**. The second case study in this thesis merged the techniques of identifying nonverbal elements and proposed an innovative method of analyzing nonverbal behavior. This has allowed generalization of conclusions about a potential pattern of deceptive behavior in the context of suicide talks. The innovative feature was also provided by the Biometric Platform Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET - facial expression technology from Emotient, version 5.7, for the automatic identification and measurement of emotional and factional evidence. This case study was a field study.

**Study 5.** A quasi-experimental design was used for this study, it was done in an ecological context in which the differences between the two categories of participants (experts and novices) were highlighted, but also the important aspects of the interaction between the hired staff and detained persons - elements of nonverbal communication (indicators of authentic / deceptive behavior). The innovative character of the study was provided by the video footage (in the case

of preventively arrested persons) that could be done in high-stakes situations with regard to possible release or possible conviction.

**The case study** was conducted in an innovative manner in terms of the multidimensional character of the reactions of the deceptive behavior (physiological reactions and facial reactions) in the context of polygraph testing and psychological assessment in the penitentiary in the case of a preventively arrested person.

# **IV.3** General conclusions

The conclusions that emerged from the studies presented in this thesis are the following:

- 1. The analyzed behavioral data indicated an image that prefigured the specific pattern to the psychopathic personality, dominated by facial expressions of negative emotions. However, facial expressions of positive emotions were also numerous and expressed in a clear way, being directly associated with negative triggers (physical aggression and lie expressed verbally) (Study 1).
- 2. Two categories of participants were identified: expressive people (tend to show that they have social skills developed both in verbal communication and in nonverbal communication) and non-expressive people (have low social skills, poor ability to adapt to the environment and interpersonal relationship, low level of expressiveness). Without a statistical significance, the data obtained showed small differences in the individual evolutionary fitness score between expressive and non-expressive seductive persons in the non-sexual context of the initial psychological interview in the penitentiary.

Regression analyzes of the age and score of individual evolutionary fitness have indicated the predicted evolutionary relationship between evolutionary fitness and age for non-expressive women (the higher the age, the lower is the score of the evolutionary fitness), but not for expressive women, where the relationship seems to be inverse (the higher the age, the higher the value of the evolutionary fitness) (**Study 2**).

3. Nonverbal elements common to the two categories of participants (inmates and visually impaired persons) were highlighted when identifying a potential pattern of facial expressions associated with verbal negation about suicidal ideation / behavior, allowing the identification of three major eleven common Facial Actions for the two groups of participants. Data suggests that participants tend to display more facial activity in the lower part of the face, especially at the mouth, in the context of the discussion of suicide.

Differences were found: (1) at the level of evidence for the emotion Surprise, in the case of the detained persons the results were significantly higher than the visually impaired persons; (2) at Facial Action 6 and (3) at Facial Action 7, in the case of detained persons the results were significantly lower than those of the visually impaired; (4) at the level of the Facial Action 15, in the case of visually impaired persons the results were significantly lower than those of the persons detained.

Differences (5) in the duration of the response were identified in the context of the suicide discussion; in the case of people without suicidal ideation / without a history of suicide, the results were significantly higher than those with a suicidal ideation / history of suicide. At the level of the other measured variables: six universal emotions, seventeen facial actions and three elements of head movement, statistically significant differences were not identified (**Study 3**).

- 4. The multidimensional method used for data analysis (FACET platform and behavioral observations during the suicidal ideation interview) allowed to obtain a valuable image for identifying emotions and facial actions associated with possible deceptive behavior used by the person in question when asking questions related to future suicide plans (**Study 4**).
- 5. There were no statistically significant differences between the two categories (novices and experts) in the *Total Score* subset of the Emotional Intelligence Test, but statistically significant differences were found on the *Perceiving Emotions* and *Pictures* subscales, in the case of novices the results are significant higher than those in the category of experts. No other statistically significant differences in Emotional Intelligence between the two categories of participants were identified.

No statistically significant differences were found between the media of the two groups (novices and experts) at the level of authentic / deceptive behavior detection accuracy based on the analysis of some filmed situations.

There were no statistically significant correlations between Emotional Intelligence (IE) and the level of authentic / deceptive behavior detection accuracy.

Statistically significant differences were found only in scores regarding the dimension *emotion recognition training*, for novices it was significantly higher than those in the category of experts. At the level of self-assessment of the degree of accuracy in the detection of deceptive behavior and the need for training to detect the deceptive / dishonest behavior no statistically significant differences were found.

In the case study case at the end of Study 5, after general analyzes, it could be considered that the emotional triggers (the questions that concerned the description of the mode of committing the deed) can be associated with physiological reactions (polygraph testing) but also with reactions at the level of nonverbal behavior (facial micro-expressions) in the case of psychological assessment (**Study 5**).

# **IV.4** Limitations and future directions

Within this thesis were presented the limits identified for each study. Below are the limits that can be considered as general in this thesis and which can be regarded as future research directions.

The first limit is the low level of generalization, but it is recommended that future studies include people in the general population (such as students) to increase the degree of generalization of results.

Another limit refers to the results obtained in the context of the initial assessments in the penitentiary, namely the woman (detainee) - male (psychologist) relationship at the level of the nonverbal elements identified in this situation. An analysis in the context of a woman (psychologist) - male (detained) relationship, would also be useful in the future, in the hope of identifying other possible nonverbal behavioral responses.

Another limit refers to the fact that only the static behavioral pattern in facial micro-expression was analyzed, a pattern that has been reported over a timeframe delimited by the iMotions Biometric Research Platform powered by FACET - facial expression technology from Emotient, version 5.7- real-time identification of expressed emotions. In the future, we propose a behavioral analysis to identify a dynamic pattern of nonverbal behavior in different contexts, targeting facial, postural, and verbal measurements, and relating to a longer time frame. The diamic pattern can be outlined with the help of binary analysis (the presence or absence of behavioral indicators) over the entire period of question response, which highlights the type of nonverbal behavior elements and the frequency of their occurrence during the answer to the questions.

Case studies do not allow generalizing conclusions about a potential pattern of deceptive behavior, it would be useful in the future to continue this type of study with a larger number of participants.

At national level, researches aiming at nonverbal communication in the prison environment are relatively few or in the exploratory phase, and in this sense we consider that the present work can make an important contribution through the information it provides, both at the theoretical level, but also practically, for the field of judicial psychology, penology and clinical psychology. Also, the studies included in this thesis allow generous directions of future research, some with interdisciplinary value.

### References

- Accomazzo, S., (2012). Antropology of violence: Historical and current Theories, concept and debates in physical and sociocultural anthropology. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Enviroment*, 22(5), 535-552. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2011.598727
- Aebi, M. F., Tiago, M. M. & Burkhardt, C. (2016). SPACE I Council of Europe Annual Penal Statistics: Prison populations. Survey 2015. Strasbourg: Council of Europe. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.115.4.815
- 3. Alexa, G., Andelin, E., & Feher, T. (2014). The Importance of Facial Micro-Expressions and Nonverbal Behaviour in Psychological Evaluation. *European Review of Applied Sociology*, 6(7), 51-57.
- Alexander, C. (1979). *The timeless way of building* (Vol. 1). New York: Oxford University Press. In Casarrubea, M., Jonsson, G. K., Faulisi, F., Sorbera, F., Di Giovanni, G., Benigno, A., Crescimanno, G., & Magnusson, M. S. (2015). T-pattern analysis for the study of temporal structure of animal and human behavior: a comprehensive review. *Journal of neuroscience methods*, 239, 34-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2014.09.024
- 5. Alexander, R. (1979). Darwinism and Human Affairs. Seattle: Washington University.
- Alghowinem, S., Goecke, R., Wagner, M., Parkerx, G., & Breakspear, M. (2013). Head pose and movement analysis as an indicator of depression. In *Affective Computing and Intelligent Interaction (ACII), 2013 Humaine Association Conference on* (pp. 283-288). IEEE. http://doi.org/10.1109/ACII.2013.53
- 7. American Psychiatric Association (2013). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, (DSM-5).
- Andelin, E. I., & Rusu, A. S. (2015). Identifying Non-verbal Seductive Behavior Indicators in the Context of Initial Psychological Evaluation in Prison–Analysis of Situational Type Interviews. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 209, 61-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.11.256</u>
- Andelin, E. I., & Rusu, A. S. (2016). An Evolutionary Analysis of Seductive Behavior of Newly Convicted Females. The European Proceedings of Social & Behavioural Sciences EpSBS, XVIIIr, 27-34. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15405/epsbs.2016.12.4</u>
- Andelin, E.I., & Rusu, A.S. (2015). Investigation of Facial Micro-expressions of Emotions in Psychopathy–A Case Study of an Individual in Detention. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 209, 46-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.11.230</u>
- Anderson, D.E., DePaulo, B. M., Ansfield, M. E., Tickle, J.J., & Green, E. (1999). Beliefs about cues to deception: Mindless Stereotypes or Untapped Wisdom. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 23(1), 67-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021387326192</u>
- Anolli, L., Duncan Jr, S., Magnusson, M. S., & Riva, G. (2005). Conversation Patterns in Icelandic and Italian People: Similarities and Differences in Rhythm and Accommodation. In Casarrubea, M., Jonsson, G. K., Faulisi, F., Sorbera, F., Di Giovanni, G., Benigno, A., Crescimanno, G., & Magnusson, M. S. (2015). T-pattern analysis for the study of temporal structure of animal and human behavior: a comprehensive review. *Journal of neuroscience methods*, 239, 34-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2014.09.024
- 13. Archer, J. (1988). *The behavioural biology of aggression. Cambridge*. UK: Cambridge-University Press. In Richard E.Tremblay, Willard W. Hartup, John Archer (2005). *Developmental Origins Of Aggression*. Guildford Press, New York, London.
- Bagley, J., & Manelis, L. (1979). Effect of awareness on an indicator of cognitive load. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 49(2), 591-594. <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1979.49.2.591</u>
- 15. Bandura, A., (1988). Self-regulation of motivation and action through goal systems. In Butoi, T., (2003). Tratat de psihologie judiciară. București.
- 16. Bar-On, R. (2002). BarOn Emotional Quotient Inventory. Technical Manual.
- 17. Bartlett, M. S., Littlewort, G. C., Frank, M. G., Lainscsek, C., Fasel, I. R., & Movellan, J. R. (2006). Automatic recognition of facial actions in spontaneous expressions. *Journal of multimedia*, 1(6), 22-35.
- Bechinie, M., Grammer, K. (1997). The Dark Side of Love: About Breaking up Romantic Relationships (Abstract). In Atzwanger, K., Grammer, K., Schäfer, K., & Schmitt, A. (Eds.). (2007). New aspects of human ethology. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Brown, G. K. (1996). *Beck depression inventory*. The Psychological Corporation, USA, San Antonio.
   Beldoch, M. (1964). *Sensitivity to expression of emotional meaning in three modes of communication*. In J.R. Davitz (Ed.) (1964).
- *The communication of emotional meaning* (pp. 13-29). New York: McGraw-Hill. Retrieved from <u>http://jeesusjalutasallveelaeval.blogspot.ro/2012/07/communication-of-emotional-meaning.html</u>
- 21. Bell, C. (1806). Essays on the Anatomy of Expression in Painting. Librabry of Princeton University.
- 22. Bell, C., & Shaw, A. (1904). The anatomy and philosophy of expression as connected with the fine arts. George Bell & Sons.
- 23. Bell, C., (1844). *The anatomy and philosophy of expression as connected with the fine arts.* (3 rd Ed.). London: John Murray. Cambridge University Library.
- 24. Boehm, C. (1999). *Hierarchy in the forest: Egalitarianism and the evolution of human altruism*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. In Tremblay, R. E., Hartup, W. W., & Archer, J. (Eds.). (2005). *Developmental origins of aggression*. Guilford Press.
- Boehm, C. (1999). *Hierarchy in the forest: The evolution of egalitarian behavior*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. In Lu, H. (2014). Deceiving Yourself to Better Deceive High Status Compared to Equal Status Others. *Evolutionary Psychology journal*, 12(3), 635-654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/147470491401200310</u>
- Bogaert, A. F., & Rushton, J. P. (1989). Sexuality, delinquency and r/K reproductive strategies: Data from a Canadian university sample. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 10(10), 1071-1077. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(89)90259-6</u>
- 27. Boncu, Ş. (2002). Psihologia influenței sociale. Polirom, Iași.
- Book, A. S., Quinsey, V. L., & Langford, D. (2007). Psychopathy and the perception of affect and vulnerability. *Criminal Justice* and Behavior, 34 (4), 531-544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854806293554</u>
- Bourgois, P. (2004). The continuum of violence in war and peace: Post-cold warlessons from El Salvador. In N. Scheper-Hughes & P. Bourgois (Eds.), *Violence in war and peace* (pp. 425–434). Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing. In Accomazzo, S. (2012). Antropology of violence: historical and current theories, concepts, and debates in physical and socio-cultural antropology. *Journal of Human Behaviour in the Social Environment*, 22(5), 535-552. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2011.598727</u>

- Brown, D. E. (1991). Human universals. Philadelphia: Temple University Press. In Geary, D. C. (2008). An Evolutionarily informed science. Educational psychologist, 43(4), 179-195. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00461520802392133</u>
- Brown, G. K., Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Grisham, J. R. (2000). Risk factors for suicide in psychiatric outpatients: A 20-year prospective study. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(3), 371-377. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.3.371</u>
- Brustur, G.,I., Burcă C., Ciocodei, I., Popescu, M., Radu, E., Cândea, D., Vălenaş, S., David, D., <u>Szentagotai</u>, A.(2014). Protocol clinic de grup pentru depresie destinat femeilor private de libertate. Pentru uz intern. Proiect finanțat prin Mecanismul Financiar Norvegian 2009-2014.
- 33. Bus, I. (2000). Psihodetecția comportamentului simulat. Edit. Ingram, ClujNapoca.
- Buss, D. M. (1992). Manipulation in close relationships: Five personality factors in interactional context. *Journal of Personality*, 60(2), 477-499. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1992.tb00981.x</u>
- Buss, D. M. (1995). Evolutionary psychology: A new paradigm for psychological science. *Psychological inquiry*, 6(1), 1-30. http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli0601\_1
- 36. Buss, D. M. (2000). The evolution of happiness. American Psychologist, 55(1), 15-23. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.15</u>
- Buss, D. M., & Barnes, M. (1986). Preferences in human mate selection. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 50(3), 559-570. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.50.3.559</u>
- 38. Butoi, I.T. (2003). Tratat universitar de psihologie judiciară. Teorie și practică. București: Phobos.
- 39. Byrne, R., Whiten A. (1988). Machiavellian intelligence. Cambridge.
- 40. Cantin, V., & Hess, U. (1998). Angry People versus Angry Situations: The Influence of Dispositional and Situational Variables on the Experience and Expression of Anger. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Capirci, O., & Volterra, V. (2008). Gesture and speech: The emergence and development of a strong and changing partnership. *Gesture*, 8(1), 22-44. DOI: <u>10.1075/gest.8.1.04cap</u>
- 42. Capirci, O., and Voltera, V. (2008). Gesture and speech: The emergence and development of a strong and changing partenership. Gesture. In Matsumoto, D., Frank, M., Hwang, H. (2013). *Non-verbal Communication*. London.
- 43. Carare, O., (2011). Personalul din penitenciar. Subculturi carcerale, norme si valori, suferințele falsei încarcerări. *Probation Journal*, 2(4), 32-43.
- 44. Casarrubea, M., Jonsson, G. K., Faulisi, F., Sorbera, F., Di Giovanni, G., Benigno, A., & Magnusson, M. S. (2015). T-pattern analysis for the study of temporal structure of animal and human behavior: a comprehensive review. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, 239, 34-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2014.09.024</u>
- 45. Chance, M.R.A. (1957). The role of convulsions in behaviour. *Behavioral Sciences*, 2(1), 30-45. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/bs.3830020104
- Chartrand, T. L., & Bargh, J. A. (1999). The chameleon effect: The perception-behavior link and social interaction. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76(6), 893-910. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.76.6.893</u>
- 47. Clark, A. P. (2008). Attracting interest: Dynamic displays of proceptivity increase the attractiveness of men and women. *Evolutionary Psychology*, 6(4), 563-574. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/147470490800600403</u>
- 48. Cleckley, H. M. (1988). The mask of sanity: An attempt to clarify some issues about the so called psychopathic personality. Aware Journalism.
- 49. Conţ, N. (1928). Şcoala şi mişcarea pedagogică în vechiul regat. În Probleme ale învăţămîntului românesc, buletinul no. 4 şi Programul de Activitate pe 1928-1929 al Seminarului de Pedagogie Teoretică condus de G.G. Antonescu şi Buletinul Bibliotecii Pedagogice a Casei Şcoalelor. Editura Casei Şcoalelor, Bucureşti.
- 50. Cosman, D.(1999). Sinuciderea. Studiu în perspectivă biopsihosocială. Edit. Risoprint, Cluj.
- Craig, K. D., Hyde, S. A., & Patrick, C. J. (1991). Genuine, suppressed and faked facial behavior during exacerbation of chronic low back pain. *Pain*, 46(2), 161-171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(91)90071-5</u>
- 52. Csaba, K.(2009). Psihofiziologie criminalistică. Diferențe de reactivitate. Ed. Universitară, București.
- 53. Darwin, C. (1965). The Expression of the Emotions in Man and Animals. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- 54. Darwin, C. (1967). Expresia emoțiilor la om și animale. Editura Academiei Republicii Socialiste România.
- 55. Darwin, C. (1969). On the Origen of Species by Means of Natural Selection. Culture et Civilisation.
- 56. David, D. (2006). Tratat de psihoterapii cognitive și comportamentale. Iași: Editura Polirom.
- Dawkins, R. (1976). Hierarchical organisation: A candidate principle for ethology. In Magnusson, M. S. (2000). Discovering hidden time patterns in behavior: T-patterns and their detection. Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 32(1), 93-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03200792</u>
- 58. De Waal, F. (1992). Agression as a well-integrated part of primate social relationships: A critique of the seville Statement of Violence. In Accomazzo, S., (2012). Antropology of violence: historical and current theories, concepts, and debates in physical and socio-cultural antropolog, *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 22(5), 535-552. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2011.598727
- 59. Dennis, H., & Duncan, C. (2010). Introducere în SPSS pentru psihologie. Iași: Editura Polirom.
- DePaulo, B. M., Lindsay, J. J., Malone, B. E., Muhlenbruck, L., Charlton, K., & Cooper, H. (2003). Cues to deception. *Psychological bulletin*, 129(1), 74-118. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.1.74</u>
- Deriso, D., Susskind, J., Krieger, L., & Bartlett, M. (2012). Emotion mirror: a novel intervention for autism based on real-time expression recognition. In *Computer Vision–ECCV 2012. Workshops and Demonstrations* (pp. 671-674). Springer Berlin/Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-33885-4\_79</u>
- Dittrich, W. H., Troscianko, T., Lea, S., & Morgan, D. (1996). Perception of emotion from dynamic point-light displays represented in dance. *Perception*, 25(6), 727-738. In Troje, N. F. (2002). Decomposing biological motion: A framework for analysis and synthesis of human gait patterns. *Journal of Vision*, 2, 371-387. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1167/2.5.2</u>.
- 63. Duchenne de Boulogne, G. B. (1862). Mécanisme de la physiologie humaine. Paris: Renouard.
- 64. Duchenne de Boulogne, G. B. (1862). Mécanisme de la Physionomie Humaine ou analyse Electro-Physiologique de l'Expression des Passions. Paris: Bailliere.

- 65. Duncan Jr, S. (1969). Nonverbal communication. Psychological Bulletin, 72(2), 118-137. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0027795
- 66. Duncan, S., & Fiske, D. W. (1977). Face-to-face interaction: Research, methods, and theory. In Magnusson, M. S. (2000). Discovering hidden time patterns in behavior: T-patterns and their detection. Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 32(1), 93-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03200792</u>
- 67. Efron, D. (1941). Gesture and environment. Oxford, England: King'S Crown Press.
- Eibl-Eibesfeldt, I. (1970). Ethology: The biology of behavior. In Magnusson, M. S. (2000). Discovering hidden time patterns in behavior: T-patterns and their detection. Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers, 32(1), 93-110. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03200792
- 69. Eibl-Eibesfeldt, I. (1989). Human Ethology. New York. In Matsumoto, D., Frank, M., Hwang, H. (2013). Non-verbal Communication. SAGE Publication, Inc.
- Eisler, F. G. (1968). Psycholinguistics; Experiments in spontaneous speech. Frieda Goldman Eisler Academic Press, London, New York, 8, 169 pp. *Lingua* (1970), 25, 152-164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-3841(70)90028-8</u>
- 71. Ekman, P. & Fridlund, A. J. (1987). Assessment of Facial Behavior in Affective Disorders. In Maser, J. D. (Ed.). *Depression and Expressive Behavior* (pp. 37-56). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Ekman, P. & Friesen, W. V. (1969). The repertoire of non-verbal behavior: Categories, origins, usage, and coding. *Semiotica*, 1(1), 49-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/semi.1969.1.1.49</u>
- 73. Ekman, P. (1992). Telling lies: Clues to deceit in the marketplace, marriage, and politics. W.W. Norton & Company New York, London.
- 74. Ekman, P. (1993). Facial expression and emotion. *American Psychologist*, 48(4), 384-392. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.48.4.384</u>
- 75. Ekman, P. (1994). <u>All Emotions Are Basic.</u> In Ekman, P. & Davidson, R. (Eds.), *The Nature of Emotion: Fundamental Questions* (pp. 15-19). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Ekman, P. (1994). <u>Strong Evidence For Universals In Facial Expression: A reply to Russell's mistaken critique</u>. *Psychological Bulletin*, 115(2), 268-287. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.115.2.268</u>
- 77. Ekman, P. (2003). *Emotions Revealed. Recognizing faces and feelings to improve communication and emotional life.* Times Books, Henry Bolt and Company, New York.
- 78. Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. (1978). Facial action coding system: a technique for the measurement of facial movement. *Palo Alto: Consulting Psychologists.*
- 79. Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. (1969). Non-verbal leakage and clues to deception. *Psychiatry*, 32(1), 88-106. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00332747.1969.11023575
- Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. (1974). Detecting deception from the body or face. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 29(3), 288-298. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0036006</u>
- 81. Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. (1978). Manual for the facial action coding system. Consulting Psychologists Press.
- 82. Ekman, P., & Friesen, W. V. (2003). Unmasking the face: A guide to recognizing emotions from facial clues. Malors Books, Los Altos, CA.
- 83. Ekman, P., & Rosenberg, E. L. (1997). What the face reveals: Basic and applied studies of spontaneous expression using the Facial Action Coding System (FACS). Oxford University Press, USA.
- Ekman, P. (1999). <u>Basic Emotions.</u> In Dalgleish, T. & Power, M. J. (Eds.), *Handbook of Cognition and Emotion* (pp. 45-60). New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Ekman, P. & Davidson, R. J. (1994). <u>Affective Science: A Research Agenda.</u> In Ekman, P. & Davidson, R. (Eds.), *The Nature of Emotion: Fundamental Questions* (pp. 411-430). New York: Oxford University Press.
- 86. Ekman, P., Friesen, W. V., & Hager, J. C. (2002). Facial action coding system: The manual on CD-ROM. Instructor's Guide. *Network Information Research Co, Salt Lake City*.
- 87. Ekman, P., Friesen, W., & Hager, J. C. (2002). New Version of the Facial Action Coding System. Salt Lake City, UT: A Human Face Publication.
- Ekman, P., Matsumoto, D. R., & Friesen, W. V. (1997). <u>Facial Expression in Affective Disorders.</u> In Ekman, P. & Rosenberg, E. L. (Eds.), *What the Face Reveals* (pp. 331-342). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Ekman, P., O'Sullivan, M.(1991). Who can catch a liar? American Psychologist, 46(9), 913-920. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.46.9.913</u>
- Farmer, P. (2004). On suffering and structural violence. In N. Scheper-Hughes & P.Bourgois (Eds.), Violence in war and peace (pp. 1–32). Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing. In Accomazzo, S. (2012). Antropology of violence: historical and current theories, concepts, and debates in physical and socio-cultural antropology. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 22(5), 535-552. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2011.598727</u>
- 91. Fehr, B. J., & Exline, R. V. (1987). Social visual interaction: A conceptual and literature review. In A. W. Siegman & S. Feldstein (Eds.), *Nonverbal behavior and communication* (pp. 225-325). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Figueredo, J. A., Vasquez, G., Brumbach, B. H., Schneider, S. M. R., Sefcek, J. A., Tal, et al. (2006). Consilience and life history theory: From genes to brain to reproductive strategy. *Developmental Review*, 26(2), 243-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2006.02.002</u>
- 93. Florian, G., (1996). Psihologie Penitenciară. Oscar Print, București.
- Frank, M. G., & Ekman, P. (2004). Appearing truthful generalizes across different deception situations. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 86(3), 486-495. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.86.3.486</u>
- 95. Frankl, V. E. (1986). The doctor and the soul: From psychotherapy to logotherapy. Vintage.
- Freedman, N., & Hoffman, S. P. (1967). Kinetic behavior in altered clinical states: Approach to objective analysis of motor behavior during clinical interviews. *Perceptual and motor skills*, 24(2), 527-539. <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1967.24.2.527</u>
- 97. Freud, S. (1914). On narcissism. Standard Edition. Original work published.

- Frick, P. J., Bodin, S. D., & Barry, C. T. (2000). Psychopathic traits and conduct problems in community and clinic-referred samples of children: Further development of the Psychopathy Screening Device. *Psychological Assessment*, 12(4), 382-393. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.12.4.382</u>
- Friesen, E., & Ekman, P. (1978). Facial action coding system: a technique for the measurement of facial movement. In Ekman, P., & Rosenberg, E. L. (1997). What the face reveals: Basic and applied studies of spontaneous expression using the Facial Action Coding System (FACS). Oxford University Press.
- 100.Frijda, N. H. (1987). *The emotions: Studies in emotion and social interaction*. Cabridge University Press, Edition Maison de Sciences de l'Homme.
- 101.Garcia, S., Stinson, L., Ickes, W., Bissonnette, W., & Briggs, S.R. (1991). Shyness and physical attractiveness in mixed-sex dyads. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61(1), 35-49. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.61.1.35</u>
- 102. Gardner, H. (2011). Frames of mind: The theory of multiple intelligences. Basic books.
- 103.Geary, D. (2002). Principles of evolutionary educational psychology. *Learning and individual differences*, 12(4), 317-345. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1041-6080(02)00046-8
- 104.Geary, D. C. (1998). Male, female: The evolution of human sex differences. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/10370-000
- 105.Geary, D. C. (2005). The origin of mind: Evolution of brain, cognition, and general intelligence. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- 106.Geary, D. C. (2008) An Evolutionarily informed science, *Educational psychologist*, 43(4), 179-195. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00461520802392133</u>
- 107.Gersick, A., Kurzban, R. (2014). Covert Sexual Signalling: Human Flirtation and Implications for Other Social Species. Evolutionary psychology, 12(3), 549-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/147470491401200305</u>
- 108.Giosan, C. (2006). High-K Strategy Scale: A Measure of the High-K Independent Criterion of Fitness. Evolutionary Psychology, 4(1), 394-405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/147470490600400131</u>
- 109.Glass, S. J., & Newman, J. P. (2006). Recognition of facial affect in psychopathic offenders. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 115(4), 815-820. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.115.4.815</u>
- 110.Grammer, K. (1990). Strangers meet: Laughter and nonverbal signs of interest in opposite sex encounters. Journal of Nonverbal Behavior, 14, 209-236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00989317</u>
- 111.Grammer, K., & Eibl-Eibesfeldt, I. (1990). The ritualisation of laughter. Natürlichkeit der Sprache und der Kultur, 18, 192-214.
- 112.Grammer, K., Filova, V., & Fieder, M. (1997). The communication paradox and possible solutions. *New aspects of human ethology*, 91-120. In Atzwanger, K., Grammer, K., Schäfer, K., & Schmitt, A. (Eds.). (2007). New aspects of human ethology. Springer Science & Business Media. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/b102412</u>
- 113.Grammer, K., Fink, B., Renninger, L. (2002). Dynamic system and inferential information processing in human communication. *Neuroendocrinology Letters*, 23(4), 15-22.
- 114.Grammer, K., Honda, R., Juette, A., & Schmitt, A. (1999). Fuzziness of Nonverbal Courtship Communication: Unblurred by Automatic Movie Analysis. J Pers Soc Psychol; 77(3): 487–508. In Grammer, K., Fink, b., Renninger, L. (2002). Dynamic system and inferential information processing in human communication, Neuroendocrinology Letters; 23: 15-22.
- 115.Grammer, K., Kruck, K., Juette, A., & Fink, B. (2000). Non-verbal behavior as courtship signals: the role of control and choice in selecting partners. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 21(6), 371-390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1090-5138(00)00053-2</u>
- 116. Griffiths, P. E. Ethology, Sociobiology, and Evolutionary Psychology. A Companion to the Philosophy of Biology, 393-414.
- 117. Griffiths, P. E. (2006). Ethology, sociobiology and evolutionary psychology.
- 118.Harrison, R. P., & Knapp, M. L. (1972). Toward an understanding of nonverbal communication systems. *Journal of Communication*, 22(4), 339-352. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1972.tb00162.x
- 119.Hartup, W.W., & DeWit, J. (1974). The development of aggression: Problems and perspectives. In J. DeWit&W.W. Hartup (Eds.), Determinants and origins of aggressi vebehavior (pp. 595–620). The Hague: Mouton. In Richard E. Tremblay, Willard W. Hartup, John Archer (2005) - Developmental Origins Of Aggression. Guildfort Press.
- 120. Haynal-Reymond, V., Jonsson, G. K., & Magnusson, M. S. (2005). Non-verbal communication in doctor-suicidal patient interview. *Emerging Communication*, 7, 141-148.
- 121.Heller, M., & Haynal, V. (1994). Les visages de la dépression et du suicide. Cahiers psychiatriques genevois, (16), 107-117. In Bartlett, M. S., Littlewort, G. C., Frank, M. G., Lainscsek, C., Fasel, I. R., & Movellan, J. R. (2006). Automatic recognition of facial actions in spontaneous expressions. Journal of multimedia, 1(6), 22-35. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4304/jmm.1.6.22-35</u>
- 122.Heller, M., Haynal-Reymond, V., Haynal, A., & Archinard, M. (2001). Can faces reveal suicide attempt risks. *Heller M. The flesh of the soul*, 243-268.
- 123.Hertenstein, M.J. & Campos, J. J. (2004). The retention effects of adults emotional displays on infant behavior. Child Development. In Matsumoto, D., Frank, M., Hwang, H. (2013). *Non-verbal Communication*. London.
- 124.Hess, U. (2001). The experience of emotion: situational influences on the elicitation and experience of emotions. *Emotions, qualia, and consciousness*, 386-396.
- 125.http://adevarul.ro/locale/vaslui/povestea-unui-baiat-rau-puscaria-vaslui-detinut-inventator-inchis-fraude-bancare-i-a-cuceritamericani-sistemul-protejare-cardurilor-1 5355539b0d133766a8f9a159/index.html)
- 126.http://anp.gov.ro/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/bilant-ANP-2016.pdf
- 127.http://anp.gov.ro/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/bilant-ANP-2016.pdf
- 128.<u>http://cronicaromana.com/2006/12/11/revolta-dupa-gratii/</u>
- 129.http://psycnet.apa.org/buy/1965-10294-001
- 130.<u>http://www.digi24.ro/stiri/actualitate/evenimente/copilotul-mortii-psihiatru-crima-suicidara-nu-poate-fi-oprita-experti-sunt-informatii-disparate-procurorul-se-grabeste-poate-fi-eroare-de-pilotaj-597860</u>
- 131.http://www.gandul.info/stiri/
- 132.http://www.hotnews.ro/stiri-esential-19868479-comandantul-institutului-national-medicina-aeronautica-pilotii-sunt-supusiexamenului-psihologic-doar-solicitarea-medicului-timp-soferi-acesta-este-obligatoriu.htm

133.http://www.hpsys.com/EI\_BarOnEQ-I.htm

- 134.http://www.legmed.ro/doc/dds2015-a2.pdf
- 135. http://www.mediafax.ro/social/cum-a-ajuns-un-accident-tragic-sa-fie-primul-caz-de-sinucidere-din-balena-albastra-eleva-dinsibiu-s-a-aruncat-in-gol-de-pe-turn-16223079
- 136.http://www.who.int/gho/mental\_health/suicide\_rates/en/
- 137.http://www.who.int/gho/mental\_health/suicide\_rates/en/
- 138.http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs369/en/
- 139.http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs369/en/
- 140. https://books.google.ro/books?hl=ro&lr=&id=YPgnDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PR1&dq=+Niikko,+A.+(2006).+Finnish+daycare:+ Caring, + education, + and + instruction, + Nordic + Childhoods + and + Early + Education, + Philosophy, + research, + policy, + and + practice + policy, + and + policin+Denmark,+Finland,+Iceland,+Norway+and+Sweden,+133-159&ots=dC1vGGccH0&sig=mld0GNQ6U2hO9Lpd50VbsUfoPsc&redir\_esc=v#v=onepage&q&f=false
- 141.https://imotions.com/
- 142.https://imotions.com/facial-expressions/
- 143.Hugill, N., Fink, B., Neave, N. (2010). The Role of Human Body Movements in Mate Selection. Evolutionary Psychology, 8(1), 66-89. https://doi.org/10.1177/147470491000800107
- 144.Humphries, D.A., & Driver, P.M. (1970). Protean defence by prey animals. Oecologia, 5(4), 285-302. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00815496
- 145. Hurley, C. M., & Frank, M. G. (2011). Executing facial control during deception situations. Journal of Nonverbal Behavior, 35(2), 119-131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10919-010-0102-1
- 146.Janssen, D., Schöllhorn, W. I., Lubienetzki, J., Fölling, K., Kokenge, H., & Davids, K. (2008). Recognition of emotions in gait patterns by means of artificial neural nets. Journal of Nonverbal Behavior, 32(2), 79-92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10919-007-0045-
- 147. Johansson, G., von Hofsten, C., and Jansson, G. (1980). Event perception. Annual Review of Psychology, 31, 27-63. In Hugill, N., Fink, B., & Neave, N. (2010). The role of human body movements in mate selection. Evolutionary Psychology, 8(1), 66-89. https://doi.org/10.1177/147470491000800107
- 148. Jonsson, G. K. (2006). Personality and self-esteem in social interaction. From Communication to Presence: Cognition, Emotions and Culture towards the Ultimate Communicative Experience. Edited by Giuseppe Riva et al. IOS Press. ISBN, 1-58603. In Casarrubea, M., Jonsson, G. K., Faulisi, F., Sorbera, F., Di Giovanni, G., Benigno, A., Crescimanno, G., & Magnusson, M. S. (2015). T-pattern analysis for the study of temporal structure of animal and human behavior: a comprehensive review. Journal of neuroscience methods, 239, 34-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2014.09.024
- 149.Jung, C.G., (2003). Tipurile psihologice. Editura Trei, București.
- 150.Kasl, S. V., & Mahl, G. F. (1965). Relationship of disturbances and hesitations in spontaneous speech to anxiety. Journal of personality and social psychology, 1(5), 425-433.
- 151.Keltner, D., Kring, A., M., (1998). Emotion, social function, and psychopathology. Review of General Psychology, 2(3), 320-342. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.2.3.320
- 152.Keltner, D., Kring, A., M., (1998). Emotion, social function, and psychopathology. Review of general Psychology. In Matsumoto, D., Frank, M., Hwang, H. (2013). Non-verbal Communication. London.
- 153.Kinsbourne, M. (2006). Gestures as embodied cognition: A neurodevelopmental interpretation. Gesture, 6(2), 205-214. http://dx.doi.org/10.1075/gest.6.2.05kin
- 154.Kiss, C. (2009). Psihofiziologie Criminalistică Diferente de reactivitate. Ed. Universitară Bucuresti.
- 155.Knapp, M. L. (1972). Nonverbal Communication. In Human Interaction. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- 156.Koch, S. C. (2007). Defenses in movement: Video-analysis of conflict patterns in group communication. Body, Movement and Dance in Psychotherapy, 2(1), 29-45. In Casarrubea, M., Jonsson, G. K., Faulisi, F., Sorbera, F., Di Giovanni, G., Benigno, A., Crescimanno, G., & Magnusson, M. S. (2015). T-pattern analysis for the study of temporal structure of animal and human behavior: a comprehensive review. Journal of neuroscience methods, 239, 34-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2014.09.024
- 157.Kruh, I. P., Frick, P. J., & Clements, C. B. (2005). Historical and personality correlates to the violence patterns of juveniles tried as adults. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 32(1), 69-96. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854804270629
- 158.Landis, C., & Hunt, W. (1939). The startle pattern. Oxford, England: Farrar & Rinehart.
- 159.Lorenz, K. (1950). The comparative method in studying innate behaviour patterns. Symposium of the Society of Experimental Biology 4 (Physiological Mechanisms in Animal Behaviour): 221-268.
- 160.Lorenz, K. (2013). The foundations of ethology. Springer Science & Business Media.
- 161.Reid, J. E., Inbau, F. E., Williams and Wilkins Co, & United States of America. (1977). TRUTH AND DECEPTION-THE POLYGRAPH (LIE-DETECTOR) TECHNIQUE, 2D ED.
- 162. Magnusson, M. S. (2000). Discovering hidden time patterns in behaviour: T-patterns and their detection. Behavior Research Methods, Instruments & Computers, 32(1), 93-110. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03200792
- 163.Mahmood, S. T., Tripodi, S. J., Vaughn, M. G., Bender, K. A., & Schwartz, R. D. (2012). Effects of personality disorder and impulsivity on emotional adaptations in prison among women offenders. Psychiatric quarterly, 83(4), 467-480. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-012-9215-5
- 164.Mann, S., Vrij, A., & Bull, R. (2004). Detecting True Lies: Police Officers' Ability to Detect Suspects' Lies. Journal of Applied Psychology, 89(1), 137-149. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.1.137
- 165. Matsumoto, D. & Willingham, B. (2009). Spontaneous facial expressions of emotion of congenitally and non-congenitally blind individuals. Journal of Personality and social Psychology. In Matsumoto, D., Frank, M., Hwang, H. (2013). Non-verbal Communication. London.
- 166.Matsumoto, D., & Willingham, B. (2009). Spontaneous facial expressions of emotion of congenitally and noncongenitally blind individuals. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 96(1), 1-10. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0014037

- 167.Matsumoto, D., Frank, M. G., & Hwang, H. S. (2013). Nonverbal communication: science and applications. SAGE Publication, Inc.
- 168.Matsumoto, D., Kudoh, T., Scherer, K., & Wallbott, H. (1988). Antecedents of and reactions to emotions in the United States and Japan. Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology, 19(3), 267-286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022188193001</u>
- 169.Matte, J. A. (1996). Forensic psychophysiology using the polygraph: scientific truth verification, lie detection. J.A.M. Publications.
- 170. Mauro, R., Sato, K., & Tucker, J. (1992). The role of appraisal in human emotions: A cross-cultural study. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 62(2), 301-317. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.62.2.301</u>
- 171.Mayer, J., Salovey, P., Caruso, D. (2002). *MSCEIT- Testul de Inteligență Emoțională*. Manual Tehnic adaptat în limba româna de Iliescu. D., și Livinți. R.. Ed. Sinapsis, Cluj.
- 172.McAdams, S., & Bregman, A. (1979). Hearing Musical Streams. Computer Music Journal, 3(4), 26-60. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.jstor.org/stable/4617866">http://www.jstor.org/stable/4617866</a>
- 173. Mehrabian, A. (1968). Inference of attitudes from the posture, orientation, and distance of a communicator. *Journal of Consulting* and Clinical Psychology, 32(3), 296-308. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0025906</u>
- 174.Mesquita, B., Frijda, N. H., & Scherer, K. R. (1997). Culture and emotion. In *Handbook of cross-cultural psychology*, edited by Berry, J., W., Dasen, P., R., Saraswathi T., S., by Allyn and Bacon.
- 175. Miller, G.F. (1997). Protean primates: The evolution of adaptive unpredictability in competition and courtship. In A. Whiten, & R.W. Byrne (Eds.), *Machiavellian intelligence: II. Extensions and evaluation* (pp. 312-340). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 176.Miller, P. A., Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & Shell, R. (1996). Relations of moral reasoning and vicarious emotion to young children's prosocial behavior toward peers and adults. *Developmental Psychology*, 32(2), 210-219. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.32.2.210</u>
- 177. Miller, P., Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., & Shell, R. (1996). Relations of moral reasoning and vicarious emotion to young children's prosocial behavior towards peers and adults. *Developmental Psychology*, *32*, 210-219. In Richard E. Tremblay, Willard W. Hartup, John Archer (2005). *Developmental Origins Of Aggression*. Guilford Press.
- 178.Mitchell, R. W. (1986). A framework for discussing deception. *Deception: Perspectives on human and nonhuman deceit*, 3-40. State University of New York Press.
- 179.Moore, J. (2008). Visions of culture: An introduction to anthropological theories and theorists (3rd ed.). Lanham, MD: Altamira Press. In Accomazzo, S. (2012). Anthropology of violence: historical and current theories, concepts, and debates in physical and socio-cultural anthropology. Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 22(5), 535-552. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2011.598727
- 180.Moore, M. M. (1985). Nonverbal courtship patterns in women: Context and consequences. *Ethology and Socio-biology*, 6(4), 237-247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0162-3095(85)90016-0</u>
- 181.Morris, D. (1997). Intimate Behaviour: A Zoologist's Classic Study of Human Intimacy. Kodansha America, Inc.
- 182.Mościcki, E. K. (1999). Epidemiology of suicide. In Brown, G. K., Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., & Grisham, J. R. (2000). Risk factors for suicide in psychiatric outpatients: A 20-year prospective study. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 68(3), 371-377. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.3.371</u>
- 183. National Institute Of Corrections, Grant #EQ-8 (1982). Offender Needs and Assessment: Models and Approaches. Alabama.
- 184.Niikko, A. (2006). Finnish daycare: Caring, education, and instruction. Nordic Childhoods and Early Education. Philosophy, research, policy, and practice in Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway and Sweden, 133-159.
- 185.Ordinul nr. 2199/2011 pentru aprobarea Regulamentului privind condițiile de organizare și desfășurare a activităților educative, culturale, terapeutice, de consiliere psihologică și asistență socială din penitenciare.
- 186.Otterbein, K. (1999). A history of research on warfare in anthropology. American Anthropologist, 101, 794–805. In Accomazzo, S., (2012). Antropology of violence: historical and current theories, concepts, and debates in physical and socio-cultural antropology. Journal of Human Behaviour in the Social Environment, 22(5), 535-552. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2011.598727
- 187. Papilian, V. (2003). Anatomia omului, vol. I si II. Editura BIC ALL, Bucuresti.
- 188. Pearse, J., & Lansley, C. (2010). Reading others. Training Journal, 62-65.
- 189. Pease, A., Pease, B. (2004). The definitive book of body language. Mcphersons's Printing Group, Australia.
- 190.Petrides, K. V. (2009). Technical manual for the Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaires (TEIQue) London. *England: London Psychometric Laboratory*.
- 191.Picken, J. (2012). The coping strategies, adjustment and well being of male inmates in the prison environment. *Internet Journal of Criminology*, 1-29.
- 192.Pollick, F. E., Paterson, H. M., Bruderlin, A., & Sanford, A. J. (2001). Perceiving affect from arm movement. *Cognition*, 82, B51-B61. In Troje, N. F. (2000). Decomposing biological motion: A framework for analysis and synthesis of human gait patterns. *The Quarterly Journal Of Experimental Psychology*, 53(4), 341-357. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1167/2.5.2</u>
- 193.Pollick, F. E., Paterson, H. M., Bruderlin, A., & Sanford, A. J. (2001). Perceiving affect from arm movement. *Cognition*, 82(2), B51-B61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-0277(01)00147-0</u>
- 194.Porter, S., Brinke, L., & Wilson, K. (2009). Crime profiles and conditional release performance of psychopathic and nonpsychopathic sexual offenders. *Legal and Criminological Psychology*, 14(1), 109-118. <u>http://doi.org/10.1348/135532508X284310</u>
- 195.Porter, S., ten Brinke, L., Baker, A., & Wallace, B. (2011). Would I lie to you? "Leakage" in deceptive facial expressions relates to psychopathy and emotional intelligence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 51(2), 133-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2011.03.031
- 196.Poythress, N. G., Edens, J. F., Skeem, J. L., Lilienfeld, S. O., Douglas, K. S., Frick, Patrick. J., & Wang, T. (2010). Identifying subtypes among offenders with antisocial personality disorder: a cluster-analytic study. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 119 (2), 389-400. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0018611</u>

- 197.Pripp, C. (2009). Aspectele psihosociale ale suicidului și dezvoltarea metodelor de prevenție în sistemul penitenciar. "*Program specific de asistență psihosocială și de prevenție a riscului suicidar*".
- 198. Quintana, S., Minami, T. (2006). Guidelines for meta-analyses of counselling psychology research. *The counselling psychologist*, 34(6), 839-877. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000006286991</u>
- 199. Robu, V. (2011). Competențe sociale si personalitate. Iași: Editura Lumen.
- 200.Roth, J. A., & Reiss Jr, A. J., (Eds.)., (1993). Understanding and preventing violence (Vol. 1). National Academies Press.
- 201.Roth, J., Reiss, A., Jr. (1993). <u>Understanding and preventing violence</u>. In Tremblay, R.,E., Hartup, W.,W., Archer, J. (2005). *Developmental Origins Of Aggression*. Guilford Press, New York London.
- 202.Ruch, W., & Ekman, P.,(2001). The Expressive pattern of laughter, Emotion qualia, and consciousness. World Scientific Publisher, Tokyo.
- 203.Rusthon, J. P. (1985). Differential K theory: The socio-biology of individual and group differences. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 6, 441-452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(85)90137-0</u>
- 204. Sabini, J., & Silver, M. (1982). Moralities of everyday life. New York: Oxford University Press.
- 205.Sava, F. A. (2004). Analiza datelor în cercetarea psihologică: Metode statistice complementare. ASCR [Asociația de Științe Cognitive din România].
- 206.Sayette, M. A., Smith, D. W., Breiner, M. J., & Wilson, G. T. (1992). The effect of alcohol on emotional response to a social stressor. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 53(6), 541-545. <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.1992.53.541</u>
- 207.Scherer, K. R. (1986). Vocal affect expression: a review and a model for future research. *Psychological bulletin*, 99(2), 143-165. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.99.2.143
- 208.Scherer, K., R.(1986).Vocal affect expression: review and a model for future research. *Psychological Buletin*, 99(2), 143-165. In Matsumoto, D., Frank, M. G., & Hwang, H. S. (Eds.). (2013). *Nonverbal communication:* Science and applications. Sage Publications.
- 209.Schroeder, I., & Schmidt, B. (2001). Introduction: Violent imaginaries and violent practices. In Accomazzo, S. (2012). Antropology of violence: historical and current theories, concepts, and debates in physical and socio-cultural antropology, Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 22, 535-552. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2011.598727</u>
- 210.Sell, A., Cosmides, L., Tooby, J., Sznycer, D., von Rueden, C., and Gurven, M. (2009). Human adaptations for the visual assessment of strength and fighting ability from the body and face. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 276,575-584. In Hugill, N., Fink, B., & Neave, N. (2010). The role of human body movements in mate selection. *Evolutionary Psychology*, 8(1), 66-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/147470491000800107</u>
- 211.Shanker, S. G., & King, B. J. (2002). The emergence of a new paradigm in ape language research: Beyond interactionism. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 25(05), 646-651. In press. In Grammer, K., Fink, B., Renninger, L. (2002). Dynamic system and inferential information processing in human communication, *Neuroendocrinology Letters*; 23 (Suppl.4): 15-22.
- 212.Sillars, A. L., Coletti, S. F., Parry, D., & Rogers, M. A. (1982). Coding verbal conflict tactics: Nonverbal and perceptual correlates of the "avoidance-distributive-integrative" distinction. *Human Communication Research*, 9(1), 83-95. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2958.1982.tb00685.x</u>
- 213.Silverberg, J., & Gray, J. P. (1992). Aggression and peacefulness in humans and other primates. Oxford University Press.
- 214.Silverberg, J., & Gray, P. (1992). Violence and peacefulness as behavioral potentialities of primates. In J. Silverberg & P. Gray (Eds.). Aggression and peacefulness in humans and other primates (pp. 1-33). New York, NY: Oxford University Press, Inc. In Accomazzo, S., (2012). Antropology of violence: historical and current theories, concepts, and debates in physical and socio-Social cultural antropology. Journal of Human **Behavior** in the Environment. 22(5), 535-552. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10911359.2011.598727
- 215.Smith, J. M. (1982). Evolution and the Theory of Games. Cambridge University Press.
- 216.Streeter, L. A., Krauss, R. M., Geller, V., Olson, C., & Apple, W. (1977). Pitch changes during attempted deception. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 35(5), 345-350. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.35.5.345</u>
- 217. Tomkins, S. S. (2008). Affect Imagery Consciousness: The Complete Edition: Two Volumes. Springer Publishing Company.
- 218.Tomkins, S. S., & McCarter, R. (1964). What and where are the primary affects? Some evidence for a theory. *Perceptual and motor skills*, 18(1), 119-158. <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1964.18.1.119</u>
- 219.Towl, G. (2003). Suicide in prisons. *The British Journal of Forensic Practice*, 5(3), 28-32. https://doi.org/10.1108/14636646200300018
- 220. Tremblay, R. E. (2000). The development of aggressive behaviour during childhood: What have we learned in the past century? *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 24, 129–141. In Richard E. Tremblay, Willard W. Hartup, John Archer (2005). *Developmental Origins Of Aggression*. The Guilford Press, New York.
- 221. Tremblay, R., Hartup, W., Archer, J. (2005). *Developmental origins of aggression*. The Guilford Press, London. University Press. In Griffiths E. (2006) Ethology, Sociobiology, and Evolutionary Psychology.
- 222. Trivers, R. (1972). Parental investment and sexual selection (Vol. 136, p. 179). Cambridge, MA: Biological Laboratories, Harvard University
- 223. Trivers, R. L. (1972). Parental investment and sexual selection. In B. Campbell, (Ed.). Sexual selection and the descent of man, pp.136-179. Chicago: Aldine.
- 224. Trivers, R. L., & Newton, H. P. (1982). The crash of Flight 90: doomed by self-deception. Science Digest, 111, 66-67.
- 225.Troje, N. F. (2002). Decomposing biological motion: A framework for analysis and synthesis of human gait patterns. *Journal of Vision*, 2, 371-387. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1167/2.5.2</u>
- 226. Troje, N. F. (2003). Cat walk and western hero-motion is expressive. IGSN report, 40-43.
- 227.Turner, J. H. (1997). The evolution of emotions: The nonverbal basis of human social organization. *Nonverbal communication: Where nature meets culture*, 211-223.
- 228. Van Wormer, K. (2001). Counselling female offenders and victims: A strengths-restorative approach. Springer Publishing Co.

- 229. Vasconcellos, S. J. L., Salvador-Silva, R., Gauer, V. & Gauer, G. J. C. (2014). Psychopathic Traits in Adolescents and Recognition of Emotion in Facial Expressions, *Psychology / Psicologia Reflexão e Crítica*, 27(4), 768-774. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/1678-7153.201427417</u>
- 230.Vrij, A. (2008). Nonverbal dominance versus verbal accuracy in lie detection a plea to change police practice. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 35(10), 1323-1336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854808321530</u>
- 231. Vrij, A. (2012). Detecția minciunii și a comportamentului simulant: Dileme și oportunități. Editura ASCR., ClujNapoca.
- 232.Whiten, A., and Byrne, R.W. (1988). *The manipulation of attention in primate tactical deception*. In R.W. Byrne and A. Whiten (Eds.), *Machiavellian intelligence social expertise and the evolution of intellect in monkeys, apes, and humans*. Behavioral and Brain Sciences.
- 233.Wright, R. (1994). *The moral animal*. New York: Pantheon. In Geary, D. C. (2008). An Evolutionarily informed science. *Educational psychologist*, 43(4), 179-195. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00461520802392133</u>
- 234.Yeasin, M., Bullot, B., & Sharma, R. (2006). Recognition of facial expressions and measurement of levels of interest from video. *IEEE Transactions on Multimedia*, 8(3), 500-508. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TMM.2006.870737</u>
- 235. Young, J. E., Klosko, J. S., & Weishaar, M. E. (2003). Schema therapy: A practitioner's guide. Guilford Press.
- 236.Zemlin, W. R. (1968). Speech and Hearing Science, Anatomy and Physiology. Englewood Cliffs, N.J: Prentice-Hall.
- 237.Zuckerman, M., DePaulo, B. M., & Rosenthal, R. (1981). Verbal and nonverbal communication of deception. Advances in experimental social psychology, 14, 1-59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60369-X</u>
- 238.Zuckerman, M., Koestner, R., & Driver, R. (1981). Beliefs about cues associated with deception. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 6(2), 105-114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00987286</u>